GENETIC EVALUATION OF HARIANA CATTLE FOR SELECTIVE VALUE

By

ARUN KUMAR

Thesis submitted to the C.C.S. Haryana Agricultural University In partial fulfilment of the requirement for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy in Animal Breeding

College of Animal Sciences Chaudhary Charan Singh Haryana Agricultural University HISAR 1999

036.2082 Ar84G 995EEZ

(nitial, Depte Ani Bare Letter No & Date Mile Sauce Deally PS Mehru Library, HAU. JAAN 5 48 W 2 802.929 1

CERTIFICATE - 1

This is to certify that this thesis entitled, "Genetic Evaluation of Hariana Cattle for Selective Value", submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Animal Breeding of the Chaudhary Charan Singh Haryana Agricultural University, is a bonafide research work carried out by Arun Kumar under my supervision and that no part of this thesis has been submitted for any other degree.

The Assistance and help received during the course of investigation have been fully acknowledged.

(R.P. SINGH) MAJOR ADVISOR Prof. & Head Dept. of Animal Breeding CCS Haryana Agric. University Hisar - 125 004 (Haryana) INDIA

MEHEO LIBRARY CONDAU, HISAR, DU Lectifi No.

CERTIFICATE - II

This is to certify that this thesis entitled, "Genetic Evaluation of Hariana Cattle for Selective Value", submitted by Arun Kumar to Chaudhary Charan Singh Haryana Agricultural University in partial fulfilment of the requirement for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in the subject of Animal Breeding has been approved by the Student's Advisory Committee after an oral examination on the same.

EXTERN MINER

MAI

HEAD OF THE DEPARTMENT

DEAN, POSTGRADUATE

Acknowledgements

I take this most cherished and solemn opportunity to put on record my gratitude to all of those but for whose help it would not have been possible for me to make out this manuscript a reality.

The pride of place is the prerogative of Dr. R.P. Singh, Professor and Head, Department of Animal Breeding, CCS HAU, Hisar, Major advisor and Chairman of my advisory committee for his adroit admonitions, unstinted guidance, affectionate inspiration and incessant encouragement during the course of this investigation, and to him I owe a lot more than the words at my command can convey.

I am extremely grateful to my advisory committee members namely, Dr. Sri Ram Chaudhary, Ex-advisor, (Retd.) Prof. & Head, Department of Animal Breeding, Dr. Z.S. Rana, Dr. U.C. Jaishwal, Dr. C.M. Kapoor, Dr.(Mrs) Veena Sahani and Dr. Narandera Singh, Dean, Animal Science College, for extending prompt help and valuable suggestions, as and when it was required.

I feel honoured in expressing my gratitude to Dr. R.N. Singh, Director, CSWRI, Avikanagar, Dr. J.P. Mittal, Dr. N. P. Singh, Dr. A.L. Arora, Dr. N.P. Gupta at Avikanagar for being kind and considerate in providing study leave and other necessary facilities during the course of study.

I wish to express my deep sense of gratitude to Chief Superintendent, GLF, Hisar and his staff for their needful cooperation.

I am also thankful to Dr. Kiran Singh, Director, NDRI, Karnal for allowing me to use computer facility and Dr. Sadana and Mr. A.S. Ghai, for analysis workat computer.

I shall be derelicting in my duty if I do not thank my venerable teachers specially Dr. J. Kumar, Dr. A.S. Kanaujia, Dr. A.S. Khanna, Dr. B.S. Chikara, Dr. K.L. Raheja, Dr. B.L. Pander, Dr. M.L. Sangwan Dr. Dalal, Dr. Dhaka and other staff of the department. The help rendered by Dr. Laxman Singh, Asst. Professor, R.B.S. College Agra and Dr. A.K.S. Tomar, Scientist, Animal Breeding, Avikanagar (Jaipur) is thankfully acknowledged.

I will be unwise if I do not mention the help and cooperation of my father, Dr. S.S. Tomar, Sr. Scientist, Animal Breeding, NDRI, Karnal without whose help it would have not been possible for me to accomplish this task, the words are not suffice to thank him,

Affectionate and caring attitude of all my friends has been a great asset for me. The ever encourageing company of Dr. Ramesh, Daljeet, Heera Lal, Nilesh, Devendera, Satbir, Pankaj Tomar, Amarpal, Amit, Sanjay Yadav, Prabhu and Company has made my stay at HAU a memorable one. Thanks to Dr. Narula, Dr. Sharma, Dr. Sushil Chatturvedi and Dr. F.A. Khan for their moral support. Friendship of Mr. Narinder (CIRB) and Anil Kumar is memorable one for me.

The words are not suffice to thank my family members specially my mother, my brother Dr. Ajay and his family, my loving sister Km. Archana and brother Amit, who have waited patiently without their unending encouragement and a regular source of inspiration for me to accomplish this task.

Finaly, the patience, Courage and Constant encouragement of my wife Poonam Tomar, and tremendous understanding, with always smiling face, shown by my loving son Chinto, were the moral boosting incentives which kept me going in this endeavour.

1000 run Kumar)

Dedicated to my Late Grandparents for showing their love & affection to educate my father who made me what I am today

Contents

		Title	Page No
<u></u>			
Intro	ductio	n	1-5
Revi	6-65		
2.1.	GENE	ETIC CONTRIBUTION OF COWS TO FUTURE	6
	GENE	ERATION (SELECTIVE VALUE AND ITS	
	COMP	PONENTS).	-
	2.1.1.	Productive herd life	1
	2.1.2.	Number of calves produced during life time	8
	2.1.3.	Number of alive calves born	11
	2.1.4.	Number of female calves born	13
	2.1.0.	herd	10
	2.1.6.	Coefficient of gene replication (CGR)	17
2.2.	REPL	ACEMENT RATE AND ITS COMPONENTS	18
	(DEM	OGRAPHIC ANALYSIS)	
	2.2.1.	Number of services per conception (S/C)	18
	2.2.2.	Abnormal births	21
	2.2.3.	Sex ratio (%, Male births)	25
	2.2.4.	Post-calving losses of female calves from birth	29
	225	Replacement rate	35
	2.2.5.	Age / lactation specific demographic	30
	2.2.0.	parameters	50
		(1) Survival rate	38
		(2) Survivorship or stavability	39
		(3) Expected herd life	39
		(4) Age distribution of cows left the herd	43
		(5) Herd structure for cows present in the	44
		herd	
		(6) Mean rate of loss	44
		(7) Mean age of cows present and left the herd	46
		(8) Life expectancy	46
	2.2.7.	Herd replacement	,46
		(1) Mortality and culling of adult cows	46
		(2) Annual replacement index	50
2.3.	GENE	TIC ANALYSIS	50
	2.3.1.	Selective value and its components	51
	2.3.2.	Replacement rate and its components	55
2.4.	SIRE	EVALUATION FOR SELECTIVE VALUE AND	64
	ITS CO	OMPONENTS AND THEIR RELATIONSHIP	
	VVIIH	WILK PRUDUCTION	

contd.../-

Mat	erial a	nd method	66-81
3.1.	SOUF	RCE OF DATA	66
3.2	HIST	ORY AND BREEDING POLICY OF HERD	66
3.3.	HERD	D MANAGEMENT AND FEEDING	67
3.4	DATA	RECORDING AND COLLECTION	68
3.5.	CALC	CULATION OF CERTAIN PARAMETERS	69
	3.5.1.	Productive herd life	69
	3.5.2.	Longevity	69
	3,5.3,	Selective value of each cow (Life time calf production)	70
	3.5.4.	Coefficient of gene replication (CGR)	70
	3.5.5.	Replacement rate	70
	3.5.6.	Lactation specific demographic parameters	70
	3.5.7.	Over all life table statistics	72
	3.5.8.	Annual replacement index (ARI)	74
3.6.	CLAS	SIFICATION OF DATA	74
3.7.	STAT	ISTICAL ANALYSIS OF DATA	75
	3.7.1.	Effect of genetic and non-genetic factors	75
	3.7.2.	Estimation of genetic parameters	77
	3.7.3.	Estimation of breeding value of sires	80
	3.7.4.	Rank correlation	81
Resi	ults an	d Discussion	82-149
4.1.	GENE GENE	TIC CONTRIBUTION TO FUTURE	82
	4.1.1.	Productive herd life and longevity	82
	4.1.2.	Number of calves produced during life time	87
	4.1.3.	Number of alive calves born	89
`	4.1.4	Number of female calves born	93
	4.1.5.	Number of female calve reached milking herd (selective value)	94
	4.1.6	Coefficient of gene replication (CGR)	95
4.2.	REPL	ACEMENT RATE AND ITS COMPONENTS	96
	4.2.1	Number of services per conception (S/C)	96
	4.2.2.	Abnormal births	101
	4.2.3.	Sex ratio (% male births)	102
	4.2.4.	Post calving losses of female calves upto AFC	106
	4.2.5.	Replacement rates	114
	4.2.6.	Lactation specific demographic parameters	117
		1. Survival rate (Px)	117
		2. Survivorship (Lx)	117
		 Structure of females lost from the herd at each lactation 	120

contd.... /-

contd..../-

	 Structure of females of different lactations being present in the herd 								
		5.	Expected herd life	121					
		6.	Reproductive value (Vx)	122					
	4.2.7.	Hero	d replacement	122					
		1.	Mortality and Culling of Adult Cows	122					
		11.	Annual Replacement Index	127					
4.3.	GENE	ETIC A	NALYSIS	127					
	4.3.1.	Sele	ctive value and its components	127					
	4.3.2.	Rep	acement rate and its components	130					
4.4.	SIRE AMON	EVAL	UATION AND RANK CORRELATION	143					
	4.4.1.	Estir FLM	nation of breeding value for AFC and Y	143					
	4.4.2	Rela value	tionship of selective value with breeding es for FLMY and AFC	145					
4.5	STRA BREE	147							
Sum	mary a	and (Conclusion	150-154					
Bibli	ograph	ıy		i-xvi					
Abst	ract			i-ii					

LIST OF TABLES

No.	Particulars	Page No
Table 1	Productive herd life of different breeds of cattle	9-10
Table 2	Average values of life time calf production traits and coefficient of gene replication (CGR) in different breeds	12
Table 3	Frequency distribution of cows (%) according to total calves born, total female calves born and replacement daughters during lifetime for different	14-15
Table 4	Average number of services per conception for different breeds	19
Table 5	Percent incidence of prenatal calf losses (abnormal birth) in different breeds of cattle	24
Table 6	Average sex ratio (% male births) among normal birth for different breeds of cattle	26
Table 7	Average incidence (%) of death and culling in female calves from birth to AFC for different breeds	32
Table 8.	Age or lactation specific demographic parameters in dairy herds of different breeds	40-42
Table 9.	Overall lifetable statistics for different breeds	45
Table 10	Average incidence of mortality and culling (%) in adult cows during different lactations for different breeds	47
Table 11	Loss of adult cows through death and culling	49
Table 12.	Heritability estimates of productive herd life in different breeds	52
Table 13	Heritability estimates of life time calf production traits in different breeds	54
Table 14	Heritability estimates of replacement rate and its components in dairy herds of different breeds	63
Table 15	Average longevity and productive herd life of Hariana breed	84
Table 16	Analysis of variance (m.s. values) for longevity and productive herd life	85
Table 17	Frequency distribution of cows according to their AFC, PHL and longevity (years)	86
Table 18	Average values of life-time calf production traits in relation to non-genetic factors	90

contd/-		
Table 19	Analysis of variance to test the effect of non-genetic factors on life time calf production traits (m.s. values)	91
Table 20	Frequency distribution of cows (%) according to their life time calf production traits	92
Table 21	Average number of services required per conception, repeat breeders and problem cows in relation to non-genetic factors	97
Table 22	Analysis of variance (M.S. Values) to show the effect of non-genetic factor on average services per conception, repeat breeder and problem cows	98
Table 23	Frequency distribution of cows (%) conceived at subsequent services in relation to non-genetic factors	99
Table 24	Average incidence (%) of abnormal births and sex ratio in relation to non-genetic factors	104
Table 25	Analysis of variance (m.s. value) to test the effect of non-genetic factors on abnormal births and sex ratio	105
Table 26	Average incidence (%) of female calf mortality, culling and number of female reached to milking herd in relation to non-genetic factors	109
Table 27	Analysis of variance to test the effect of non-genetic factors on mortality, culling and replacement rate (m.s. value)	110
Table 28	Average incidence of mortality, culling and replacement rate in different birth weight groups	111
Table 29	Analysis of variance for birth weight effect on mortality, culling and replacement rate (m.s. value)	111
Table 30	Age specific mortality and culling rates in female calves at different ages in different period, season and parity	112
Table 31	Analysis of variance to test the effect of different non- genetic factors on mortality rate of female calves in different age-group	. 113
Table 32	Lactation specific demographic parameters and expected herd life	118
Table 33	Overall life table statistics	119
Table 34	Loss of adult cows in different lactations	123
Table 35	Analysis of variance for loss of cows in different lactations (m.s. values)	123

contd/-		_
Table 36	Annual mortality and culling in adult cows, heifer calvings and annual replacement index	125
Table 37	Analysis of variance to test the year effect on mortality and culling in adult cows (m.s. value)	126
Table 38	Analysis of variance to test the effect of sire on PHL, longevity and life time calf production traits (m.s. values)	129
Table 39	Abnormal births and sex ratio in relation to sire	131
Table 40	Analysis of variance (m.s. value) to test the effect of sire on abnormal births and sex ratio	132
Table 41	Repeatability of abnormal births and sex ratios by two different methods	133
Table 42	Mortality and culling of female calves in relation to sire	137
Table 43	Replacement rate in relation to sire	138
Table 44	Analysis of variance to test the effect of sire on mortality, culling of female calves and replacement rate and their heritabilities	139
Table 45	Analysis of variance to test the effect of sire on age specific mortality (m.s. value)	140
Table 46	Breeding value of sires for age at first calving (AFC) and first lactation milk yield (FLMY)	144
Table 47	Correlation of selective value and its components with FLMY and AFC	146

•

LIST OF FIGURES

Fig. 1.	Relationship between lactation and total loss.
Fig. 2.	Relationship between lactation and survival rate.
Fig. 3.	Relationship between lactation and survivorship.
Fig. 4.	Relationship between lactation and expected herd life.
Fig. 5.	Relationship between lactation and reproductive value.
Fig. 6.	Fluctuation in herd size.
Fig. 7.	Relationship between total heifers and total loss.

List of Abbreviation

AFC	Age at first calving
ARI	Annual replacement index
BLUP	Best Linear Unbiased prediction
BS	Brown Swiss
BV	Breeding value
CGR	Coefficient of gene replication
d.f.	Degree of freedom
Ex	Expected herd life
FLMY	First lactation milk yield
h ²	Heritability
HF	Holestein Friesian
KF	Karan Fries
KS	Karan Swiss
MDF	Military Dairy Farm
MS	Mean square
PHL	Productive herdlife
PHS	Paternal half sib
S/C	Service per conception
SE	Standard error
SV	Selective value
ТР	Tharparkar

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION



Said Lord Krishna to Arjuna

भगवान श्रीकृष्ण ने अर्जुन से कहा

"हे अर्जुन ! इस संसार में गाय श्रेष्ठ,पवित्र, पावन एवं उत्तम है। इनके दूध एवं घी के बिना संसार में कोई यज्ञ संपादित नहीं होता है। हे पार्थ! गाय का दूध, घी-दही, मूत्र, चमड़ी, बाल और हडि्डयाँ हमारा उपकार करती है। हे अच्युत! इस संसार में गाय के समान और कोई धन मैं नहीं देखता। गाय वास्तव में सम्पत्ति का मूल है।"

INTRODUCTION

The cattle are reared over a large area of the world. India ranks second in the world to have 14 percent of the total world and about half of the total cattle population of Asia. The cattle population in India was 201 million in 1990 which increased to 276.69 million in <u>1998</u> including 10 million crossbreeds. However, the milch cows are only 50.7million (Chatterjee and Acharya, 1992 Dairy India). It is a matter of proud that $\frac{14}{47}$ prove $\frac{1}{47}$ prove

India ranked second for dairy cow population in the world but ranks fifth in cow milk production. According to N.C.A. the overall average annual milk yield per Zebu cow is only of 157 kg. However, the milk production per lactation in organised herds has been reported to be 800 kg for descript cow and 1800 to 2400 kg for crossbreds (Chatterjee and Acharya, 1987 Dairy India). This is due to the fact that about 80 to 85 percent of the cattle population in the country is non-descript and the large majority of the descriptive belong to draft and dual purpose breeds.

The above population and production statistics shows a wide gap. This is mainly due to the poor genetic potential of Zebu cows, unsound breeding policy, lack of adequate nutrition and poor managemental practices. Providing balanced ration and good management brings temporary improvement whereas the improvement in genetic potential through sound breeding policy is permanent.. Therefore, it necessitate to improve the genetic potential of dairy herds for permanent improvement to have rapid economic growth and desirable social change through appropriate breeding plans involving suitable selection and mating system.

The selection is an essential tool of genetic improvement even in a crossbreeding programme. The degree of selection known as selection intensity, determines the rate of genetic improvement in further generation. With high intensity of selection the selection differential is large which brings higher genetic gain. Therefore, efforts should be made to increase the selection differential. The selection differential is large in a herd of large size because of high intensity of selection. It is thus important to increase the herd size by increasing the number of off springs in future generation to take advantage of culling. There are two ways to increase the size of herd viz., firstly to reduce the selection intensity so as to allow more number of females to produce the progeny generation and, secondly to have more number of heifer replacements per year in off-spring generation by improving the fertility status, health cover and viability. Low intensity of selection by allowing more number of adult females to reproduce results in small selection differential. This in turn results in low genetic gain. To get more number of female calves by increasing fertility

status and to reduce the mortality at prenatal and postnatal stages is the best way to increase the herd size (number of female replacement available each year/generation in the herd) for genetic improvement.

Moreover, the selective value of an individual is also important in dairy farming. The proportionate contribution of the living progeny (female in case of dairy animals) to the next generation is known as the selective value/adaptive value/fitness of an individual. This is associated with lifetime calf production. An individual is better fit to have better selective value if it produces more surviving offspring than others in the same environment. The selective value of an individual depends upon its reproductive and survival efficiency in a given environment. There is differential reproduction of different individuals in the herd. Some are capable to produce their progeny while others are not, and some others produce their progeny for a longer period than others. Consequently, the number of surviving progeny per individual (number of progeny produced and reached to breeding age) differ and thereby contribution of different individuals to the next generation also differ. Therefore, it is essential to know the number of female calves being produced and reached to breeding age from each adult female during its lifetime.

A higher replacement rate and higher selective value can be obtained through regular breeding of adult females, low rate of abnormal births, low male births, and low mortality of female calves from birth to their age at first calving. Poor fertility, poor health, low survival rate and higher

frequency of male calves cause the genetic death of some cows in dairy herd and thus they failed to replace themselves. About 3-5 pregnancies are required to produce one heifer to reach the milking herd because of prenatal and postnatal calf losses upto the age at first calving (Tomar and Verma 1988a,b; Lathwal, 1989; Rawal, 1991 and Tomar and Ram, 1992). They also observed that the Coefficient of gene replication (CGR) was less than one, which indicated that all the adult females could not replace themselves.

Besides the milk production which directly affect the economy of the herd, the calf production (mainly the females) is also an important factor which affects the economy as well as rate of genetic gain. The female calves are the pillars for the viability of dairy farming to provide replacement for old and inferior adults. To make the dairy enterprises a remunerative industry at least 20 percent of the herd should be replaced by farm raised heifers every year. The efforts to bring genetic improvement in milk production of dairy animals will prove futile if the female progeny from better parents are not available in the herd. The Hariana breed of cattle has wide genetic variability with respect to traits of economic importance (Bhattacharya, 1985) which can be genetically exploited by increasing the replacement rate in a year/generation as well as to increase the selective value of high producing adult females. The information on the aspect of selective value and replacement rate are vital for planning and monitoring the breeding programme for increased profitability from

dairy farming. Such information are hardly available on Hariana cattle. It is, therefore, imperative to determine the genetic variability in selective value and its components so as to know the possibility of genetic improvement in these components. Keeping this in view, the present study was designed with the following objectives.

- To estimate the coefficient of gene replication to know the genetic contribution to future generation. (Selective value).
- 2. To estimate the replacement rate and its components.
- To estimate the genetic parameters of replacement rate and its components.
- 4. To establish the relationship of selective value and its components with breeding value for milk production.
- 5. To develop strategies for the improvement of Hariana breed of cattle.



REVIEW OF LITERATURE

REVIEW OF LITERATURE

Scanty information are available on the selective value and its components in dairy animals throughout the world and no such report in the literature for Hariana cattle. The selective value indicates the genetic contribution to the future generation by a female and it is the function of total calves produced by each adult female in its lifetime minus the loss of female calves in terms of the abnormal births, male calves born and loss of female calves due to death and culling from birth to age at first calving. The various published reports on the relevant aspects have been scanned and given here as under in the following order:

- 2.1. GENETIC CONTRIBUTION TO FUTURE GENERATION (SELECTIVE VALUE AND ITS COMPONENTS
- 2.2. REPLACEMENT RATE AND ITS COMPONENTS (DEMOGRAPHIC ANALYSIS)
- 2.3. GENETIC ANALYSIS

2.4. SIRE EVALUATION AND RANK CORRELATION AMONG DIFFERENT TRAITS

The information available in the literature have been reviewed mainly on Zebu cattle but the reports on exotic cattle, crossbred cattle and buffaloes have also been reviewed on those aspects where the information are lacking on Zebu cattle in order to elucidate the importance of the subject.

2.1. GENETIC CONTRIBUTION OF COWS TO FUTURE GENERATION (SELECTIVE VALUE AND ITS COMPONENTS).

The life history of adult females can be analysed as the productive life in terms of the total number of lactations or total calves produced and the number of years spent in the herd after first calving, total number of alive female calves produced, total number of daughters replaced in the herd and its genetic contribution to future generations.

The proportionate contribution of an individual in terms of the living progeny to the next generation is a function of the life time calf production

and termed as the selective value of an animal. In dairy animals the number of live female calves born and reached to the milking herd from each adult cow is important because it is the female which replaces the old and unproductive cows from the herd. The available reports showed that some of the cows failed to replace themselves while others left one or more replacement daughters in the herd. The genetic contribution to the future generation or selective value of an animals' depends upon the total calvings, total females' calves born and survived upto the milking age.

2.1.1. Productive herd life

The average productive herd life in terms of the number of years a cow stayed in the herd after first calving and number of lactations initiated/completed or calves born during its stay in the herd for different breeds have been reviewed in Table 1.

Kohli and Suri (1957) reported that Hariana cows had 6.4 years productive herd life (PHL). Whereas the report of Singh *et al.* (1964) indicated the average PHL of 4.94 years.

The average PHL has been reported to be 5.30 ± 0.2 and 5.87 years by Matharu and Gill (1981) and Singh *et al.* (1988) for Sahiwal cows, 4.8 years by Nair (1976) for Red Sindhi, 7.7 ± 0.2 years by Basu *et al.* (1983) for Tharparkar cows and 2.9 years by Singh and Tomar (1989) for Karan Fries cattle.

Period effect

Significant effect of period on PHL was reported by Basu *et al.* (1983) for Tharparkar cows, Hegde and Bhatnagar (1985), Reddy and Basu (1985) and Mukherjee (1993) for Brown Swiss Zebu crossbred cows, Tanida *et al.* (1988) for Hereford and Angus breed, and Singh and Tomar (1989) for Karan Fries cattle.

Age at first calving and PHL

The age at first calving has been reported to have no effect on PHL by Camacho *et al.* (1985) for Brahman cows and Sahota and Gill (1990) for crossbred cattle in India.

Significant effect of AFC on PHL has been reported by Dentine *et al.* (1987), Durocq *et al* (1988), Rogers *et al.* (1991) for exotic cattle and Mukherjee (1993) for crossbreds. They reported that lower AFC was associated with longer PHL.

First lactation milk yield and PHL

Sahota and Gill (1990) reported that milk yield per day of first lactation length had no effect on PHL of crossbred cattle.

Durocq *et al.* (1988), Rogers *et al.* (1991) for exotic cattle and Mukherjee (1993) for crossbreds reported that first lactation milk production had significant effect on PHL in a way that high yielders had longer PHL which may be due to voluntary culling of low producers.

2.1.2. Number of calves produced during life time

The reports available in the literature on life time calf production have been given in Table 2 for average number of calves produced and in Table 3 for the frequency distribution of cows according to the number of calves they produced.

Kohli and Suri (1957) reported that on an average each Hariana cow produced 4.67 \pm 0.11 calves during its stay in the herd.

The number of calves produced by Sahiwal cow has been reported to be 3.48 by Sharma and Singh (1974) and 3.73 \pm 0.09 by Rawal and Tomar (1994) and 4.32 by Matharu and Gill (1981).

The study conducted on Tharparkar cows at NDRI, Karnal indicated that on an average each cow produced 3.47, 3.68±0.18 and 3.84± 0.77 calves

	ът <i>с</i>	Produ	ctive herd life	Reference				
Breeds	No. of cows	Years	Lactations or calves					
Zebu breed	ls:		······	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·				
Hariana	100	4.94		Singh <i>et al.</i> (1964)				
w	1917	6.40	4.67±0.11	Kohli & Suri (1957)				
Zebu	-	-	4.30	Katpatal (1977)				
Red Sindhi	164	-	3.55±2.18	Sharma & Singh (1974)				
w	483	-	3.32±0.12	Tomar <i>et al</i> . (1985)				
w	88	4.8	-	Nair (1976)				
Sahiwal	371	-	3.48±2.49	Sharma & Singh (1974)				
w	744	-	3. 73 ±0.09	Rawal & Tomar (1994a)				
n	189	5.30±0.2	4.32	Matharu & Gill (1981)				
<i>n</i>	38	5.87	-	Singh <i>et al.</i> (1988)				
Tharparkar	837	-	3.47±2.84	Sharma & Singh (1974)				
<i>n</i>	1368	-	3.84±0.77	Rawal (1991)				
w	958	7.7±0.2	3.68±0.18	Basu <i>et al.</i> (1983)				
Exotic bree	ds:							
Jersey	854	-	3.40	Fosgate (1965)				
<i>n</i>	-	2.91	-	Rogers et al. (1991)				
<i>w</i>	83838	3.30	3.50	Nieuwhof et al. (1989)				
HF	1861	3.60	3.48	Hargrove <i>et al.</i> (1969)				
w	933	3.92	3.68	Gill & Allaire (1976)				
w	615	4.18	3.73	Evans <i>et al.</i> 1964)				
w	4819	-	3.44±1.36	White & Nichols (1965)				
w	55813	3.20	3.40	Nieuwhof <i>et al.</i> (1989)				
BS	19936	3.30	3.40 .	"				
Ayrshire	20127	3.10	3.30	n				
Guernsey	84506	2.90	3.10	N				
Angus	1586	4.49±0.09	3.78±0.09	Schons <i>et al.</i> (1985)				
"	836	4.49±0.13	3.66±0.11	Tanida <i>et al</i> . (1988)				
Hereford	1452	4.21±0.06	3.46±0.06	w				
Beef breed	4660	4.80	-	Greer <i>et al.</i> (1980)				

.

Table 1: Productive herd life of different breeds of cattle

contd								
	No. of	Produc	tive herd life	_				
Breeds	cows	Years	Lactations or calves	Reference				
Crossbreds:								
BS x Zebu F ₁	210	4.4±0.15	4.1±0.14	Hegde & Bhatnagar (1985)				
F_2	63	3.1±0.30	2.8±0.28					
F ₃	14	3.7±0.59	3.5±0.55					
Misc	254	3.7±0.17	3.4±0.18					
3/4	52	3.7±0.32	3.4±0.18					
Karan Swiss	1399	3.2±0.11	3.3±0.10	Mukherjee & Tomar (1996)				
HF x TP	634	2.9±0.08	_	Singh & Tomar (1989)				
Jer x RS	230	7.57±0.16	4.22±0.14	Thakur <i>et al</i> . (1992)				
Jer x Sahiwal	108	5.5	-	Singh <i>et al.</i> (1988)				
Exotic- 1/4		_	2.5	Katpatal (1977)				
1/2		-	7.9					
5/8		-	5.2					
3/4		-	4.4					
7/8		_	3.4					
Hol x Sahi 1/4	201	6.2±0.19	5.17±0.02	Matharu & Gill (1981)				
1/2	130	6.2±0.20	5.22±0.2					
5/8	107	6.5±0.15	5.33±0.1					
3/4	76	6.0±0.20	4.78±0.2					
Hol. crosses 1/4	367	4.40±0.16	4.48±0.15	Roy & Tritpathi (1990)				
3/8	251	3.65±0.18	4.02±0.18	U .				
1/2	321	4.90±0.17	5.19±0.16					
5/8	454	4.42±0.14	4.74±0.14					
3/4	4509	3.72±0.13	4.01±0.12					

during its stay in the herd as reported by Sharma and Singh (1974), Basu *et al.* (1983) and Rawal (1991), respectively.

Regarding the frequency distribution of cows according to the total number of calves produced during their lifetime, Kohli and Suri (1957) reported that 8.8% of the Hariana cows produced only one calf, about one tenth of the cows produced only one calf, 11.0 to 13% cows produced two to seven calves and one – tenth produced seven or more calves.

Lathwal *et al.* (1992) working on Red Sindhi cattle reported that 29 percent of cows produced only one calf, 22 percent had two calves and maximum number of calves produced were 14 by only one cow, whereas only 2 percent of the cows produced 10 or more calves during their lifetime. Rawal (1991) working for Tharparkar cattle and Rawal and Tomar (1994a) for Sahiwal cattle reported that 22.4 and 22.2 percent cows produced only one calf, 21.1 and 21.4 percent produced two calves and 5.3 and 4.0% produced ten or more calves with maximum number of calves being produced as 15 and 14 by only 0.1 percent of the total Tharparkar and Sahiwal cows, respectively.

Mukherjee and Tomar (1996) reported that 32.1 percent of Karan Swiss cows produced only one calf, 29.2 percent had two calves and 5.5 percent cows had 10 or more calves with maximum number of calves produced were 14 by 0.3 percent cows. They further reported that total calves produced were significantly affected by period, AFC and FLMY.

2.1.3. Number of alive calves born

The data presented in Table 2 indicated that on an average the total number of alive calves produced by each cow during lifetime in the herd were 3.68 ± 0.07 for Tharparkar cows (Rawal, 1991), 3.16 ± 0.11 for Red Sindhi cows (Tomar *et al.* 1995), 4.07 ± 0.14 for Jersey and Jersey x Red Sindhi F₁ cows (Thakur *et al.* 1992), 3.14 ± 0.10 for Brown Swiss crossbred cows (Mukherjee and Tomar, 1996) and 3.61 ± 0.10 for Sahiwal cows (Rawal and Tomar, 1994a).

Average values of life time calf production traits and coefficient of gene replication (CGR) in different breeds Table 2:

Breeds	No.	No. of alive calves	No. of female calves	Total replacement daughter	C.G.R.	Reference
Red Sindhi	448	3.12±0.10	1.59 ± 0.07	0.94	0.47±0.02	Tomar <i>et al.</i> (1995)
Sahiwal	744	3.61±0.09	1.80±0.05	1.26±0.04	0.63±0.02	Rawal & Tomar (1994a)
Tharparkar	1368	3.68±0.07	1.75±0.04	1.16±0.03	0.58±0.02	Rawal <i>et al.</i> (1993)
Angus	1586	ı	ı	1.10±0.83	0.48±0.08	Schons et al. (1985)
JR x RS	230	4.07±0.14	2.37±0.09	1.49±0.06	I	Thakur <i>et al</i> . (1992)
Karan Swiss	1399	3.14±0.10	1.47±0.068	0.77±0.047	0.39±0.023	Mukherjee & Tomar (1996)
Murrah	152	4.15±0.21	1.91±0.12	t.	ı	Tomar & Basu (1981)
Murrah	936	3.40±0.08	1.61±0.05	0.75±0.03	·	Tomar & Ram (1992)
н	936	I	1	1	0.37±0.02	Tomar & Ram (1991)

Ŀ

The frequency distribution of cows according to the total number of alive calves produced by cows of different Zebu breeds have been reviewed in Table 3. Rawal (1991) observed that 1.4% Tharparkar cows did not produce any alive calf, 23% produced only one and 20.7% had 2 alive calves whereas only 5% had 10 or more alive calves. The corresponding figures were 0.6, 30.4, 21.5 and 2% respectively for Red Sindhi cows as reported by Tomar *et al.* (1995) whereas in case of Sahiwal cows the corresponding percentage of cows were 1.2, 22.5, 21.4 and 3.3 according to Rawal and Tomar (1994a).

Mukherjee and Tomar (1996) reported that 2.8% Brown Swiss crossbred cows failed to produce any alive calves, 33.2% produced one, 27.1% had two alive calves and 5.4 had ten or more alive calves.

2.1.4. Number of female calves born

The average number of female calves produced by each cow during its stay in the herd has been reported to be 1.75 ± 0.04 by Rawal (1991) for Tharparkar herd, 1.53 ± 0.07 by Tomar *et al.* (1995) for Red Sindhi herd, 2.37 ± 0.01 by Thakur *et al.* (1992) for Jersey and Jersey x Red Sindhi herd, 1.6 ± 0.05 by Rawal and Tomar (1994a) for Sahiwal herd and 1.47 ± 0.06 by Mukherjee and Tomar (1996) for Karan swiss (Table 2).

The contribution of individual cow in term of number of female calves produced during its lifetime is presented in Table 3. Rawal (1991) reported that about one-fifth (22.1%) of the total Tharparkar cows did not produce any female calf during their lifetime, about one third (31.6%) produced only one female calf and 20.7% produced two female calves whereas 3.3% cows produced 6 or more female calves, Almost similar values have been reported by Rawal and Tomar (1994a) for Sahiwal cows and Tomar *et al.* (1995) for Red Sindhi cows.

Mukherjee and Tomar (1996) worked out the individual contribution of Brown Swiss-Zebu crossbred cows and observed that about one-third (30.5%) of total cows failed to produce any female calf, another one-third (36.5%) produced only one female calf, 16.4% produced two and 4.3% of the

and	Ref.	4 151 4	ر مار مار مار مار مار مار مار مار مار ما	2.1 L	2.2	2.3	ε	4	5	9	7	~ ∞	6		~		10			~	-
orn a	*	3		-		1		1	••••••	*** ** ·** *****	-				(T)	14	ΥΩ				ontd
distribution of cows (%) according to total calves born, total female calves born at daughters during lifetime for different breeds $\frac{1}{h}$	14		i I I				1	ı	0.1	ı	ı	ı	0.3				**************	4)		C
	13		-				0.2	0.1	ı	ı	1	ı	0.4								
			S. 8					4	5		1		Ś								
	12				\sim		1	0	0	I	0	1	-								
	11		0.31		, , ,	2	ı	0.1	1.0	1.3	0.1	0.3	1.5								
	10		0.4		10101		1.2	0.4	1.9	ı	0.6	0.5	1.8								
	9		1.8		out Co		0.6	3.0	2.1	5.2	1.4	0.5	1.7		×		0.05			0.07	
	ی 8 و	Total calves born13.17.1	7.1			10 - 6	1.8	2.7	3.4	3.9	1.9	1.3	2.1	ves born	1.2 % 2.1		0.1			0.6	
	0.2 L 0		13.1		-	tes Sho	3.3	4.4	4.7	4.6	3.8	0.3	2.1	emale cal	0.2] ٤	0.5	0.4		0.2	1.1	
	2 9		13.1	69	0	100	5.7	5.7	4.6	5.9	4.9	3.2	2.6	Ħ	0.2	0.7	1.0		0.2	1.8	
	5		12.2	26	21	(65)	5.7	7.1	6.5	7.9	7.2	6.4	3.6		1.0	1.8	1.8	2.6	1.2	2.1	
	4		13.2	9	Ŷ	Ś	9.1	8.3	7.9	5.2	6.8	9.4	8.0		3.3	3.9	3.1	5.2	2.5	3.8	
	3		12.9	27	14	8	8.6	9.3	9.1	17.1	. 15.2	14.5	12.7		5.4	7.5	7.0	7.9	6.5	7.1	
equenciplaceme	7		13.9	12	15	13	12.2	14.9	14.8	26.3	20.4	23.4	29.2		10.7	11.7	12.1	12.5	11.1	16.4	
: Fr rej	1		8.8	15	10	4	28.9	22.2	22.4	11.2	20.8	22.3	32.1		36.0	33.9	31.6	35.5	36.4	36.5	
Table 3	0		ı	ı	1	ı	Ņ	,	,	ı	0.3	,	,		24.4	19.1	22.1	13.8	20.9	30.5	

14

가 가장 가지 않는 것 같아요. 이 것 같아요.

					R	splacemen	t daughters		
42.4 36.0	13,4	5.3	1.6	0.6	0.4)	6.96	Ś
33.9 32.4	18.4	7.9	4.6	2.0	0.7	ı	0.1		4
39.6 30.0	15.6	7.9	4.2	2.2	0.4	0.1	0.1		5
51.4 31.4	10.9	4.2	1.7	0.1	0.1	ı	0.1	100%	7
54.8 29.9	8.0	4.2	1.8	0.8	0.2	0.07			6
* Reference									
1. Khohli &	Suri (1957)	-	•	Hariana					
2. Agarwal (1	968)			2.1. Red S	indhi ;	2.2. ¹ ⁄4 Jei	sey; 2.3. ¹	ź Jersey	
3. Lathwal (19	989)			Red Sindh	u.				
4. Rawal and	Tomar (199	14a)		Sahiwal					
5. Rawal (199	(1)			Tharparka	Ŀı				
6. Tomar & B	asu (1981)			Murrah					
7. Ram (1988)				Murrah					
8. Basu & Gh	ai (1980)			Murrah					
9. Mukherjee	& Tomar ((1996)		Karan Swi	iss				
		÷							
		ζ							

15

total cows produced 6 or more female calves during their life time. They observed significant effect of period, FLMY and AFC on total number of female calves born.

2.1.5. Number of female calves reached to milking herd

•

Schons *et al.* (1985) reported that, on an average, Angus cows left 1.1 ± 0.23 replacement heifers and concluded that each cow was more than replacing herself, resulting in an overall increase in the herd size.

Similarly, replacement of more than one daughters have been reported for Tharparkar cows (1.16 \pm 0.03), Sahiwal cows (1.26 \pm 0.04), Jersy and Jersey x Red Sindhi crossbred cows (1.49 \pm 0.06) as reported by Rawal (1991), Rawal and Tomar (1994a) and Thakur *et al.* (1992), respectively.

The average number of female daughters left by each cow was less than one as reported by Tomar *et al.* (1995) for Red Sindhi cows (0.92 \pm 0.06) and by Mukherjee and Tomar (1996) for Brown Swiss-Zebu crossbred cows (0.77 \pm 0.04) and they thus the cows did not replace themselves.

The data presented in Table 3 on the contribution of individual cows indicated that 42.2% of total Red Sindhi cows did not have any replacement daughter in the herd and 36% left only one replacement daughter that reached the milking herd (Tomar *et al.* 1995). The reports of Rawal (1991) on Tharparkar, and Rawal and Tomar (1994a) on Sahiwal cows showed that 39.6 and 33.9% of the total cows did not replace themselves whereas about one-third (29.8 and 32.4) left only one daughter and 15.6 and 18.4% left two daughters.

More than one-half of total corssbred cows (54.8%) did not replace themselves, 30.0% left only one replacement and 8.0% left two replacement daughters as reported by Mukherjee and Tomar (1996). They also reported that the effect of period and FLMY was highly significant whereas AFC did not affect this trait.

2.1.6. Coefficient of gene replication (CGR)

Schons *et al.* (1985) first defined the term of coefficient of gene replication as the additive genetic relationship between the adult female and each of her female progeny selected as replacement of herself. They found that the average CGR was 0.486 ± 0.086 which was somewhat less than one gene replication (0.5) that could contribute again to the next generation.

Rawal (1991) reported the average CGR in Sahiwal herd of 736 cows as 0.63 \pm 0.02 with 105% coefficient of variation which indicated that each cow, on an average, was more than once replicating her genes. However, about one-third of total cows did not replicate their genes and hence had no genetic contribution to future generation. The value of CGR among rest of two-third cows ranged from 0.5 in one-third to 3.0 in only 0.7% of the total cows except one cow which had the CGR value as 4.0. The average CGR was found to be 1.39 for 33.7% the total cows and hence each of one-third of the total cows in the herd was replicating her genes about three times to future generation.

Mukherjee (1993) reported the value of CGR as 0.39 ± 0.023 for the crossbred herd at NDRI, Karnal. This indicated that it was less than one gene replication (0.5) that could materially contribute again to the future generation. The frequency distribution of the cows according to CGR values showed that about 55 percent of the total cows had zero CGR and hence genetically dead which indicated that these cows had no genetic contribution to future generation.

Rawal *et al.* (1993) worked out the CGR in a herd of 1366 Tharparkar cows as 0.58 ± 0.02 which was little higher than one time gene replication. About 40% of the total cows had no genetic contribution to next generation for replicating their genes in the population (CGR = 0) whereas the CGR value among rest of the cows ranged from 0.5 in 29% cows to 4.0 in only 0.1% (one cow) and the average CGR was found to be 1.41 for 26.3 % of the total cows indicating that each of about one-fourth of the total cows in the herd replicated their genes about three times to the future generation.

Tomar *et al.* (1995) working on Red Sindhi herd reported less than one CGR (0.47). They further observed that 42% of the total cows had no genetic contribution to future generation and the CGR values among rest of the cows ranged from 0.5 in 34.8 percent cows to 3.0 in only 0.4 percent (2 cows). The average CGR was 1.21 for 23.1 percent of the total cows indicating that each of about one-fourth of the total cows in the herd was more than twice replicating her genes to future generation.

Tomar and Ram (91) observed the CGR as 0.37 ±0.016 which was less than one gene replication and hence each buffalo did not contribute genetically to the future generation.

2.2. REPLACEMENT RATE AND ITS COMPONENTS (DEMOGRAPHIC ANALYSIS)

The demographic analysis of a population involves total births, sex ratio among normal births, mortality rates, age structure of the population, growth rate, longevity and life history production. The reports available in literature have been reviewed in terms of the number of services required for conception, prenatal calf losses, sex-ratio, female calf losses through death and culling of female calves from birth to age at first calving, heifer replacement that become available in a particular year, replacement index and age structure of the herd

2.2.1. Number of services per conception (S/C)

In this study the fertility is defined in terms of the number of inseminations/services required per conception (S/C), which is in reality important factor to affect the calf production and regular breeding of dairy animals and hence affects the total life time milk production as well as the total calf crop in life time of an animal. The literature indicate that the dairy cows require different number of services for conception in relation to various non-genetic factors. The average number of services required for conception for different breeds among different years, season and in different parity alongwith the significance of differences reported by various workers have been presented in Table 4 and have been reviewed as under:
	—	Average		Effect o	f	
Breed	No.	services per conception	Year	Season	Parity	Reference
Hariana	376	1.7	-	-	S	Tomar & Arora (1971)
N.	1061	1.77	-	-	-	Kohļi <i>et al.</i> (1961)
n	126	1.85±0.09	-	-	S	Singh et al. (1964)
w	1950	2.0	N	N		Grewal et al. (1974)
W	688	2.00±0.07	-		-	Singh et al. (1968)
N .	99	2.00±0.2	-	-	-	Tomar & Arora (1971a)
w	160	2.18±0.11	-	-	N	Singh & Singh (1970)
	Heifer	2.70±0.1	-	-	-	
N	Cows	2.1 to 2.6		-	N	Kumar & Bhat (1979)
Red Sindhi	27	1.73±0.43	-	-	-	Basu et al (1979)
w	334	2.40±0.1	-	-	N	Sharma & Bhatnagar (1975)
Sahiwal	79	2.01±0.4	-	-		Basu <i>et al</i> (1979)
W .	79	2.10±0.36	-		N	Bhatnagar et al. (1979)
w .	108	2.61±0.05	S	N		Singh <i>et al.</i> (1990)
w	967	2.70±0.1	-	· _	N	Sharma & Bhatnagar (1975)
Desi		2.2	-	N	-	Pachlag et al. (1982) 94 hr 5
Tharparkar	57	1.54±0.41	-	-	-	Basu <i>et al.</i> (1979) *
w	1048	2.40±0.1	-	-	N	Sharma & Bhatnagar (1975)
Bachur		1.29±0.06	-	-	S	Singh & Parsad (1969)
W	86	1.44±0.09	-	-	N	Singh <i>et al.</i> (1964)

Table 4:Average number of services per conception for
different breeds

N = Nonsignificant, S = Significant

Effect of year

Grewal *et al.* (1974) and Tomar *et al.* (1976a) working on Hariana cows found that year had no effect on S/C. Basu *et al.* (1979) observed that year variations were not significant on S/C in Sahiwal, Red Sindhi and Tharparkar cows. On the contrary, Basu and Ghai (1980) for crossbred cows and Singh *et al.* (1990) for Sahiwal reported significant effect of year on S/C.

Seasonal variation

Kohli *et al.* (1961) working on Hariana cows at GLF Hissar reported that variations in S/.C among months were not significant. Kale (1963) for Sahiwal cows reported that S/C was lowest during January to April (1.8, 1.8, 1.6 and 1.9 respectively) July (1. 9) and October (1.5) and maximum in November (3.6).

Grewal *et al.* (174) for Hariana cows and Pachlag *et al.* (1982) for Deshi cows, reported that season did not influence the S/C.

Bhatnagar *et al.* (1979) reported significant differences in S./C in Sahiwal cows among months. The cows calved in July took more S/C (2.30) while those calving in December required minimum S/C (1.26).

Basu *et al.* (1979) observed significant effect of month of calving on S/C for 3 Zebu breeds at Karnal, cows calving in November (1.05 S/C) requires less S/C than calving in August (3.8 S/C).

Parity effect

Singh (1961) for Tharparkar and Singh and Singh (1970) for Hariana cows, reported that parity of calving had no significant effect on S/C. Non-significant effect of parity of calving on S/C was reported by Sharma and Bhatnagar (1975) and Basu *et al.* (1979) for Sahiwal, Red Sindhi and Tharparkar cows, Kumar and Bhat (1979) in Hariana cows, Bhatnagar *et al.* (1979) for Sahiwal cows and Chaudhri *et al.* (1984) for Hariana cows.

Singh *et al.* (1964) reported that parity of lactation had significant effect on S/C in Hariana and Bachur cows, the heifer took lesser number of services for conception (1.36 ± 0.09 and 1.16 ± 0.06) than in second (2.4 ± 0.19 and 1.90 ± 0.02)third and more calving (1.82 ± 0.18 and 1.71 ± 0.29).

Singh and Parsad (1969) reported that the average of two successive conceptions of the Bachur cows were 1.16 ± 0.058 and 1.51 ± 0.15 with an overall average of 1.29 ± 0.06 services for conception.

Tomar and Arora (1971b) working on Hariana cows observed that heifer calvings significantly took more number of services for conception (2.0) than subsequent calvings

2.2.2. Abnormal births

The average values of incidence of prenatal calf losses or abnormal births (abortions, still births, pre-mature births, dystocia etc.) in dairy cattle reported by various workers have been given in Table 5.

The reports showed that the average pre-natal calf losses ranged from 4.66 to 11.1 percent in Red Sindhi, 3.5 to 9.0 percent in Sahiwal, 3.1 to 10.3 percent in Tharparkar, 1.1 to 9.8 percent in Hariana and 3.4 to 10.9 percent in Gir breed of cattle.

Year of birth

Tomar *et al.* (1975), Tomar and Verma (1981 and 1988a) studied the incidence of abnormal calvings in Sahiwal, Red Sindhi and Tharparkar cows respectively and observed that year of birth had no effect on the trait.

Non-significant effect of year of calving has also been reported by Negi and Luktuke(1982) in Holstein x Sahiwal crossbreds and Singh and Jain (1997) for native and crossbred cattle.

Significant effect of year of birth on prenatal calf losses were reported by Sharma and Jain (1984) where as the incidence of still births were not

Sharma and Jain (1984) reported higher per-natal calf losses in monsoon and winter season than in Summer in Zebu (RS, Sahiwal and Tharparkar) and crossbred cows.

Significantly higher incidence of abnormal calvings have been observed during summer and lower during winter season by Negi and Luktuke (1982) in Zebu crossbred cattle, Chatterjee *et al.* (1985) in exotic, Zebu and crossbred cattle, Arun *et al.* (1995) in Holstein x Sahiwal crosses and Mukherjee (1993) for Karan Swiss cattle.

Higher incidence of abortion during summer (4.2%) and winter (31.6%) than in monsoon season (10.5 to 15.7%) were reported by Ramalingam *et al.* (1990) in Jersey crossbred.

Parity of calving

No effect of parity order on the incidence of abnormal calvings have been reported by Prabhu and Chatterjee (1970) for Sahiwal, Red Sindhi, Gir, Tharparkar and Hariana cattle, Tomar and Verma (1981), Reddy and Sampath (1981), Sharma and Jain (1983) and Lathwal *et al.* (1993) for Red Sindhi, Sharma and Jain (1983) and Rawal and Tomar (1996a) for Sahiwal, Sharma and Jain (1983), Tomar and Verma (1988a) and Rawal and Tomar (1996c) for Tharparkar, Shukla *et al.* (1980) for Gir, Reddy and Sampath (1981) for Gir and Ongole,

Similarly no effect of parity was observed by Reddy and Sampath (1981) for Tharparkar cows mated to Jersey sires and RS/Sahiwal cows mated to Ayrshire bulls, Tomar and Verma (1988a) for Tharparkar cows mated to Holstein sires, Reddy and Sampath (1981) for Jersey x Tharparkar cows, Sharma and Jain (1984) for HJT and HBT crossbreds and Ramalingham *et al.* (1990) in Jersey crossbreds.

Significantly higher incidence occurred in younger cows as reported by Sharda and Lohia (1966) in Hariana cows, Tomar *et al.* (1975) for Sahiwal, Chaterjee *et al.* (1985) for Holstein x Sahiwal crosses and Singh and Jain (1997) for native and crossbred cattle.

Table 5.

Percent incidence of	prenatal calf	losses	(abnormal
birth) in different bre	eds of cattle		

		1.	E	ffect	of	Reference
Breed	No.	Average	Y	S	P	
Hariana	259	1.1	-		-	Tomar & Singh (1973)
w		3.6	-	Ν	Ν	Prabhu & Chatterjee (1970)
w		4.2	-	Ν	S	Sharda & Lohia (1966)
w		9.3	-	-	-	Luktuke & Chaudhary (1965)
w		9.8	-	-	-	Halder & Sen (1970)
Sahiwal	3245	3.5	S	Ν	Ν	Rawal & Tomar (1996a)
w		4.1	-	Ν	Ν	Prabhu & Chatterjee (1970)
w		4.3	-	-	-	Kaikini <i>et al.</i> (1976)
w	184	5.9	-	-	-	Bhosreker (1973)
	782	8.3	Ν	N	S	Tomar <i>et al.</i> (1975)
	1876	8.8	-	S	N	Sharma & Jain (1983)
	1760	9.0	-	-	- 	Amble & Jain (1967) P_{1} (1981)
	1/52	4.6	- N	- N	N N	Reddy & Sampati (1981)
»	1604	4.7	N C	iN C	IN NU	Lothural at al. (1981)
*	2701	4.7	۵	ы м	IN N	Drobby & Chatteries (1970)
N	52	5.0	-	14	14	Phosekar (1072) State
"	1036	J.9 11 1	-	- C	- N	Sharma & Jain (1983)
Themarker	1030	11.1	-	ы М	IN N	Proble & Chatteries (1970)
тпаграткат w	1576	5.1	- N	N	N	Towar & Verma (1988a)
**	4774	4.4	2	N	N	$\mathbf{P}_{\text{aveal } \& \text{ Tomar}}(1996c)$
"	377	70	5	-	-	Bhosreker (1973)
"	211	10.3	_	S	N	Sharma & Jain (1983)
Gir		34	-	N	N	Shukla $\dot{e}t al$ (1980)
w		4.6		-	N	Reddy & Sampath (1981)
w		10.9	-	Ν	-	Prabhu & Chatteriee (1970)
Ongole		4.6	-	_	N	Reddy & Sampath (1981)
w w		6.4	-	-	-	Prabhu & Chatteriee (1970)
Native cattle		4 4	-	S	S	Chatteriee <i>et al.</i> (1985)
Kankrei	1465	49	-	-	-	Prabhu & Chatteriee (1970)
Knngayam	607	4.9	-	_	-	w
Amritmahal	388	62	-	-	-	w
Halliker	356	2.8	-	-	-	
Bagusi	243	5.7	-	-	-	w
Hol x Hariana	178	2.2	-	-	-	Tomar & Singh (1973)
BS x Hariana	118	3.4	-	-	-	w 8 4 7
RD x Hariana	55	3.6		-	-	W
Hol x Sahiwal	240	8.4	-	Ν	S	Tomar <i>et al.</i> (1975)
w	1523	9.5	N	S	-	Negi & Luktuke (1982)
BS x Tharp	189	10.6	S	S	-	Sharma & Jain (1984)
HF x Tharp	299	5.3	-	-	-	W R
Sindhi crosses	1127	3.3	-	Ν	Ν	Prabhu & Chaterjee (1970)
Sahiwal crosses	428	11.9			•	w
Gir crosses	84	8.3				**
Karan Swiss	2611	8.1				Sharma & Jain (1984)
"	1098	6.4	S	S	S	Mukherjee (1993)
Karan Fries	505	17.1				w

Y = Year, S = Season, P = Parity orderN = Nonsignificant, S = SignificantLf photologie bald

Significantly higher incidence of abnormal calvings in older cows of later lactations have been reported by Arun *et al.* (1995) in Holstein x Sahiwal crosses and Mukherjee (1993) in Karan Swiss cattle.

2.2.3. Sex ratio (%, Male births)

The sex ratio at birth is generally expressed as the percentage of male birth to the total normal births and it is normally expected to be 50:50 as the male sex is determined by the Y chromosome. The probability to fertilize the ovum by the sperm carrying either X or Y chromosome is equal. Therefore, the sex ratio should not deviate significantly from normal expectation of 50:50. However, there may be some genetic and environmental factors which may favour or hamper the penetration of either X or Y chromosome in fertilizing the ovum. In support of this theory, there are also reports available in literature indicating that the sex ratio at birth deviates significantly due to various genetic and environmental factors. The average sex ratio in different breeds/crosses of cattle reported by various workers in relation to different environmental factors have been reviewed (Table 6). The important environmental factors studied by various workers have been the year, season and parity of calving.

Year/period of calving

The year of calving was not a significant source of variation in sex ratio as reported by Singh and Singh (1968), Tomar and Arora (`1970) and Rao *et al.* (1970) for Hariana, Kale *et al.* (1982) for Red Sindhi, Tomar *et al.* (1976), Sethi and Rao (1981) and Rawal and Tomar (1995) for Sahiwal, Tomar and Verma (1989a) and Rawal and Tomar (1996c) for Tharparkar, Singh and Parekh (1982) in crossbred calves born to Gir cows mated to HF, BS and Jersey bulls, Rao *et al.* (1969) in Ongole cattle, Singh *et al.* (1983) and Shukla and Parekh (1988) in Gir.

Patel *et al.* (1988) in Jersey x Kankrej and Holstein x Kankrej, Tomar and Verma (1988b) for crossbred cows mated to HF and ³/₄ HF bulls, Singh *et al.* (1991) in crossbred cattle, Mukherjee (1993) for Karan Swiss also reported no effect of year of calving on sex ratio.

Breed,	Location	No.	Average	E	ffect	of	Reference
				Y	S	P	
Hariana	Mathura	622	47.6	-	S	N	Singh & Singh (1968)
w ·	Haringhata	3271	50.7	-	Ν	-	Goswami et al. (1963)
w	Hisar	1147	52.3	Ν	S	Ν	Tomar & Arora (1970)
w	Izatnagar	1962	54.0	-	-	Ν	Rao et al. (1970)
Sahiwal	Karnal	3131	51.3	Ν	Ν	Ν	Rawal & Tomar (1995)
w	w		51,7	-	-	-	Pandit <i>et al.</i> (1989)
**	MDF		53.5	N	Ν	Ν	Tomar <i>et al</i> . (1976)
Red Sindhi	Karnal	1364	51.6	S	Ν	Ν	Lathwal <i>et al.</i> (1993)
n.	**		55.2	Ν	Ν	N	Kale et al. (1982)
Fharparkar			50.5	-	-	-	Kulkarnai (1980)
λ	Karnal		51.3	Ν	Ν	Ν	Rawal & Tomar (1996c)
N N			51.4	Ν	Ν	Ν	Tomar & Verma (1981)
N	Mhow		52.0	Ν	Ν	S	Tomar & Verma (1988a)
Gir			50.0	Ν	-	Ν	Shukla & Parekh (1988)
N N	Indore	549	50.4	Ν	Ν	Ν	Singh <i>et al.</i> 1983
Kankrej			51.0	-	-	-	Tripathi et al. (1973)
Ongole	Chintaladeve	570	51.6	-	-	Ν	Rao et al. (1969)
/achur	Bihar		55.0	-	-	-	Singh & Prasad (1969)
- Iol x Hariana	Hisar	175	54.8	-	-	-	Tomar & Singh (1973)
3S x Hariana	w	115	50.8	-	-	-	N
D x Hariana	w	155	50.9				N
Iol. x Hariana	w		49.8	-	-	-	Singh & Balaine (1973)
3S x Hariana	**		51.6				, N
er. x Haryana	w		52.2				w
Iol x Hariana	Izatnagar	535	53.3	-	-	-	Kaushik & Singhal (1982)
3S x Hariana	w	364	51.6				w
er. x Haryana	w	331	54.7				w
IF x TP	Karnal	308	58.1	S	S	S	Tomar & Verma (1988a)
BS x TP	w	178	53.4	-	-	-	w
er x TP	w	213	56.8	-	-	-	*
er x Kankrej	Anand	449	48.0	N	.N	-	Patel et al. (1988)
fol x Sahiwal	MDF	197	50.2	S	Ν	N	Arun et al. 1992)
3/8		252	51.9				"
1/2		150	55.3				<i>n</i>
5/8		490	53.5				w
3/4		410	48.0				w
7/8		89	52.8				. W
N = Nopsig	unificant S =	Significa	int N	,	~	0	2

Table 6:Average sex ratio (% male births) among normal
birth for different breeds of cattle

Tomar and Verma (1988a) reported that the percent male births among years did not differ significantly but the sex ratio was significantly higher during certain years in Tharparkar (TP) cows mated to TP, HF, BS and Jersey sires.

Significant effect of year of calving on sex ratio was reported by Lathwal *et al.* (1993) in Red Sindhi cows. The sex ratio varied significantly among years from 44.3 to 67.7 percent.

Arun *et al.* (1992) reported that the male births varied significantly from 37.9 to 58.5 percent during different years in Holstein x Sahiwal crossbred cows. Singh and Jain (1997) also reported the significant effect of period of calving on sex ratio in native and crossbred cattle.

Season of birth

Bhattacharya *et al.* (1956) analysed 22866 calving records of 6132 cows in 41 farms comprising 13 breeds and 4 types of grade cattle and reported that there were no significant differences in sex ratio of calves born in different months.

Tomar and Mittal (1960) observed non-significant effect of month of calving on sex ratio in Hariana cattle, though the sex ratio was higher in March (63.4%) while lowest in November (36.6%).

Goswami *et al.* (1963) also reported that the sex ratio did not differ significantly among months of calving in Hariana cattle. Non-significant effect of month or season of calving on sex ratio had been reported by Mukherjee (1973) in Hariana cattle, Tomar *et al.* (1976) and Rawal and Tomar (1995) in Sahiwal cows, Kale *et al.* (1982) and Lathwal *et al.* (1993) in Red Sindhi, Singh *et al.* (1983) in Gir cows and Rawal and Tomar (1996c) in Tharparkar cows.

Non significant effect of season on sex ratio have also been reported by Singh and Parekh (1982) among F_1 and $\frac{3}{4}$ calves from Gir and half bred cows, Shukla and Parekh (1988) in Gir and their crosses, Patel *et al.* (1988)

for F_1 and F_2 Jersey x Kankrej and Friesian x Kankrej crossbreds, Tomar and Verma (1988b) for Holstein x Tharparkar crossbreds, Singh *et al.* (1991) in crossbred cattle, Arun *et al.* (1992) in Holstein x Sahiwal crosses, Mukherjee (1993) in Karan Swiss cattle and Singh and Jain (1997) for native and crossbred cattle.

Significant effect of season of calving on sex ratio was reported by Tomar and Arora (1970) in Hariana cows, being significantly higher among summer born calves while Singh and Singh (1968) reported significantly lower sex ratio in Hariana cattle during summer (38.2).

The sex ratio was found to be significantly higher during winter born calves followed by those born during summer and rainy season in Sahiwal cows mated to Holstein and Brown Swiss (Sethi and Rao, 1981).

Significantly higher sex ratio during summer and autumn seasons than during winter and rainy seasons among purebred Tharparkar and crossbred F_1 calves has been reported by Tomar and Verma (1988a)

Parity of calving

No significant differences between parity orders in sex ratio of calves born to any of 13 Zebu breeds and 4 types of grade cattle in India had been reported by Bhattacharya *et al.* (1956).

The order of calving has also not been found to be a significant source of variation in sex ratio by Goswami *et al.* (1963), Singh and Singh (1968) and Tomar and Arora (1970) in Hariana cattle, Rao *et al.* (1969) in Ongole cattle, Tomar *et al.* (1976b), Sethi and Rao (1981) and Rawal and Tomar (1995) in Sahiwal cattle, Singh *et al.* (1983) and Shukla and Parekh (1988) for Gir cattle, Kale *et al.* (1982) and Lathwal *et al.* (1993) for Red Sindhi cattle, Rawal and Tomar (1996c) in Tharparkar cattle.

Singh *et al.* (1991), Arun *et al.* (1992), Mukherjee (1993) in crossbreds and Singh and Jain (1997) for native and crossbred cattle also reported that parity order had no effect on sex ratio.

Tomar and Verma (1988a) observed that sex ratio was significantly affected by parity order, being higher in first (56.1%) and fifth (61.0%) parities but the percentage of male birth did not differ significantly among parity orders in Tharparkar cattle.

Tomar and Verma (1988b) reported significantly lower sex ratio (45.5 and 44.2%) for second and third calvings but the percentage of male calves among parity orders did not differ significantly in crossbred cows having 50% and 75% exotic inheritance.

2.2.4 Post-calving losses of female calves from birth to age at first calving (AFC)

(I) Mortality

The average mortality rates from birth to AFC in different breeds have been reviewed in Table 7. The average mortality rates ranged between 8.2 to 16.3 percent in Red Sindhi female calves, between 12.1 to 16.4 percent in Sahiwal, except 28.0 percent in one report that is based on small sample size, between 18.8 to 23.0 percent in Tharparkar, 23.6 percent in Hariana and 17.0 percent in indigenous female calves from birth to age at first calving.

Most of the reports available in literature on mortality rate covered the calf mortality upto first 6 or 12 months of age. The reports on mortality in female calves from birth to age of first calving have been reviewed here.

Age of calf

Most of the reports on calf mortality have indicated that age of the calf is an important factor. About half of the total mortality occurred in first months of life and mortality rate decreased with the increase in age (Singh and Singh, 1973; Tomar, 1973; Patil and Gupta, 1980; Rao and Nagarcenkar, 1982 and Mukherjee and Tomar, 1997).

Year of birth

Lathwal *et al.* (1993) not observe any effect of year on the mortality rate of Red Sindhi female calves upto AFC.

Rawal and Tomar (1994b) and Tomar and Rawal (1996) have reported that mortality rates in female calves from birth to AFC ranged significantly over different periods of calving from 15.0 to 32.9 percent and 8.9 to 22.0 percent in Sahiwal and Tharparkar cattle, respectively.

Significant effect of year on mortality rates have been reported by Lemka *et al.* (1973) in Hariana, and Reddy and Nagacenker (1989a) in Sahiwal calves.

Significant effect on mortality of female calves have also been reported by Chaudhary *et al.* (1984) in crossbreds, Tomar and Verma (1988b) in Tharparkar and crossbred calves, Singh and Jain (1997) for native and crossbred cattle and Mukherjee and Tomar (1997) for Karan Swiss.

Season of birth

Negligible effect of season on mortality rates of female calves from birth to age at first calving (AFC) was reported by Lemka *et al.* (1973) in Hariana, Desi and Bos Taurus, Reddy and Nagercenkar (1989a) and Rawal and Tomar (1994b) in Sahiwal, Tomar and Rawal (1996) in Tharparkar and Lathwal *et al.* (1993) in Red Sindhi,

Similar results of no effect of season were observed by Tomar and Verma (1988b) for crossbred, Singh and Jain (1997) for native and crossbred and Mukherjee and Tomar (1997) for Karan Swiss

Significantly lower mortality among Holstein and Jersey crossbred female calves born during rainy (5.8%) and summer (8.1%) seasons than those born during winter (13.8%) were reported by Chaudhary *et al.* (1984).

Significant effect of season of birth on mortality rate was observed by Tomar and Verma (1988a) in Tharparkar and Crossbred F_1 female calves

from birth to AFC. The incidence was low among calves born during rainy season (8.4%) than born in other seasons (16.0 to 17.4%)

Parity of calving

The effect of dam's parity was non-significant on pre-calving losses in female calves as reported by Rawal and Tomar (1994b) for Sahiwal and Tomar and Rawal (1996) for Tharparkar.

Tomar and Verma (1988a) for Tharparkar and Holstein x Tharparkar F₁, Tomar Verma (1988b) for crossbreds, Mukherjee and Tomar (1997) for Karan Swiss also observed non-significant effect of dam parity on female calf mortality.

However, significant effect of dam's parity on mortality rate was reported by Lathwal *et al.* (1993a) for Red Sindhi female calves. The mortality rates were low among calves from older dams of Seventh and eighth parity (4.0 and 8.8%) and from cows of third parity (5.6%), whereas high mortality was observed among those which born from dams of second (20.2%) and fourth (20.9%) parity.

Singh and Jain (1997) have also reported significant effect of parity order on mortality of native and crossbred female calves from birth to AFC.

Birth weight of calves

Lathwal (1989) and Mukherjee (1993) did not observe any effect of birth weight on mortality upto age at first calving in the female calves of Red Sindhi and crossbred, respectively,

Significant differences in mortality rates of calves due to the birth weight of female calves have been reported by Rawal (1991) in Sahiwal and Tharparkar breeds. He observed high mortality among calves having birth weight below 19 kg in Tharparkar breed and below 17 kg in Sahiwal breed.

Tomar (1984) had also reported that Murrah buffalo female calves having the birth weight beyond normal range had significantly high mortality.

Table 7: →	Verage	incidence (%) of deat	h and cullir	ıg in fem:	ale calves from	birth to AFC for different
T	reeds		、				
Breed	No.	Period	Death	Culling	Total losses	Replacement rate	References
Hariana	2578	1952-66	23.6	22.8	46.4	53.6	Lemka et al. (1973)
Sahiwal	648	1	14.1	2.01	16.1	ţ	Singh <i>et al.</i> (1987)
u	848	1951-76	12.1	12.3	24.4	ł	Reddy & Nagarcenkar (1989a)
u	1064	1951-78	14.0	13.2	27.3	ı)
IJ	1400	I	16.4	13.5	29.9	ı	E.
Ľ	1180	1949-87	15.4	15.1	30.5	69.5	Rawal & Tomar (1994b)
F	61	1934-55	28.0	15.0	43.0	ł	Amble & Jain (1967)
Red Sindhi	724	1921-52	8.2	14.1	22.3	77.7	Amble <i>et al.</i> (1958)
Ŧ	472	1951-76	12.1	13.0	25.1	ı	Singh <i>et al.</i> (1987)
F	643	1948-83	13.5	2 <u>8</u> .7	42.2	57.8	Lathwal et al. (1993)
Е	674		16.3	33.9	50.2	42.8	Amble <i>et al.</i> (1958)
Tharparkar	388	1966-78	23.0	8.5	31.5	68.5	Tomar & Verma (1988a)
F	1151	1951-76	18.8	13.6	32.4		Singh <i>et al.</i> (1987)
F	2222	1923-81	21.1	14.9	36.0	64.0	Tomar & Rawal (1996)
Deshi	509.	I	17.0	26.9	51.1	48.9	Lemka <i>et al.</i> (1973)
Local	227		32.1	11.2	43.3	56.7	Singh & Jain (1997)
< 50% exotic	130	I	48.6	8.9	57.5	42.5	, ,) F
> 50% exotic	293	1	43.4	11.6	55.0	45.0	F
Karan Swiss	2008		20.7	27.1	47.8	52.2	Mukherjee & Tomar (1997)
BS x TP	83		6.0	15.7	21.7	78.3	Tomar & Verma (1988a)
BS x Sahi.	84		ı ı	ı	ı	89.3	Taneja & Bhatnagar (1983)
Jersey	854	1948-63	ı	I	,	67.0	Fosgate (1965)
F	ı	ı	ı	,	ı	69.0	Moore & Richardson (1976)
Holstein	1806	1972-82	ł	ı	ł	77.8	Loyd & Hargrove (1991)
Bostaurus	221	1952-66	27.0	ı	49.0	51.0	Lemka et al. (1973)
Jersey crosses	1468	Ì966-70	16.7	2.0	18.7	80.3	Chaudhary et al. (1984)
Murrah	1646	1958-87	24.3	22.7	47.0	53.0	Tomar & Ram (1993)

Ram (1988) reported significant effect of birth weight on mortality for Murrah buffalo calves, the rate being high in calves having birth weight less than 22 kg and more than 41 kg.

(II) Culling

The female calves are culled from the herd before they reach sexual maturity for a number of reasons like poor growth rate, abnormal phenotype, late maturity, reproductive problems and as a policy decision.

The average culling rates in female calves based on total female calves born in different herds and breeds reported by various workers have been reviewed in Table 7. In general, 15-20 percent of the total female calves born alive were culled upto their age at first calving.

Lemka *et al.* (1973) reported that pre-calving losses due to culling of female calves were found to be 22.8 and 26.9 percent in Hariana and Desi breeds of cattle.

Singh (1979) reported culling rate between 0 to 6 months and between 7 months to AFC as 1.8 and 12.6 percent in Red Sindhi; 1.4 and 12.1 percent in Sahiwal; 1.6 and 14.4 percent in Tharparkar and 0.25 and 4.5 percent in Brown Swiss crossbred female calves.

Lathwal *et al.* (1993) observed 28.7 percent culling rate in Red Sindhi female calves from birth to AFC at Karnal. Low culling rates from birth to AFC have been reported by Rawal and Tomar (1994b) for Sahiwal (15.1%) and Tomar and Rawal (1996) for Tharparkar (15%). Singh and Jain (1997) observed only 10.6% culling rates in native and crossbred female calves "upto AFC.

Year of birth

The year was not a significant source of variation in culling rates of Karan Swiss heifers, whereas significant differences over years for culling rates in Karan Fries heifers were reported by Kulkarni and Sethi (1990).

Highly significant differences among years for culling rates of female calves from birth to age at first calving have been reported by Reddy and Nagarcenkar (1989a) and Rawal and Tomar (1994b) in Sahiwal calves, Lathwal *et al.* (1993) in Red Sindhi calves, Tomar and Rawal (1996) in Tharparkar,

Tomar and Verma (`1988a, b) in Tharparkar and crossbred calves, Mukherjee and Tomar (1997) in Karan Swiss and Singh and Jain (1997) in native and crossbred also observed that year had significant effect on culling rates.

Tomar and Ram (1993) reported that the culling rates varied significantly among years from 7.8 to 42.1 percent for Murrah buffalo female calves.

Season of birth

The culling rates were not affected by season of birth as reported by Tomar and Verma (1888a) for Tharparkar and Holstein x Tharparkar F₁ female calves, Lathwal *et al.* (1993) for Red Sindhi, Rawal and Tomar (1994b) for Sahiwal.

Mukherjee and Tomar (1997) for Karan Swiss, Singh and Jain (1997) for native and crossbreds and Tomar and Ram (1993) for Murrah buffaloes also reported no effect of season on culling rate.

Reddy and Nagarcenkar (1989a) for Sahiwal and Tomar and Rawal (1996) for Tharparkar calves also reported significant effect of season on culling rates, being highest in winter and lowest in rainy season.

Significant effect of season of birth was reported by Tomar and Verma (1988b) for crossbred calves, the culling rates being significantly higher in calves born during autumn season (35.9%) than in winter, summer and rainy season (17.8 to 22.8%).

Parity of dam

The parity order did not influence the culling rates as reported by Tomar and Verma (1988a,b) for Tharparkar and crossbreds and Lathwal *et al.* (1993) for Red Sindhi calves.

Significant effect of dam's parity of lactation on culling rates was reported by Rawal and Tomar (1994b) for Sahiwal, Tomar and Rawal (1996) for Tharparkar calves, Mukherjee and Tomar (1997) for Karan Swiss and Singh and Jain (1997) for native and crossbreds. They all found that the culling of calves was low from older dams above seventh parity.

Birth weight of calves

The culling rates were not found to be affected by birth weight of female calves according to the reports of Lathwal (1989) for Red Sindhi calves, Rawal (1991) for Sahiwal and Tharparkar calves and Ram (1988) for Murrah buffalo female calves.

Significant effect of birth weight of Karan Swiss female calves on culling was reported by Mukherjee (1993), however, the calves having birth weight between 24 to 29 kg had low culling rates than those exceeding this limit on both the sides.

2.2.5. Replacement rate

The replacement rate is more a function of the death and culling of female calves from birth to age at first calving, in addition to the incidence of abnormal births and male births. These are the components of the replacement rate and hence any variation in any of these components due to any factor will influence the replacement rate.

The replacement rates observed by different workers for different breeds have been given in Table 7. The replacement rates have been reported to be 67 percent by Fosgote (1965) and 69 percent by Moore and Richardson (1976) in Jersey, about 72 percent in Holstein, Brown Swiss,

Ayrshire and their two breed crosses, and 64 percent in three breed crosses by McDowell and McDaniel (1968).

Low replacement rate of 51 percent was reported by Lemka *et al.* (1973) in exotic cattle. Vaccaro (1990) observed 44 percent replacement rate in imported exotic cattle and 61 percent in the local born cattle.

Among Zebu breeds, the replacement rates varied from 42.8 to 69.5 percent (Table 7).

According to the reports of Chaudhary *et al.* (1984), Singh *et al.* (1987), Taneja and Bhatnagar (1983) and Tomar and Verma (1988a) the replacement rate was higher (about 80%) in exotic-Zebu crossbreds than in Zebu cattle.

Tomar and Ram (1993) reported that only 53 percent of the total Murrah buffalo female calves born reached to the milking herd.

Year of birth

Tomar and Verma (1988b) reported that year of birth had no effect on the percentage of female calves born that reached to the milking herd in crossberd calves.

Significant effect of year of birth have been reported by Tomar and Verma (1988a), Rawal (1991), Lathwal *et al.* (1993), Tomar and Rawal (1994) for Zebu cattle, Mukherjee and Tomar (1997) for crossbred and Singh and Jain (1997) for native and crossbred and Tomar and Ram (1993) for buffaloes on replacement rate based on female calves as well as total calves basis.

Season of birth

No effect of season of birth on the replacement rate either on female calf basis or total calf basis was observed by Rawal (1991) for Tharparkar, Tomar and Rawal (1994) for Sahiwal and Singh and Jain (1997) for native and crossbreds, Tomar and Verma (1988b) and Mukherjee and Tomar (1997) for crossbreds.

The replacement rate was significantly higher among calves born during rainy season than in other seasons (Tomar and Verma, 1988a).

Significantly lower replacement rate of female calves of Red Sindhi breed born during summer season (55.8%) than born in other seasons (59.5 to 61.3%) was reported by Lathwal *et al.* (1993). However the replacement rate based on total calf basis was not affected by the season of birth.

Winter born Murrah buffalo calves had significantly low replacement rate (47.1%) on female calf basis than in other seasons (51.7 to 56.5%) whereas the season did not influence the replacement rate based on total calf basis (21.0 to 25.1%) in calves born during different seasons as reported by Tomar and Ram (1993).

Parity of dam

Tomar and Verma (1988 a,b) in Tharparkar and crossbred calves, Rawal (1991) for Tharparkar cattle and Tomar and Ram (1993) in Murrah buffaloes reported that dam's parity of lactation had no effect on the replacement rate either based on female calf basis or total calf basis.

Mukherjee and Tomar (1997) reported that replacement rate based on female calves born was not different among the calves born to dams of different parity order but on the basis of total calves born it was significantly affected by parity order.

Significant effect of dam's parity was reported by Lathwal *et al.* (1993) in Red Sindhi and Tomar and Rawal (1994) for Sahiwal on replacement rate based on female calf basis, being significantly higher for the calves from older cows beyond fifth parity, whereas the replacement rate based on total calf basis was not affected by dam's parity. Singh and Jain (1997) reported that replacement rates on both the basis were significantly higher among the calves born to older cows.

2.2.6. Age / lactation specific demographic parameters

Five important age specific demographic parameters have been reported in literature which are survival rate, survivorship or stayability, age distribution in terms of the proportion of cows lost and present in the herd of each age group, and the expected herd life in years at different ages. These parameters have been studied either in terms of age or in terms of lactation by different workers. The various reports on these parameters have been reviewed in Table 8.

(1) Survival rate

The report of Greer *et al.* (1980) on Hereford cattle and of Schons *et al.* (1985) on Angus cattle indicated that the survival rate was near 0.80 upto the age of 8 years after which it started declining.

Ahmed *et al.* (1992) working on Nili Ravi buffaloes reported the survival rate as 0.90 upto 4 years of age with a decreasing trend along age, being more than 0.70 upto 10 years of age, nearly 0.68 between 11-13 years and 0.58 during 14 years of age.

Mukherjee (1993) reported that survival rate was maximum during second year of age (0.92) which decreased to 0.69 by 4 years of age and thereafter it remained more or less constant upto 13 years of age.

Camacho *et al.* (1985) observed that 85±7.7 percent Brahmin cows remained in the herd after first calving. Nieuwhof *et al.* (1989) studied the survival rate in cows of 5 milch breeds in different parity of lactation and observed that the survival rate was maximum (0.78) in the second lactation after which it started declining.

Tomar *et al.* (1994) reported that the probability of survival of Sahiwal cows was 0.78 in first lactation, 0.74 or more upto 5th lactation and then decreased.

Lathwal *et al.* (1995) observed the survival rate of Red Sindhi cows to be nearly 0.7 among the cows belonging to parity one through six and then

decreased. Tomar et al. (1996) observed the survival rate in Tharparkar cows as 0.78 after first parity and then decreased along parity.

(2) Survivorship or stayability

Sharma and Singh (1974) observed a sharp decline in the probability of an animal to remain in the herd (1.0 to 0.49) from 3.5 to 7 years after which the reduction in the probability was steady in Zebu breeds.

Greer *et al.* (1980) and Schons *et al.* (1985) observed a declining trend in survivorship with increasing age. Similarly a decreasing trend with increasing age or parity of lactation has also been reported by Agarwal (1968) and Ahmed *et al.* (1992). Tanida *et al.* (1988) reported that age specific survivorship decreased more rapidly with age in Angus herd than in Hereford herd.

Tomar *et al.* (1994), Lathwal *et al.* (1995) and Tomar *et al.* (1996) for Sahiwal, Red Sindhi and Tharparkar cows respectively considered the survivorship as unity in first lactation and observed that survivorship decreased along parity order being less than 0.10 after eighth parity.

(3) Expected herd life

The expected herd life for Angus, Hereford and Shorthorn breed of cattle was estimated by Krehbiel *et al.* (1962) at birth, at 5 and 10 year of age to be 3.9, 2.9 and 1.9 years, respectively.

Greer *et al.* (1980) reported the expected herd life at one year of age as 3.82 years and there was a decrease in expected herd life with advancing age.

A constant expected herd life between 4 to 5 years for the cows upto 6 years of age and after that a decline was noted in Angus and Hereford cows by Schons *et al.* (1985).

A declining trend in expected herd life with advancing age in Nili Ravi buffaloes was reported by Ahmed *et al.* (1992). He reported the expected

Table 8. Age or lactation specific demographic parameters in dairy herds of different breeds

Year Lact	0	1	7	ß	4	ŝ	9	7	8	6	10	11	12	13	14	15	References
								Surviva	l rate (F	x)							
Year	ı	ı	0.807	0.847	0.840	0.825	0.839	0.824	0.801	0.723	0.525	0.0					
Lact.	ı	ı	0.78	0.57	0.40	0.27	0.17	0.10	0.05								2
Year	ı	ı	1.0	0.902	0.908	0.852	0.839	0.797	0.774	0.752	0.728	0.689	0.695	0.699	0.577	0.0	т
Year	0.52	0.96	0.84	0.82	0.85	0.84	0.96	0.83	0.84	0.78	0.86	0.81	0.76	0.68	0.65	0.0	4
Lact.	ı	0.778	0.725	0.736	0.777	0.742	0.702	0.664	0.602	0.600	0.267	0.625	0.0	0.0			11
Lact.	ı	0.711	0.688	0.750	0.763	0.675	0.693	0.549	0.543	0.527	0.700	0.147	1.0	1.0			12
Year	ı	0.777	0.922	0.808	0.689	0.542	0.612	0.688	0.617	0.804	0.686	0.792	0.658	0.64	0.50	0.375	13
Lact.	ı	0.775	0.727	0.737	0.780	0.757	0.735	0.745	0.652	0.608	0.616	0.427	0.0	0.0			14
							2. Survi	vorship	or stabi	lity (Lx)	_						
Year	,	ı	J	1.0	0.947	0.795	0.639	0.490	0.390	0.305	0.258	0.203	0.15	0.102	0.76	0.04	\$
Lact.	ı	0.945	0.721	0.533	0.398	0.289	0.212	0.150	0.101	0.068	0.038	0.019	0.006	0.002			Ŷ
Year	ł	1	1.0	0.807	0.687	0.574	0.474	0.398	0.328	0.268	0.190	0.99					1
Year	1.0	0.52	0.50	0.43	0.35	0.30	0.25	0.22	0.18	0.15	0.11	0.10	0.08	0.06	0.04	0.03	4
Lact.	ı	0.88	0.835	0.828	0.799	0.759	0.704	0.68	0.596	0.522	0.371	0.0					9
Year						0.873	0.744	0.624	0.497	0.385	0.290	0.211	0.145	0.098	0.068	0.039	Ň
Lact.	(1) -	,	0.85	0.71	0.59	0.32	0.26										7
	(2) -	,	06.0	0.55	0.40	0.26	0.21										7
	(3) -	ı	0.96	16.0	0.78	0.70	0.65										٢
Lact.	ı	1.0	0.773	0.546	0.415	0.322	0.239	0.168	0.111	0.067	0.040	0.011	0.006				11
Lact.	ı	1.0	0.710	0.488	0.366	0.279	0.188	0.128	0.072	0.039	0.020	0.014	0.002	0.002	0.002	ı	12
Year	1.0	0.777	0.716	0.579	0.398	0.216	0.132	0.091	0.056	0.045	0.031	0.024	0.016	0.010	0.005	0.002	13
Lact.	1	1.00	0.775	0.564	0.416	0.324	0.245	0.180	0.134	0.088	0.053	0.033	0.014	0			14

contd.../-

J	Kelerences			10	54	- 4	n 11	11	1 [14		-	4 (1		2 X	o	- (10) (r	ο <u>Γ</u>	11	1 1	14	. 4	-	• 6	۲ ۲	11	13	14
15	<u>c</u>				0 43	0.30			037				0 038	0.00					0 006	0000		0 003								
14	+				1.18				0.68) 	·		0 079	1					0.013	0.0	0 002	0.005							0.001	
13	CI				1.67			0 [1.08) -			0 079	10.0					0.018	010.0	0 00	0.06)))					0 001	0.003	: ; ;
12	14				2.12	150		2.0	1.37	0.00			0.047						0.077	0.006	0.00	0.008	0.014				0.003	0.001	0.005	0.003
1	11				2.55		0.63	0.44	1.87	0.42	(1	0.099	0.067	5		0.0)		0.039	0.004	0.012	0.007	0.019				0.026	0.004	0.007	0.008
10		rs		1.9	3.29	1	0.43	1.00	1.97	0.87	h age (q	0.09	0.079			0.04			0.054	0.029	0.006	0.014	0.020		0.040		0.010	0.006	0.010	0.014
6	`) in year	0.53	ı	3.34	2.24	0.86	1.06	2.39	1.14	d of eacl	0.043	0.096			0.056			0.071	0.027	0.018	0.011	0.034	(p.)	0.055		0.018	0.012	0.014	0.023
x	כ	life (Ex	1.10	1	3.7	1	1.12	1.12	2.09	1.39	vs culled	0.065	0.122	0.117	0.045	0.069	0.01		0.092	0.044	0.033	0.035	0.046	in herd	0.069	0.02	0.029	0.022	0.018	0.035
L	-	ed herd	1.68	ı	4.12	1	1.43	1.16	2.12	1.78	n of cov	0.07	0.128	0.063	0.050	0.84	0.03	0.354	0.116	0.056	0.058	0.041	0.046	present	0.084	0.03	0.045	0.038	0.029	0.047
6	,	Expect	2.21	ı	4.49	3.18	1.70	1.49	1.91	2.04	tributio	0.076	0.121	0.076	060.0	0.100	0.05		0.138	0.071	0.058	0.084	0.065	of cows	0.100	0.05	0.064	0.057	0.042	0.064
S		Э.	2.69	2.9	4.53	. 1	1.99	1.90	1.58	2.31	Age dis	0.099	0.127	0.08	0.07	0.121	0.08		0.162	0.083	0.090	0.182	0.078	ibution	0.121	0.08	0.086	0.083	0.069	0.085
4			3.05	1	4.72	ı	2.32	2.22	1.80	2.57	त्रं	0.109	0.078	0.167	0.065	0.145	0.12	0.227	0.159	0.092	0.087	0.181	0.092	ge distr	0.144	0.11	0.111	0.110	0.129	0.109
3			3.41	1	4.79	4.64	2.45	2.41	2.24	2.63		0.123	0.049	0.140	0.170	0.171	0.17	0.17	0.098	0.149	0.122	0.137	0.148	5. A	0.171	0.17	0.151	0.147	<u>0.186</u>	0.147
1			3.73	ı	4.99	ı	2.50	2.34	2.99	2.65		0.193		0.149	0.195	0.212	0.23	0.098	0.007	0.213	0.222	0.061	0.221		0.211	0.23	0.209	0.214	0.230	0.202
1			3.82	1	5.73	,	2.72	2.38	3.1	2.82				0.144	0.195	ı	0.31	0.15	ı	0.222	0.289	0.223	0.224		ı	0.31	0.267	0.302	0.250	0.261
0			ı	3.09	4.09	1	ł	,	ı	r				0.049	0.12	1	F	,	ı	ı	ı	ı	ı		ı	ı	,	,	ı	
1r/	ct.													(1)	(2)															
Yea	La	ļ	Year	Lact.	Year	Year	Lact.	Lact.	Year	Lact.		Year	Year	Lact.		Year	Lact.	Lact.	Years	Lact.	Lact.	Years	Lact.		Year	Lact.	Lact	Lact	Years	Lact

41

contd.../-

contd.				÷													
Year/	0	1	7	e	4	S	9	L	8	6	10	11	12	13	14	15	Reference
					J	5. Repro	ductive	: value (Vx)								
Year 1.(0 1.	88.	2.02	2.02	2.04	1.94	1.90	1.72	1.56	1.44	1.36	1.13	1.06	0.88	0.61	0.46	4
Year			1.57	1.31	1.23	1.40	1.45	1.43	1.60	1.43	1.40	1.14	1.01	0.82	0.65	0.46	13
Lact.	Ι.	.86	1.77	1.75	1.82	1.52	1.47	1.25	1.14	1.05	0.85	0.67	0.44				14
1. Greer et al.	(1980),	•			1			2. Nie	uwhof ϵ	et al. (1	989)						
3. Ahmed et al	l. (1992	2)						4. Sch	ons et a	Ч. (198;	()						
5. Sharma &	Singh ((1974)	_					6. Ocł	ioa <i>et a</i> l	1661).1							
7. Agarwal (15)68)							8. Am	ble <i>et a</i>	l. (1958							
9. Gadzhiev et	' <i>al</i> . (19	(16t						10. Kr	ehbiel ϵ	<i>st al</i> . (1!	962)						
11. Tomar et a	ıl. (199.	(4)						12. La	thwal e	<i>t al</i> . (15	(56)						
13. Mukherjee	; (1993)							14. Tc	imar et d	<i>al</i> . (199	(9						

.

ĸ

herd life at 3, 6, 9, 12 and 15 years of age as 4.64, 3.18, 2.24, 1.50 and 0.30 years.

The expected herd life was estimated by Tomar *et al.* (1994) for Sahiwal, Lathwal *et al.* (1995) for Red Sindhi and Tomar *et al.* (1996) for Tharparkar cows during first lactation to be 2.72, 2.38 and 2.92 more lactations respectively with a decreasing trend along increase in lactation number.

(4) Age distribution of cows left the herd

The proportion of Red Sindhi cows at Bangalore and Hosur farm which left the herd in different lactations was studied by Amble *et al.* (1958). They reported that 5% and 12% of the total cows at two farms left the herd before completing first lactation whereas 14.4 and 19.5 percent of the total cows left after completing first lactation. Around 15 percent of the total cows at Bangalore left the herd in each lactation from 1 through 4 lactation and thereafter the proportion of cows culled decreased along lactations. A decreasing trend was observed in Hosur herd after third lactation. The proportion of cows culled was reported by Greer *et al.* (1980) to be 0.193 at 2 years of age which decreased to 0.123 at 3 years and it remained around 0.07 after 5 years of age till 11 years.

The report of Ahmed *et al.* (1992) indicated that the proportion of Nili-Ravi buffaloes being culled increased from 0.049 at age 3 years to 0.127 at 5 years and it remained constant upto 8 years after which a decline was observed.

Mukherjee (1993) reported that the proportion of crossbred female calves being lost from the herd due to their death and culling was found to be 0.223 upto one year of age whereas during the second year of age the rate of loss was only 6.1 percent. About three fourth of the total females were lost from the herd (78.4%) till they attained the age of 5 years.

Tomar et al. (1994), Lathwal et al. (1995) and Tomar et al. (1996) studied the lactation specific distribution of Sahiwal, Red Sindhi and

Tharparkar cows which left the herd. They reported that about one-fourth of the total cows left the herd after first lactation based on several years of culling and replacement of the culled cows and hence this figure can be used to estimate the number of replacement heifers required to maintain the herd size. They have further observed that the proportion of cows left the herd after second lactation was nearly the same as that in the first lactation and thereafter it decreased appreciably.

(5) Herd structure for cows present in the herd

Regarding the constitution of herd of cows belonging to different lactations, the reports of Greer *et al.* (1980), Nieuwhof *et al.* (1989) and Gadzhiev *et al.* (1991) have indicated that the herds were mostly constituted of younger cows belonging to first 4 parities or upto the age of 5-6 years.

Ahmed *et al.* (1992) observed that about 56 percent of the total buffaloes present in the herd were in the age group of 4 to 7 years.

Mukherjee (1993) observed that about one-half of the total herd (48.5%) comprised the females below 2 years of age (heifers) and 31.5 percent belonged to the age group of 2 to 4 years. Only 2.8% of the total females were of the age group of more than 9 years.

The reports of Tomar *et al.* (1994) on Sahiwal, Lathwal *et al.* (1995) on Red Sindhi and Tomar *et al.* (1996) on Tharparkar cows have shown that about one-fourth of the total cows in the herd belonged to first parity and that about two-third of the total cows belonged to first through third parity. Thus the herd contained mostly the younger cows.

(6) Mean rate of loss

The mean rate of loss for all age groups was reported as 0.25 per female per year by Chaughley (1966) for Himalayan Thar. The average probability of loss per lactation per cow have been reported as 0.268 by Tomar *et al.* (1994) for Sahiwal herd, 0.302 by Lathwal *et al.* (1995) for Red Sindhi cows and 0.26 by Tomar *et al.* (1996) for Tharparkar cows.

Table 9:	Overall life	etable st	atistics for diffe	erent breeds			
	Mean age (Lact. 01	: of cows r year)	Life expectancy	Mean rate of	Reproductive	Generation	
Breed	Present in herd	Lost from herd	at nrst lactation (Lact.)	loss per cow per lact. (Proportion	rate (female calves per cow)	interval (Years)	References
Hereford	4.78	5.7	1			•	Greer et al. (1980)
Angus	8	ı	ſ	·	1.26	5.62	Schons et al. (1985
Karan Swiss	3.56	2.35	2.60	0.32	1.12		Mukherjee (1993)
Sahiwal	3.52	3.69	3.22	0.27	1.78	•	Tomar et al. (1994)
Red Sindhi	3.05	2.96	2.81	0.30	1.60		Lathwal et al. (1995)
Tharparkar	3.81	3.43	3.32	0.26	1.79	1 - 1	Tomar et al. (1996)
Himalaya Tha	I	·	3.05	0.25	•	•	Caughley (1966)
Nili Ravi Buffalo	6.58	7.92	1	·	Y		Ahmed et al. (1992)

45

(7) Mean age of cows present and left the herd

Greer *et al.* (1980) reported the mean age of cows being lost from the herd and present in the herd as 5.7 and 4.8 years respectively.

Ahmed *et al.* (1992) found the average age of cows culled and those which were present in the herd as 7.92 and 6.58 years, respectively in a herd of a Nili-Ravi buffalo.

Tomar *et al.* (1994) for Sahiwal cows, Lathwal *et al.* (1995) for Red Sindhi cows and Tomar *et al.* (1996) for Tharparkar cows observed that the average number of lactations completed by cows which left the herd were 3.69, 2.96 and 3.43 respectively, whereas for those which were present in the herd were 3.52, 3.05 and 3.81 for the three breeds, respectively.

(8) Life expectancy

Chaughley (1966) reported that the mean life expectancy at birth was 3.5 years for Himalayan Thar. The mean lactation expectancy at first lactation was observed as 3.2 lactations by Tomar *et al.* (1994) for Sahiwal herd, 2.8 lactations by Lathwal *et al.* (1995) for Red Sindhi herd and 3.32 lactations by Tomar *et al.* (1996) for Tharparkar herd.

2.2.7. Herd replacement

The herd replacement in any year (annual replacement index) depends on the number of heifer calvings which replace the number of adult females leaving the herd due to their death and culling.

(1) Mortality and culling of adult cows

The average incidence of mortality and culling of adult cows of different breeds during different lactations reported in literature have been given in Table 10. Whereas average loss per lactation and per year have been given in Table 11.

Lemka et al. (1973) found that annual loss of adult females due to death and culling was 18 percent for Hariana, 17 percent for desi cows and

Table 10: Average incidence of mortality and culling (%) in adult cows during different lactations for different breeds

	Total							Lact	ations							Ref.
Breed	COWS		5	3	4	S	6	٢	8	6	10	11	12	13	14	
							2	fortality								
RS	483	1.5	0.9	3.3	3.4	4.4	6.5	4.8	5.7	5.2	ł	28.5	I	1	100.0	1
TP	1368	1.7	2.6	1.6	2.1	2.2	3.8	1.6	4.8	6.6	5.4	8.8	15.7	ł	ı	7
Sahi.	744	3.2	2.4	3.1	3.5	3.6	3.9	6.4	7.2	10.0	3.2	25.0	1	,	ı	ю
KS	1399	2.6	3.2	3.4	5.5	3.8	4.8	3.6	6.6	2.8	6.1	7.1	11.8	ı	I	4
Mur.	733	2.3	2.3	4.4	1.0	3.7	5.9	4.6	15.0	4.5	ı	ı	ı	1	1	5(1)
#	364	0.5	0.8	1.7	1.6	1.3	2.2	1.0	0.0	7.0	ı	1	ı	1	ı	5(2)
Surti	606	5.5	3.7	3.9	5.8	11.7	14.7	8.1	15.8	ı	ı	ı	I	ı	ı	ý
								Culling								
RS	483	27.5	30.3	21.6	20.3	28.1	25.2	38.7	40.0	42.1	30.0	57.0	•	ı	ł	
TP	1368	20.7	24.6	24.6	19.8	22.1	22.6	23.8	29.9	32.5	32.8	48.8	84.2	ı	ı	6
Sahi.	744	18.9	25.1	23.3	18.7	22.1	25.8	27.2	32.5	30.0	70.0	12.5	100.0	ı	ı	с
KS	1399	29.0	39.4	29.0	25.3	17.6	14.1	14.9	15.4	19.8	25.6	30.3	88.2	ı	ı	4
Mur.	733	23.6	23.5	28.0	27.3	16.9	26.5	27.7	30.0	36.5	57.1	75.0	I	100.0	ı	5(1)
u	364	2.8	6.3	25.9	37.2	24.1	33.6	37.9	38.4	50.0	55.5	75.0	100.0	1	ı	5(2)
Surti	606	17.7	25.0	29.5	29.5	36.1	33.3	49.0	63.1	75.0	100.0	J		•	•	6
1. L	athwal (1	989) RS	= Red (Sindhi				5.	Rawal 8	t Toma	r (1998)	TP = Th	arparkar			-

Ram & Tomar (1993) Mur = Murrah (1) Farm born (2) Purchase

Kawal & Tomar (1998) TP = Tharp: Mukherjee (1993) KS = Karan Swiss

4.

Rawal et al. (1994) Sahi = Sahiwal

с. . Ś.

orn 6. Kulkarni (1995) Surti

21 percent for exotic cattle. Sharma and Singh (1974) observed that out of 1372 cows of Sahiwal, Tharparkar and Red Sindhi breeds, 13.1 percent left the herd due to their death.

The average mortality for Hariana, Sahiwal, Tharparkar and Karan Swiss cows have been reported as 9.8, 7.2, 5.0 and 1.2 percent, respectively by Chikara and Balaine (1977).

Reddy and Nagarcenkar (1989b) reported annual mortality in Sahiwal cows as 2.1, 2.1, 1.6, 4.2 and 2.9 percent at Karnal, Durg, Hissar, Meerut and Gangeria farm respectively and the culling rates as 14.9, 9.4, 9.8, 11.6 and 8.9 percent.

Lathwal (1989) reported the mortality and culling of Red Sindhi cows as 9.3 and 90.7 % out of total losses but 2.8 % death and 21.6% culling occurred in each lactation with significant differences among lactations for both mortality and culling rates. The annual mortality rates were 3.9 percent in foundation stock and 1.82 percent in farm born cows while the annual culling rate was 20.7 percent for both foundation cows and farm born cows. The effect of years was significant only for culling rates.

Mukherjee (1993) observed that out of total losses 11.2 percent of the crossbred cows died and the rest 88.8 percent were culled from the herd. He further observed that total losses were less in cows of middle age i.e. during 5-9 lactations. Out of the total losses of 32.5 percent per lactation the mortality accounted for 3.6 percent and the culling for 28.8 percent. It was further observed that the annual loss of cows averaged 24.4 percent due to death and culling each year.

Rawal *et al.* (1994) working on Sahiwal cattle at NDRI, Karnal reported that out of the total losses about 13% of the cows were died and 87% were culled during the entire period of 39 years. The annual mortality and culling rates averaged 2.5 and 16.8% respectively amounting to significant loss of 19.3% per year. The mortality and culling per lactation averaged 3.6 and 23.2% respectively amounting to 26.7% per lactation and lation had highly significant effect on both the traits..

Table 11: Loss of adult cows through death and culling

.

		No. of cows		Loss	:/lactation (°	(%)	Lo	ss / year (%)		
Breed	Total	Died	Culled	Death	Culling	Total loss	Death	Culling	Total loss	Ref.
RS	483	45 (9.3)	438 (90.2	7) 2.8**	27.6*	30.4*	1.8	20.7**	22.5*	1
TP	1368	132 (9.7)	1236 (90.3	3) 2.5**	23.5**	26.0**	1.9*	17.8**	19.7**	7
Sahi.	744	100 (13.4)	644 (86.0	5) 3.6**	23.2**	26.8**	2.5*	16.8**	19.3**	ς
KS	1428	160 (11.2)	1268 (88.8	3) 3.6**	28.8**	32.5**	2.7**	21.7**	24.4**	4
Mur.	586	65 (11.1)	521 (88.9	9) 3.1*	25.0**	28.1**	2.1**	17.0**	19.1**	5(1)
Ľ	350	26 (7.4)	324 (92.6	5) 1.3**	16.3**	17.6**	1.2**	15.3**	16.5**	5(2)
Surti	606	165 (18.1)	744 (81.9	() 5.7**	25.7**	31.4	3.0**	13.5**	16.5**	6
					d*	< 0.05	- d**	< 0.01		
1. Lath	xal (1989) I	XS = Red Sindhi		2.	Rawal &	Tomar (199	$18) TP = Th_{6}$	arparkar		
3. Rawi	al et al. (199-	4) Sahi = Sahiwal		4	Mukherje	e (1993) KS	= Karan Sw	iss		

i	Lathwal (1989) KS = Ked Sindhi	7	Kawal & Iomar (1998)
ы. С	Rawal et al. (1994) Sahi = Sahiwal	4.	Mukherjee (1993) KS = H
.0	Ram & Tomar (1993) Mur = Murrah (1) Farm born	6.	Kulkarni (1995) Surti
	(2) Purchase		

ĸ

Rawal and Tomar (1998) reported the annual mortality and culling rates in Tharparkar cows as 1.9 and 17.78% respectively and about one-fourth of the total cows left the herd in each lactation due to death (2.5%) and culling (23.5%). The mortality and culling rates varied significantly among years and lactations. They further reported that 9.7 percent cows died when they were in the herd and rest 90.3 were culled from the herd.

(2) Annual replacement index

Lathwal (1989) worked out the annual replacement index varying between 0.6 to 1.31 in different periods with an overall value of 0.84 which indicated a reduction in herd size for Red Sindhi herd over a period of 37 years from 1950 to 1986.

Mukherjee (1993) analysed the data for crossbred cattle maintained at Karnal and reported the overall annual replacement index as little more than one (1.07). This indicated that heifer calvings were nearly equal to that of the number of adult cows left the herd in any year and hence the herd size remained constant.

Rawal *et al.* (1994) worked out the replacement index in a herd of Sahiwal cattle at NDRI Karnal and found it to be nearly one which indicated that the herd size remained constant over a period of 39 years (1952-19990). However, the annual replacement index was found to vary significantly among years.

Rawal and Tomar (1998) reported the overall replacement index to be 0.92 for Tharparkar cattle at NDRI, Karnal for 64 years (1923-86) which fluctuated significantly among years.

2.3. GENETIC ANALYSIS

The genetic variability present in terms of the sire differences, heritability estimates and repeatability estimates for replacement rate and selective value and its components have been reviewed

2.3.1. Selective value and its components

Selective value of an adult female is determined by the productive herd life of a cow in terms of calf production traits i.e., total calves born, total alive calve born, total female calves born and total replacement daughter per cow.

(1) **Productive herd life**

Effect of sire

The heritability estimates for productive herd life reported by various workers for different breeds have been given in Table 12.

Camacho *et al.* (1985) reported that the length of useful life was not significantly affected by sire in Brahman herd.

Singh and Tomar (1989) also reported that the effect of sire was highly significant on the trait indicating that the progeny of certain sires had longer life than of the other or vice versa.

Tomar and Basu (1981) reported highly significant effect of sires on herd life in Murrah buffaloes which varied from 1.35 to 9.5 years among the daughters of different sires. They concluded that sire selection can be effective for improving herd life.

Heritability

The heritability estimates of herd life (Table 12) that these were low for exotic breeds where as the estimates were medium in Hariana, high in Tharparkar, low to medium in Sahiwal breed and in crossbreds.

(2) Calf production traits

Effect of sire

Rawal and Tomar (1994) reported that the effect of sire was not significant for life time calf production trait in Sahiwal herd.

Breed	Method	Heritability	Reference
Hariana	DD	0.33±0.11	Singh <i>et al.</i> (1964)
Tharparkar	PHS	0.69±0.10	Basu <i>et al</i> . (1983)
Sahiwal	PHS	0.005±0.10	Reddy & Nagarcenkar (1989c)
Karan Fries	PHS	0.49±0.16	Singh & Tomar (1989)
Karan Swiss	PHS	0.118±0.07	Mukherjee (1993)
HF x Sahiwal			
\geq 50% exotic		0.27±0.04	Reddy (1979)
< 50% exotic		0.21±0.08	n
Jersey	-	0.03	Rogess et al. (1991)
Hereford	PHS	0.26±0.08	Tanida <i>et al</i> . (1988)
w	DD	0.16±0.08	n
Holstein	PHS	0.37±0.14	Evans <i>et al</i> . (1964)
N	ISRD	0.0	N
W	PHS	0.14±0.17	White & Nichols (1965)
N	DD	0.15	Hargrove <i>et al</i> . (1969)

Table 12. Heritability estimates of productive herd life in
different breeds

t

Rawal (1991) reported that the effect of sire was highly significant on total number of calves, total alive calves born, total female calves born, and significant effect on total number of female calves born in Tharparkar breed of cattle,

Lathwal *et al.* (1992) reported highly significant effect of sire on the percentage of Red Sindhi cows which failed to produce female calf and to replace themselves.

Mukherjee and Tomar (1996) observed significant effect of sire on total calves born and total alive calves born whereas the sire had no effect on total female calves born and the number reached to milking herd for Brown Swiss crosses.

Tomar and Basu (1981) analysed the different calf production traits of Murrah buffaloes and observed that sire effect was significant on number of total calves, number of alive calves and number of female calves born. The total number of calves born by the daughters of different sires varied from 1.86 ± 0.4 to 8.86 ± 0.6 whereas the number of female calves born varied form 0.71 ± 0.18 to 3.86 ± 0.74 .

Tomar and Ram (1992) had also reported highly significant effect of sire on total number of calves born, total alive calves, total female calves and total female calves reached to the milking herd from each female.

Heritability

The literature reviewed (Table 13) indicated that in exotic breeds, the heritability estimates of total number of lactations were low.

Basu *et al.* (1983) reported that the heritability for number of lactations completed by each cow in Tahrparkar the herd was high (0.67 ± 0.13) .

Rawal (1991) reported medium heritability for the total number of calves born (0.277), total alive calves (0.243), total female calves born (0.376) and the number reached to milking herd (0.171) by each cow of Tharparkar breed.

Table 13:	Heritability estimates of	life time calf pi	oduction trai	ts in different br	seds
	Total calvia av no	No of alive	No. of .	female calves	
Breed	of lactations	calves	Born	Reaching milking herd	Reference
Tharparkar	0.67±0.13	ı	I	8	Basu <i>et al.</i> (1983)
£	0.28	0.24	0.37	0.17	Rawal (1991)
Sahiwal	0.02	-0.20	0.02	-0.07	Rawal & Tomar (1994a)
Holstein	0.13±0.17	t	ı	ı	White & Nichols (1965)
F	0.14	ı	•	ŗ	Hargrove <i>et al</i> . (1969)
Hereford	. 0.22±0.08	ı	ı	ı	Tanida <i>et al</i> . (1988)
Angus	0.03±0.14	ı	ı	ı	F
Hol. x Sahiwal≥	50% 0.15±0.05	•	ı	ı	Reddy (1979)
Karan Swiss	0.206±0.09	0.177±0.08	0.043±0.06	0.036±0.06	Mukherjee & Tomar (1996)
Murrah buffalo	0.50	0.44	0.39	>1	Tomar & Ram (1992)

54

ŧ

Rawal and Tomar (1994a) observed that the heritability estimate for all the life time calf production in Sahiwal herd was close to zero.

Mukherjee and Tomar (1996) reported that the heritability estimates were 0.206 ± 0.09 for total number of calves born and 0.177 ± 0.08 for total alive calves born whereas, the heritability estimates were close to zero or low (0.043 ± 0.06 and 0.036 ± 0.06) for total number of female calves born and number of calves reached to milking herd.

Tomar and Ram (1992) reported medium heritability for total number of calves, total alive calves, total female calves born and number of calves reached to milking herd from each buffalo of Murrah breed.

2.3.2. Replacement rate and its components

(1) Abnormal calving

Effect of sire

Effect of sire on the incidence of abnormal calves born of Tharparkar, half breed and ³/₄ bred cows was reported non significant (Tomar and Verma, 1988a, b). Lathwal and Arun (1993) also observed that the rate of abnormal calvings was not affected by sire of the calf in Red Sindhi cows.

Singnificant effect of sire was reported by Tomar *et al.* (1975) on this trait in Sahiwal cows bred to Sahiwal and Holstein sires. Abnormal births recorded for the progeny of Sahiwal and Holestein bulls were 64 and 50 percent, respectively. Sharma and Jain (1983) also observed significant sire effect on abortions and pre-natal mortality but not on still births in Zebu and crossbred cattle.

Rawal and Tomar (1996 a & c) working on Sahiwal and Tharparkar cattle observed significant sire effect on the rate of abnormal calvings. They further reported no incidence of abnormal births among the pregnancies settled from 48 percent Sahiwal sires and 42 percent Tharparkar sires indicating that about 50-60 percent of the total bulls used for breeding were
responsible for the abnormal births ranging from 0.1 to 25.0 percent abnormal births among the progeny of different sires.

Arun *et al.* (1991) reported significant difference among sires and grand sires of Sahiwal breed for incidence of abnormal parturitions while the Holstein sires had no effect. No abnormal birth occurred among the pregnancies from 29.4 percent Sahiwal and 21.7 percent HF sires used for breeding.

Mukherjee (1993) found that sire had significant effect on abortion ranging from 2.94 to 20 percent among the progeny of different sires in Karan Swiss cattle.

In Murrah buffaloes, Ram and Tomar (1992) reported that sire of calf had significant effect on the incidence of abnormal births. There had been no abnormal births among the pregnancies of 39 percent of the bulls. The abnormal births ranged from 0.1 to 18.0 percent among the progeny of rest of the 61.0 percent sires. Significant differences in abnormal births among the daughters of different sires have also been reported by Tomar and Basu (1981) in Murrah buffaloes.

Heritability

The heritability estimates of abnormal births presented in Table 14 indicated very little additive genetic variability in the trait in all the breeds.

Lindhe (1967) reported considerable sire differences in the trait with medium heritability (0.43) of still born progeny in Swedish breed of cattle.

Repeatability

Low repeatability estimates of abnormal births have been reported by Rawal and Tomar (1996a) in Sahiwal (0.025) and Rawal and Tomar (1996b) in Tharparkar (0.032) cattle and Arun *et al.* (1991) in crossbred cattle ranging from 0.065 to 0.28 among different grades.

Mukherjee (1993) found very low repeatability for abortions (0.038) and for still birth (-0.02) in Karan Swiss cattle.

Tomar (1984) reported very low estimate of repeatability in Murrah buffaloes at two farms (0.049 and 0.10). Similarly low estimate of the repeatability of abnormal births in Murrah buffaloes (0.049) was reported by Ram and Tomar (1992).

(2) Sex ratio

Effect of sire

The sex ratio did not differ significantly among the progeny of different sires as reported by Goswami *et al.* (1963), Tomar and Arora (1970) in Hariana, Tomar *et al.* (1976) and Sethi and Rao (1981) in Sahiwal, Lathwal and Arun (1993) in Red Sindhi, Tomar and Verma (1988a) in Tharparkar, Singh *et al.* (1983), Tomar and Verma (1988b) in crossbred cattle and Mukherjee (1993) in Karan Swiss.

Significant effect of sire of the calf on the sex ratio was reported by Powell *et al.* (1975) in exotic cattle. Rawal and Tomar (1995) observed that in a Sahiwal herd the sex ratio was highly significantly affected by sire of the calf. The sex ratio ranged between 40 to 70 % among the pregnancies of about two third of total sires. There were about 7 percent of the total sires in the herd, the sex ratio was about 75 percent while the sex ratio was below 20 percent for the progenies of about 5 percent of total sires.

Rawal and Tomar (1996c) found that the effect of sire of the calf on sex ratio in Tharparkar herd was highly significant to the extend that the sex ratio was zero percent among the pregnancies of 1 out of 79 sires and there were 6 sires whose pregnancies consisted of about 75 percent male calves whereas the sex ratio was below 40 percent among the pregnancies settled from 9 out of 79 bulls.

Arun et al. (1993b) observed significant sire differences in sex ratio for Sahiwal breed varying from 16.7 to 100 percent while among the progeny of

Holstein sires the differences were not significant though the sex ratio among the progeny of different sires ranged from 22.2 to 68.0 percent.

Tomar and Tripathi (1988) reported that the effect of sire on sex ratio was significant in one of the two herd of Murrah buffaloes.

Heritability

The estimates of heritability of sex ratio have been reported to be very low by Arun *et al.* (1993a) for Sahiwal (0.062) and HF sires (0.0176), Mukherjee (1993) for Karan Swiss cattle, Rawal and Tomar (1995) for Sahiwal cattle (0.0954) and Rawal and Tomar (1996b) for Tharparkar cattle (0.0674).

Tomar and Tripathi (1988) reported low to medium heritability of sex ratio estimated in two herds of Murrah buffaloes (0.124 and 0.434).

Ram and Tomar (1992) observed medium heritability of sex ratio (0.206) in Murrah buffaloes.

Repeatability

The repeatability estimates of sex ratio were reported were low by Tomar and Tripathi (1988) in two herds of buffaloes (-0.064 & 0.045), Sethi and Rao (1981) in Sahiwal cattle (0.034), Arun *et al.* (1993a) for crossbred cattle (-0.035), Rawal and Tomar (1995) for Sahiwal (0.084) and Rawal and Tomar (1996c) for Tharparkar (0.0157). All these reports have indicated that sex of the calf in future gestation can not be predicted based on the sex of the calf in previous gestation.

Stonaker and Knapp (1974) and Elbarbery (1983) found a tendency of calves of the same sex to be born in successive calving i.e. more female calves will likely to be born following a female calf.

(3) Mortality rate

Effect of sire

Tomar and Verma (1988a) for Karan Fries, Tomar and Verma (1988b) for Tharparkar cattle and Lathwal and Arun (1993) for Red Sindhi observed no effect of sire on the female calf mortality from birth to AFC.

Significant effect of sire on female calf mortality from birth to age at first calving has been reported by Chaudhary *et al.* (1984) in crossbred cattle.

Rawal and Tomar (1994) observed that sire had highly significant effect on female calf mortality of Sahiwal breed. There was no mortality of female calves from birth to age at first calving among the progeny of 19.2 percent of the total sires, the maximum mortality was 50 percent among the progeny of one Sahiwal sire.

Tomar and Rawal (1996) reported that sire of calf had highly significant effect on the mortality of Tharparkar female calves from birth to AFC. There was no mortality among the female calves from 12.7 percent sires, whereas the mortality was below 10 percent among the progenies of 7.6 percent sires, between 40-50 percent among the progenies of 12.6 percent sires and for one sire 63.1 percent female progeny died before breeding age.

Mukherjee and Tomar (1997) observed highly significant effect of sire on female calf mortality rate in Karan Swiss. They reported that there was no mortality from birth to age at first calving among the female progeny of 3 out of 48 sires. The average mortality ranged from 5.1 to 40.0 percent among the female calves born to rest of the 45 sires. The mortality was below 20 percent among the progeny of 54.1 percent of the total sires, between 20 to 30 percent among the progeny of 27 percent sires and between 30 to 40 percent among the progeny of rest of the 12.4 percent sires.

Ram and Tomar (1992) observed highly significant effect of sire on female calf mortality from birth to age at first calving in Murrah buffaloes. No mortality was recorded among the progeny of 10.7 per cent of the total sires.

Among the progeny of 18 percent of the total sires, mortality was more than 40 percent, whereas the mortality was observed as high as 63.1 percent among the progeny of one sire.

Heritability

Low estimates of heritability of mortality rate have been reported by most of the workers (Table 14).

Medium heritability estimates have been reported by Singh(1979) in Sahiwal, Tharparkar, Red Sindhi and crossbred cattle.

(4) Culling rate

Effect of sire

The sire effect was not significant on the culling of female calves from birth to AFC for Tharparkar and its half bred female calves (Tomar and Verma 1988a) and Karan Fries cattle (Tomar and Verma 1988b).

Lathwal and Arun (1993) reported that the effect of sires on culling percentage of female calves from birth to age at first calving in Red Sindhi cattle was highly significant, the culling percentage ranged form 2.5 to 69.2 percent among the progeny of different sires.

Highly significant differences for the culling percentage from birth to age at first calving among the female calves from different sires in Sahiwal cattle were observed by Rawal and Tomar (1994), none of the female calf born to 25 percent sires was culled whereas the culling percentage was as high as 42.8 percent among the female progeny of one sire. More than 30 percent of the female calves were culled for 6.4 percent of the total Sahiwal sires.

Tomar and Rawal (1996) observed highly significant differences in culling rates of female calves from different sires. There were about one-fourth of the total Tharparkar sires whose none of the female calf was culled from the herd till breeding age. The culling rates observed were 10 percent

among the female calves of 31.6 percent sires, between 20 to 40 percent among the female calves of 20.2 percent sires and about two third of the female calves from one sire were culled before their reproductive age.

Mukherjee and Tomar (1997) also reported highly significant effect of sire on culling of Karan Swiss female calves. They reported that there was only one out of 48 sires whose none of the female progeny was culled from the herd till they attain reproductive age. The average culling rates varied from 8.0 to 50.7 percent among the progeny of rest 47 sires. Among the progeny of 27 percent of the total sires, the culling rates were below 20 percent and 20 to 30.9 percent for the female progenies of 31.3 percent sires. There were 27.1 and 12.5 percent of the total sires among whose progenies the culling rates were between 30 to 40 percent and exceeded to 40 percent, respectively.

Ram and Tomar (1992) reported highly significant effect of sire on the culling percentage of female calves from birth to age at first calving for Murrah buffalo.

Heritability

Very low estimate of heritability for culling (0.065±0.025) was reported by Schwenger et al. (1989) in exotic cattle.

Lathwal and Arun (1993) observed medium (0.347) heritability of culling in Red Sindhi female calves from birth to age at first calving.

The heritability of culling rates of female calves from birth to AFC was reported as 0.1706 for Sahiwal (Rawal and Tomar, 1994a), 0.2123 for Tharparkar (Tomar and Rawal, 1996) and 0.115 for Karan Swiss cattle (Mukherjee and Tomar, 1997).

Ram and Tomar (1992) also reported low heritability estimates of culling of female calves from birth to age at first calving.

(5) Replacement rate

Effect of sire

Tomar & Verma (1988a) reported no effect of sire of the calf on the percentage of female calves reaching to the milking herd.

Lathwal and Arun (1993) reported highly significant effect of sire on replacement rate in Red Sindhi cattle based on female calves and total calves born. The percentage of female calves reaching to milking herd ranged from 30.7 to 92.8 percent on female calf basis and from 16.0 to 53.2 percent on total calf basis among progeny of different sires.

Highly significant differences in replacement rates among the progeny of different sires have been reported by Rawal and Tomar (1992) for Sahiwal and Rawal (1991) for Tharparkar breed based on total births as well as based on female births. The replacement rate ranged from 25 to 97 percent based on female calves born and from 7.7 to 70.0 percent based on total births among the progeny of different sires in Sahiwal breed. The corresponding figures were 28.5 to 95.6 and as 9.9 to 54.5 percent among the progeny of different sires for Tharparkar breed.

Mukherjee and Tomar (1997) also observed highly significant effect of sire on replacement rate on both the basis. They reported that the replacement rate (percentage of female calves reaching milking herd) ranged from 24.6 to 87.5 percent on total calves born basis. The replacement rate (female calf basis) were between 20 to 40 percent among the progenies of 18.7 percent of the total sires and more than 70 percent for the progenies of 18.8 percent total sires. On total calf basis, the replacement rates were below 20 percent for the progenies of 27 percent of the total sires and above 35 percent for the progenies of 12.4 percent of total sires. Thus it may be concluded that the replacement rate was higher among the progenies of certain sires and this information can be utilized to improve the replacement rate.

	Breed	Abnormal calving	Sex ratio	Mortality	Culling	Replacement Rate	Reference
,	Red Sindhi		L	0.18±0.11	1	1	Singh (1979)
	Sahiwal	ı	ı	0.38±0.12	I		II.
		I	0.05	I	ı	ı	Sethi & Rao (1981)
	н	ı	ı	0.116	0.17	I	Rawal & Tomar (1994a)
	, II	ı	ı	1	•	0.28 (0.06)	Rawal & Tomar (1992)
	Ľ		0.095	ı	ı	× 1	Rawal & Tomar (1995)
	Ľ	0.10	ı	ı	·	ı	Rawal & Tomar (1996a)
	Tharparkar	ı	ı	0.31±0.09	ı	ı	Singh (1979)
		ł	ı	ł	ı	0.11(0.031)	Rawal (1991)
	F	0.16	0.067	·	1	ļ	Rawal & Tomar (1996c)
	Ľ	ı	ı	0.088	0.21	ı	Rawal & Tomar (1996b)
~~~	Red Sindhi	0.042	0.016	0.001	0.347	0.23(0.10)	Lathwal & Arun (1993)
	Crossbreds	ı	0	0.003 to 1.0	ı	. 1	Parekh & Singh (1987)
	и	0.07	ı	3	ı	ı	Arun et al. (1991b)
	н	1 ,	0.06	ı	ı	ı	Arun et al. (1993a)
	Karan Swiss	0.056	0.002		ı	,	Mukherjee (1993b)
	۴	ı	t	0.137	0.115	0.225(0.064)	Mukherjee & Tomar (1997)
NETR'	Exotic	0.05	ı	ı	I	. 1	Erb et al. (1959)
	F	0.43	ı	ı	1	•	Lindhe (1967)
IB Acc 32		ı	0.017	·	ı	t	Powell et al. (1975)
R . . N	u	ı	ı		0.065±0.025	ı	Schwenger et al. (1989)
4 p 10.	// Murrah	ı	·	<b>-</b> 0.006±0.11	. 1	ı	Singh et al. (1980)
マイン	Ľ	-0.05	·	0.095±0.06	,	ł	Tomar (1984)
A LA	u	ŧ	0.124±0.124	ı	ı	ı	Tomar & Tripathi (1988)
	٤	0.42	0.206	0.206	0.172	0.124(0.01)	Ram & Tomar (1992)
		Figures in pare	enthesis are the h	neritability estin	late of replacem	ent rate based or	ı total calves born.

Table 14: Heritability estimates of replacement rate and its components in dairy herds of different breeds

Ram and Tomar (1992) observed highly significant effect of sire on the replacement rate in Murrah bufrfaloes. The percentage of female reaching to age at first calving from different sires varied from 31.5 to 100 percent based on female calves born and 14.9 to 43.7 percent based on total calvings.

#### Heritability

Rawal (1991) reported low heritability of replacement rate in Tharparkar cattle (0.11) based on female calf basis and 0.031 on total calf basis). Rawal and Tomar (1992) reported the heritability estimates as 0.28 and 0.060 for replacement rates in Sahiwal herd on both the basis.

Lathwal and Arun (1993) observed heritability of replacement rate on female calf basis as 0.235 and on total calf basis as 0.103 in Red Sindhi herd.

Mukherjee and Tomar (1997) found the heritability for replacement rate as 0.225 for female calf basis and 0.064 for total calf basis.

Tomar and Ram (1992) reported low heritability estimates for the traits on female calf basis (0.124) as well as on total calf basis (0.011).

## 2.4. SIRE EVALUATION FOR SELECTIVE VALUE AND ITS COMPONENTS AND THEIR RELATIONSHIP WITH MILK PRODUCTION

Most of the work on sire evaluation has been done on production traits. The author has not come across any work, except Mukherjee (1993), on ranking of sires for selective value. However, very limited information are available regarding sire evaluation for some reproductive traits and daughter's survivability.

Westell *et al.* (1982) evaluated the Canadian Holstein Friesian sires for disposal reasons of their daughters in different lactations. The correlations between sire ranking for same disposal reason in different lactations were positive and ranged from 0.21 to 0.82 for all the disposal reasons.

Martinez *et al.* (1983) studied the genetic relationship between calf livability, calving difficulty and feasibility of sire evaluation for livability and calving difficulty was 0.66. The correlation coefficient between sires transmitting ability for calf livability and for calving difficulty was 0.4.

Erf *et al.* (1990) evaluated the sires for calf mortality based on 7513 calving records of Brown Swiss cattle considering the calf mortality as three traits viz, death at birth, death at  $2^{nd}$  day and death from  $1^{st}$  to  $7^{th}$  day. Sire ranked almost identically (0.99) for death at birth and death through  $2^{nd}$  day and both the traits had the same positive association of 0.55 with death from  $1^{st}$  to  $7^{th}$  day.

Mukherjee (1993) evaluated sires evaluation by estimating the transmitting ability for abnormal birth, female calf losses upto AFC and for selective value (proportion of daughters reached upto AFC). He found negative and low rank correlation for ranking of sires for abnormal birth with female culled upto AFC (-0.08), with female mortality upto AFC (-0.20) and with selective value (-0.2) which were all non-significant. This showed that selection of sire for reduced abnormal birth will not bring any improvement in these traits. There was also a negative and very low rank correlation between the estimates of sires for mortality and culling rates among the daughters of the sires and hence these two traits were not associated. There was a moderately and positive correlation of ranking of sires between selective value and female culled (0.69) and between selective value and female mortality (0.58). This suggested that direct selection of sire for low mortality and culling rates may bring some improvement in selective value. He further reported that the rank correlation between selective value and 305 day first lactation milk was 0.30 which means rank for sires adaptive value also improve the milk yield where as very low positive rank correlation between selective value and first lactation total milk yield (0.04) indicated that there was no correlation between selective value and first lactation total yield. The rank correlation between selective value and AFC was low but positive (0.19).

## CHAPTER 3

# MATERIAL & METHODS

### MATERIAL AND METHOD

#### 3.1. SOURCE OF DATA

The relevant data for the present investigation were collected from the history and pedigree sheets on 735 Hariana cows born from 1970 to 1989 and maintained at Government Livestock Farm, Hisar.

#### 3.2 HISTORY AND BREEDING POLICY OF HERD

Hariana is a well defined dual purpose breed and has been maintained since long at a number of farms. The Government Livestock Farm located at Hisar is one of the oldest farm maintaining a herd of Hariana breed, which was established in the year 1945 under the scheme "To Supplement Livestock Investigations". The initial stock consisted of 80 cows, 150 heifers and 12 bulls. Six of these bull came from farm bred stock and rest six were purchased from the open market. The criterion of selection was on the basis of breed confirmation without much stress on performance records. Upto 1949, there was no culling of male stock. Later on, it was decided to retain only those males for replacement whose dam vielded at least 907 kg of milk in 300 days, but limited to one third of total number of males in each sire family. The retained males had to confirm to the draught type. The families where the dam's performance had not reached 907 kg, a minimum of 3 males of the best performing dams with the best conformity to draught type within a family were retained. and the rest were culled. Before 1952-53, females were not culled. Planned selection programme was initiated during 1952-54 in Hariana females with selection criteria of 363 kg of milk in first lactation of 300 days. In order to ensure random selection, all the heifers except those not conforming to breed characteristics were retained atleast till the

completion of their first lactation and, thereafter, the low producers were culled. Besides production levels, breed characteristics, poor growth rate, late maturity, reproductive problem and conformation were also considered for culling. Selected females were divided into groups and assigned to progeny tested bulls. Care was taken to avoid mating between close relatives.

#### 3.3. HERD MANAGEMENT AND FEEDING

All the animals were maintained in open enclosures throughout the year. In severe winter they were moved into roofed enclosures. The milch, dry, young and male breeding stock were managed separately. Male and female calves were housed separately after six months of age. Upto 1952, milch and dry cows were let out for grazing on natural pastures. After 1952, only dry cows were let out for grazing except for rainy season. The cows were milked twice daily at 3.30 AM and 3.30 PM. Weaning was not practised. Test day recording was done once in a week.

In general, group feeding system was followed category wise except feeding of advanced pregnant cows and breeding bulls which were kept in individual pens. The feeding schedule for various categories of animals is given in Table 3.1. Antibiotics and feed supplements were given according to the dosage prescribed by the manufacturers. Rations fed to lactating animals were computed on the basis of milk production, live weight and stage of pregnancy. The green fodder consisted of maize and jowar during the month of June to October and berseem, oats and rape mixture from November to March. The dry fodder consisted of jowar karbi, bajra karbi and wheat bhoosa.

Adequate veterinary care was provided round the clock. Animal sheds were sprayed regularly with insecticides and pesticides to control ticks, lice, mosquitoes and flies.

#### TABLE 3.1. FEEDING SCHEDULE OF DIFFERENT CATEGORIES OF CATTLE

Category of animals	Concentrate*	Dry fodder	Green fodder/head/day
	(kg)	(kg)	(adjusted against dry
			fodder) (kg)
Birth to 3 month	-	-	ad lib
3 to 9 months	0.5-1.0	1-3	ad lib
Young growing stock	1.0	4	6
Heifers	1.5	6	16
Milch cows	2.5	8	20
Pregnant dry cows	1.5	8	20
Non-pregnant dry	1.5	7	16
cows			
Breeding bulls	3.0	10	20

*Mineral mixture was supplied in the form of mineral bricks to all categories of animals. Two per cent common salt and 1% mineral mixture were added to the concentrate feed. The concentrate mixture containing 20% D.C.P. and 75% T.D.N. for growing stock and 16% D.C.P. and 75% T.D.N. for lactating animals.

The periodic testing of the herd against Brucellosis, Tuberculosis, and Johne's disease was carried out every year. The animals found positive on the initial testing were segregated from healthy herd. On subsequent testing if they found positive, they were sent to Gosadan. Prophylactic vaccinations were carried out against Black Quarter, Rinderpest, Foot and Mouth Disease and Haemorrhagic septicaemia. Regular deworming of calves as carried out monthly upto age of 9 months.

Identification of calves was done by tattoo marks. Hot iron branding was done at the age of 1 year. Records of pedigree and performance of each animal were maintained regularly.

#### 3.4. DATA RECORDING AND COLLECTION

The records/information on cows and calves for the present investigation were collected from history sheets, birth records and disposal records on different traits viz., production, reproduction, calving and disposal through death and culling at different ages. These were as under:

#### Cow's records

- i. Cow number, its sire and dam number
- ii. Date of birth of each cow

- iii. Date of service and service sire number for different gestations.
- iv. No. of services required for conception
- v. Date of calving in all the lactations
- vi. Lactation number
- vii. First lactation milk yield
- viii. Mode of disposal (death or culling) of each cow alongwith date

#### Calf's recrods

- i. Calf number, its sire and dam number
- ii. Date of birth
- iii. Type (normal and abnormal) and sex of calf
- iv. Birth weight of the calf
- v. Mode of disposal (death or culling) of female calf from birth to age at first calving along with date.
- vi. Date of first calving, if survived.

#### 3.5. CALCULATION OF CERTAIN PARAMETERS

The breeding data collected were used to calculate certain other parameters viz., productive herd life, longevity, coefficient of gene replication and lactation specific demographic parameters.

#### 3.5.1. Productive herd life

It was calculated as the number of days from the date of first calving to the date of disposal of the cow from the herd and expressed in years.

#### 3.5.2. Longevity

It was taken as the time interval in years from date of birth to the date of disposal of cows from herd either due to culling or death.

#### 3.5.3. Selective value of each cow (Life time calf production)

The selective value of an animal is defined as the proportionate contribution of the living female progeny to the next generation. This is the function of the life time calf production and the number of female calves reached to the milking herd from each cow which depends on total calvings, total female calves produced and survived to the milking age. Therefore, the total number of calves, total alive calves, total female calves born and the total number of female calves reached to the milking herd from each cow were counted.

WAS

#### 3.5.4. Coefficient of gene replication (CGR)

The term CGR was coined by Schons *et al.* (1985) on the basis of the life time female replacements. They defined the CGR as, the additive genetic relationship between adult female and its female descendents reached to milking herd and have become as the replacement heifers. These relationships were considered to be the proportion of a cow's genes that were replicated and given further opportunity to make genetic contribution to the future generation. These relationship were added over each cow's life time female descendents that reached to the milking herd to become the parents of next generation. They have assigned the value to one female replacement as 0.5 and termed it as the CGR.

#### 3.5.5. Replacement rate

The replacement rate was taken as the percentage of female calves reached to the milking herd to that of the total female calves born as well as to that of the total calves born in any year (Tomer and Verma, 1988 a,b). Replacement rate is more a function of the death and culling of female calves from birth to age at first calving, in addition to the loss of female calves through abnormal birth and male births.

#### 3.5.6. Lactation specific demographic parameters

The following lactation-specific parameters (i-vi) were calculated after Schons *et al* (1985):

(i) Loss rate(Q_x): It is the probability assuming survival to lactation  $x_{y}$  of dying or culling before lactation x+1. Thus  $Q_{x} = \frac{d_{x}}{n_{x}}$ 

Where,

 $d_X$  is the number of animals died and culled during lactation x  $n_X$  is the number of animals present in the herd at the beginning of lactation x

(ii) Survival rate ( $P_x$ ): This is the complement of  $Q_x$ . It is the probability assuming survival to lactation x) of surviving to lactation x+1 and estimated as

 $P_X = L_{X+1}/L_X = 1-Q_x$ 

Thus it is the probability of an animal being present to lactation x in the herd to the next lactation of x+1.

(iii) Stayability:  $(L_x)$ : This is the probability at first lactation of a cow present in the herd to lactation x and estimated as number present at lactation x divided by the number alive at first lactation. The survivorship at first lactation was taken as unity and hence  $L_0 = 1.0$ . The  $L_x = \frac{n_x}{n_0}$ . This

can also be estimated as  $L_x = P_X L_{X-1}$ 

No

Where

na

 $n_x$  = No. surviving at lactation x

= No. ofcows at first lactation

(iv) Expected herd life (Ex): This is the number of additional years that an animal of lactation x is expected to remain in the herd Ex more years and it was estimated as the sum of probability of an animal of a given lactation remaining in the herd (Px) through each succeeding lactation upto the last lactation. Thus

E_x= P_x+P_x P_{x+1} + P_x P_{x+1} P_{x+2} +....P_x P_{x+1}. P_{x+n} (Ahmed *et al*, 1992).

$$= \left[\sum_{x}^{n} L_{x+1}\right] / L_{x+0.5} \text{ (Schons et al., 1985)}$$

(v) Birth rate  $(M_x)$ : This is the probability of a cow of lactation x producing a live female calf. Thus

$$M_X = \frac{No. \text{ of female calves produced by a cow of lactation } x}{No. \text{ of cows in lactation } x}$$

(vi) Reproductive value ( $V_X$ ): This is the relative contribution of a cow of lactation x to future generation and estimated as :

$$V_{\rm X} = \left[\sum_{\rm x}^{\rm n} L {\rm x} \, {\rm M} {\rm x}\right] / L_{\rm X}$$

#### (vii) Lactation – specific herd structure

The procedure given by Greer *et al.* (1980) was used to estimate the following two parameters indicating the herd structure or age distribution of cows being lost from the herd and being present in the herd of different lactations.

(a) Age-specific loss  $(q_x)$ : It is the probability of cows being lost that are of each lactation and estimated as :

$$q_x = Q_x L_{X-1}$$
 such that  $\sum_{X=1}^{N} q_x = 1.0$ 

Where  $Q_X = \frac{d_x}{n_x}$ 

(b) Age – specific distribution of cows  $(p_x)$ : This is the probability of cows remaining in the herd that are of each lactation and estimated as:

$$p_x = \frac{Lx}{\sum_{x=1}^{n} Lx}$$
, such that  $\sum_{x=1}^{n} p_x = 1.0$ 

#### 3.5.7. Over all life table statistics

The following six life table statistics have been estimated after the procedure given by Caughley (1966), Greer *et al.* (1980) and Schons *et al.* (1985):

Greer et al (1980) calculated the following two life time parameters as:

- i) Mean age of cows being lost (death and culling): This parameter was obtained by multiplying each lactation (x) by proportion of cows lost from the herd ( $q_x$ ) and adding the products i.e.  $\Sigma \times q_x$
- ii) Mean age of cows present in the herd: They obtained this parameter by multiplying each lactation (x) by proportion of total cows present in the herd ( $P_x$ ) and adding the product i.e.  $\Sigma \propto p_x$

#### Caughley (1966) estimated the following two parameters as:

iii) Mean rate of loss per female per lactation ( $\overline{q}_x$ ): It is the average probability of a female animal being lost from the herd each lactation. This parameter is calculated as:

 $\overline{q}_{x} = 1/\Sigma L_{x}$  per female per year.

iv) Average life expectancy at birth: This is the sum of survivorship at each lactation minus 0.5. Thus it was calculated as :

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} L_{x}-0.5$$

#### Schons et al. (1985) calculated the following two parameters as:

v) Net reproductive rate: It was defined as expected number of daughters produced by each animal entering the population or finite rate of population increase per generation. This was estimated as:

$$\sum_{x=0}^{n} (L_x) (M_x)$$

vi) Generation interval (t): This is the mean interval between birth of a parent and birth of its offspring and estimated as:

$$\mathbf{t} = \left[\sum_{x=1}^{n} \mathbf{L}_{x} \mathbf{M}_{x} \mathbf{X}\right] / \mathbf{R}_{0}$$

#### 3.5.8. Annual replacement index (ARI)

The procedure of Ram and Tomar (1993) was used to calculated the annual replacement index as :

ARI = <u>No. of heifer calvings in a year</u> No. of cows left the herd

#### 3.6. CLASSIFICATION OF DATA

The data were spread over a period of 26 years (1970-1996), were divided into following periods:

Periods No.	Year of birth	Year of calving
1	1970-1975	1973-1975
2.	1976-1980	1976-1980
З.	1981-1985	1981-1985
4	1986-1989	1986-1990
5.		1991-1996

The year of calving was divided into four seasons depending upon the temperature, relative humidity and rainfall.

Months	Seasons	Code
December to March	Winter	1
April to June	Summer	2
July to September	Rainy	3
October to November	Autumn	4

The first lactation milk yield groups and age at first calving groups of

cows were	e mad	e base	ed on	1⁄2 σ	of	trait a	as

Sr. No.	FLMY group	AFC group
	(kg)	(Days)
1.	< 550 kg	< 1100 days
2.	550-749	1100-1299
З.	750-949	1300-1499
4.	950-1149	1500-1699
5.	1150-1349	>1700
6.	1350-1549	
7.	> 1550	

5-40048

5: 400 days

74

To study the effect of birth weight of female calves on their mortality, culling and survival in the herd upto the age at first calving, the birth weight groups were made taking a class interval of 2 kg and in all six groups. The first group was made for the female calves having birth weight of 17 kg and less, second group of calves having 18-19 kg and so on, and last group was for those with birth weight of 26 kg or more.

The data were also classified into sire progeny groups for the lifetime calf production traits and for the replacement rate and its components. The data were available on 660 cows of 44 sires for the life time calf production, whereas on 3556 calves of 108 sires for the incidence of abnormal births, sex ratio, mortality, culling and replacement rate.

The adult cows were arranged and a frequency distribution of cows was made according to their life time calf production traits, PHL, longevity etc.

#### 3.7. STATISTICAL ANALYSIS OF DATA

The statistical analysis was conducted to study the effect of genetic and non genetic factors on selective value based on life time calf production and the replacement rate and its components (incidence of abnormal births, frequency of male births (sex ratio), mortality and culling of female calves and survival of female calves upto their age at first calving).

#### 3.7.1. Effect of genetic and non-genetic factors

#### (1) Replacement rate and its components

The replacement rate and its components viz., incidence of abnormal births, sex ratio, mortality, culling and survival rate upto age at first calving were expressed as proportions or percentage which did not follow normal distribution. So the data were transformed in arcsine (Senedecor and Cochran, 1967). Therefore, resort had to be made for transformation of data into angles. The phenotypic value of an animal expressing the trait was coded as one whereas the value zero was

assigned to the animal which did not express the trait. The frequency distribution of two groups of animals viz., having the value 1 and 0 were worked out under different cells developed according to the period, season and parity of calving. These were then used to estimate the proportion of animals expressing the trait. The proportion under each cell, developed according to the period, season and parity of calving, was transformed into angles where

Q= Sin  $\sqrt{p}$  and p is the proportion of animals for a trait.

The transformation of data was done to make the data amenable to least squares analysis and to make the variance independent of mean. The least squares analysis without interaction (Harvey, 1966) on transformed data was conducted using the following model:

 $Y_{ijkl} = \mu + p_{j} + S_j + L_k + e_{ijkl}$ 

Where,

 $\mu$  is the overall mean

 $P_i$  is the effect of ith period of calving (i = 1,2,....5)

 $S_i$  is the effect of jth season of calving (j = 1,..., 4)

 $L_k$  is the effect of kth parity of lactation (k = 1, ...11)

e_{iikl} is the random error specific to particular observation.

#### (2) Selective value and its components

The least squares analysis of variance was conducted to study the effect of period of first calving, age at first calving, and milk production of first lactation on productive herd life, longevity, selective value and its components and CGR by using the following mathematical model:

$$Y_{ijkl} = \mu + p_i + A_j + M_k + e_{ijkl}$$

Where,

 $\mu$  is the overall mean

 $P_i$  is the effect of ith period of calving(i = 1,2, .....5) $A_j$  is the effect of jth AFC group(j = 1,2, .....5)

 $M_k$  is the effect of Kth FLMY group (k = 1,2, .....7)

eijkl is the random error specific to particular observation.

#### 3.7.2. Estimation of genetic parameters

#### 1. Heritability

The heritability estimates of life time calf production traits viz., total calves born, total alive calves born, total female calves born and total female calves reaching milking herd from each cow, longevity, herd life, replacement rate and its components viz., abnormal births, sex ratio, mortality and culling of female calves from birth to AFC and replacement rate to AFC were worked out by the paternal half sib correlation method.

The following model was used:

$$Y_{ij} = \mu + S_i + e_{ij}$$

Where,

Yij = observation (total number of life time) calf production trait of jth daughter from ith sire or the observation (Component traits of replacement rate) on jth calf from ith sire.

 $\mu$ = is the over all mean

 $S_i = -is$  the effect of ith sire.

e_{ij} = is the random error

The expected mean squares (EMS) for between sire component of variance  $(\sigma^2_s)$  and within sire component of variance  $(\sigma^2_w)$  were obtained as under

Source of variation		D.F.	S.S.	M.S.	E.M.S.
Between Sire		S-1	SSs	MSs	$\sigma^2_W + k\sigma^2_s$
Within Sire		N-S	SSw	MSw	$\sigma^2 w$
	σ²s	= <u>MS</u>	S _s –MS _w K		

where,

K = Av. No. of progenies per sire

$$= \frac{N - \sum n_i^2 / N}{S - 1}$$

S = No. of sire

N = Total number of observations

n_I = number of observation for ith sire

The heritability (h²) was estimated as :

$$h^2 = 4t$$

Where, t = 
$$\frac{\sigma_s^2}{\sigma_s^2 + \sigma_s^2}$$

The standard error of heritability was estimated by using the formula suggested by Swiger *et al.* (1964)

S.E.(h²) = 
$$4\sqrt{\frac{2(N-1)(1-t)^{2}[1+(K-1)t]}{K^{2}(N-S)(S-1)}}$$

#### (2) Repeatability

The abnormal calving and the birth of male calves (sex ratio) are the repeatable characters. The repeatability of these two traits were worked out by two methods as:

#### (i) Regression of second record on the first

The cows were divided into two groups. The group one was of the cows which had abnormal births and the second group of those which had normal births in the first gestation. The incidence of abnormal calving among these two groups of cows was worked out based on second gestation. The difference in the incidence of abnormal calving in second gestation between two groups of cows was taken as the repeatability.

Likewise the cows were divided in two group for the incidence of male births and female births in the first gestation. The

percentage of male births in second gestation was estimated in the two groups of cows. The difference in sex ratio in the second gestation between the two groups of cows was taken as the repeatability of sex ratio. Thus, repeatability (t) was taken as.

t = difference in two groups of cows for the trait in second gestation.

#### (ii) Intraclass correlation method

The repeatability was estimated based on all lactation records from intra-cow variability using the following model.

$$Y_{ij} = u + C_i + e_{ij}$$

where,

Y_{ii} is the observation of jth lactation record of ith cow

C_i is the effect of ith cow

eij is the random error

The expected mean squares for the between cow component ( $\sigma^2_s$ ) and for the within cow component ( $\sigma^2_W$ ) were obtained as under:

Sources of Variation	D.F.	S.S.	M.S.	E.M.S
Between cows	C-1	SSb	MS _b /c-1	$\sigma^2_W$ +K $\sigma^2_b$
Within cows	N-C	SSw	MS _W /N-C	$\sigma^2_W$
MS	MS			<u></u>

$$(\sigma^2_B) = \frac{WS_b - WS_W}{K}$$

Where,

K is the aveage number of records per cow

Repeatability

$$(t) = \frac{\sigma_{\rm B}^2}{\sigma_{\rm B}^2 + \sigma_{\rm W}^2}$$

The sum of squares were estimated after Robertson and Lerner (1949) as :

Total sum of squares = 
$$\sum a_i - \frac{(\sum a_i)^2}{\sum n_i}$$
  
Between cow S.S =  $\sum \frac{a_i^2}{n_i} - \frac{(\sum a_i)^2}{\sum n_i}$   
Error S.S =  $\sum a_i - \sum \frac{a_i^2}{n_i}$ 

Where,

a_i No. of records of ith cow expressing the trait

n_i total records of ith cow

#### 3.7.3. Estimation of breeding value of sires

The sires used were ranked for abnormal calving, sex ratio, female calves culled, died and retained upt to AFC. The breeding value of sire for AFC and FLMY were also estimated based on the following two sire indices

 $I_1 = \overline{D}$ , this is simple daughters average method

$$I_2 = \frac{2 n_i h^2}{4 + (n_i - 1)h^2} (S_i) + \mu$$

Where,

- S_i is sire constant for ith sire
- n_i is the number of observations for ith sire
- h² is the heritability of the trait.

μ is the population mean

#### 3.7.4. Rank correlation

Rank correlation between two methods for both traits as well as among the rank of the sires for different traits viz., selective value and its components, AFC and FLMY were calculated by using the following formula:

Rank correlation (.r) = 
$$1 - \frac{6\Sigma d_i^2}{N(N^2 - 1)}$$

Where,

N = Total no. of sires

 $\Sigma d_i^2$  = Square of differences between two ranks for a sire and summed overall the sires.

The estimated value of rank correlation was tested for its significance by comparing with the table value at (N-2) degree of freedom.

## CHAPTER 4

# RESULTS & DISCUSSION

## **RESULTS AND DISCUSSION**

The results of this present investigation have been presented and discussed objective-wise. The important findings on zebu, crossbred and exotic breeds of cattle/buffaloes have been cited to compare the results of this investigation in case of non availability of information on the relevant aspect.

#### 4.1. GENETIC CONTRIBUTION TO FUTURE GENERATION

The whole life time contribution from adult females have been studied in terms of the longevity, the productive herd life expressing it as the number of years after first calving and total number of lactations or total calves produced in the herd, total number of female calves produced, total number of replacement daughters left in the herd by each cow and finally the genetic contribution to future generation in terms of coefficient of gene replication (CGR).

#### 4.1.1. Productive herd life and longevity

The average values of longevity and productive herd life in relation to periods of birth, FLMY group and AFC group have been given in Table 15, the analysis of variance to show the effect of these non-genetic factors in Table 16 and frequency distribution of cows according to their AFC, PHL and longevity have been given in Table 17.

The average life span (longevity) of Hariana cow in this herd was found to be  $9.12\pm0.19$  years out of which  $5.38\pm0.18$  years was the productive herd life during which she calved  $5.2\pm0.16$  times. The present estimate fall within the range reported by Singh *et al.* (1964) and Kohli and Suri (1957) for Hariana cattle, Matharu and Gill (1981), Singh *et al.*, (1988) for Sahiwal cattle and Basu *et al.* (1983) for Tharparkar.

The cows born in the first period had the longest life span of  $11.86\pm0.31$  years out of which  $7.06\pm0.34$  years was the productive herd life. It was found that in last period both longevity and PHL were the shortest  $(7.06\pm0.34 \text{ and } 3.25\pm0.33 \text{ years})$ . Longevity and PHL had decreasing trend in

later periods. Statistically the effect of period was found to be highly significant on both the traits (Table 16). Significant effect of period has also been reported by Basu *et al.* (1983) for Tharparkar cows, Hegde and Bhatnagar (1985), Reddy and Basu (1985), Singh and Tomar (1989) and Mukherjee (1993) for crossbred cows and Tanida *et al.* (1988) for beef cows.

Maximum longevity and PHL of 11.63±0.40 and 7.75±0.39 years was observed for the cows which had highest milk production in the first lactation. The longevity and PHL increased with increase in first lactation milk production. Longevity varied from 5.75±0.33 to 11.63±0.40 years, whereas PHL ranged from 2.42±0.32 to 7.75±0.39 years in different FLMY groups. The statistical analysis of the data (Table 15) indicated that FLMY had highly significant effect on both the traits. Lower milk production in the first lactation was the main cause to cull the cows from the herd, so higher milk production in the first lactation was associated with longevity and longer productive herd life. Dentine *et al.* (1987), Ducrorq *et al.* (1988) and Rogers *et al.* (1991) and Mukherjee (1993) observed similar effect and reported that higher milk production in the first lactation was associated with longer life span and PHL. However, Sahato and Gill (1990) reported that milk yield per day of first lactation length had no effect on PHL of crossbred cattle.

It was observed that the longevity increased as the age at first calving increased but for PHL there was a decreasing trend alongwith increase in age at first calving. Longevity was shortest ( $8.95\pm0.69$  years) whereas PHL was longest ( $6.21\pm0.68$ ) years for the cows which attained their age at first calving in early age (below 1100 days). The cows with maximum age at first calving beyond 1700 days had the shortest herd life of  $4.85\pm0.36$  years, whereas longevity was the highest  $9.67\pm0.36$ . Analysis of variance indicated that AFC had highly significant effect on both longevity and PHL. The highest PHL at lower age at first calving means that animal started production at early stage of life and highest AFC caused the PHL to be low and highest longevity, because animal took more time for production. Similar results have also been reported by Dentine *et al.* (1987), Durocq *et al.* (1988), Rogers *et al.* (1988) and Mukherjee (1993) mentioning that lower AFC was associated with longer

Effect	No. of	Longevity	Productiv	e herd life
<u> </u>	cows	(Years)	Years	Lactations
Overall	660	$9.12 \pm 0.19$	$5.38\pm0.18$	$5.2 \pm 0.16$
Periods of birt	h			
1970-75	119	$11.86 \pm 0.31$	$7.99\pm0.30$	$7.5 \pm 0.27$
1976-80	193	$9.31 \pm 0.26$	$5.49 \pm 0.25$	$5.4 \pm 0.23$
1981-85	239	8.25 ± 0.24	$4.46 \pm 0.24$	$4.3 \pm 0.22$
1986-89	109	$7.06 \pm 0.34$	$3.25 \pm 0.33$	$3.2 \pm 0.29$
FLMY groups				
< 550 kg	108	$5.75 \pm 0.33$	$2.42\pm0.32$	$2.1 \pm 0.28$
550-749	141	$7.61 \pm 0.29$	$3.78 \pm 0.28$	$3.2 \pm 0.25$
750-949	101	$7.84 \pm 0.33$	$4.01 \pm 0.32$	$3.9\pm0.28$
950-1149	110	$9.51 \pm 0.31$	$5.68 \pm 0.31$	$5.4 \pm 0.27$
1150-1349	79	$10.34 \pm 0.36$	$6.52 \pm 0.35$	$6.1 \pm 0.32$
1350-1549	58	$11.09 \pm 0.48$	$7.34 \pm 0.41$	$6.8\pm0.36$
> 1550	63	$11.63 \pm 0.40$	$7.75 \pm 0.39$	$6.7 \pm 0.35$
AFC groups				
< 1100 days	18	8.95 ± 0.69	$6.21 \pm 0.68$	$5.8 \pm 0.62$
1100-1299	121	8.01 ± 0.29	$4.92 \pm 0.29$	$4.5 \pm 0.26$
1300-1499	288	9.41 ± 0.19	5.56 ± 0.18	$5.4 \pm 0.16$
1500-1699	166	9.57 ± 0.23	$5.15 \pm 0.22$	$4.9 \pm 0.21$
> 1700	67	$9.67 \pm 0.36$	$4.85 \pm 0.36$	$4.6 \pm 0.32$

Table 15:Average longevity and productive herd life of Hariana<br/>breed

Table 16:	Analysis	of	variance
	productiv	e h	erd life

(m.s. values) for longevity and

Sources of variation	D.F.	Longevity	PHL (years)`	PHL (Lactation)
Period	3	432.569**	427.449**	333.634**
FLMY	6	344.079**	337.417**	210.769**
AFC	4	43.527**	22.072*	15.488*
Error	646	8.551	8.309	6.759

P < 0.05 P< 0.01 *

**

ALCOR I		r.r chry		1011161						Vacue	11 fr		STIDI		(crar)				
Turito										1 C41 5									
I Faits	0-1	1-2	2-3	7	4-5	5-6	6-7	7-8	8-9	9-10	10-11	11-12	12-13	13-14	14-15	15-16	16-17	17-18	18-19
C L			2.7	51.8	42.4	3.1								)					
AFC			(18)	(342)	(280)	(20)													
חות	20.3	15.1	11.4	6.8	5.6	4.6	5.7	4.5	5.6	6.8	4.3	4.6	2.2	1.6	0.1	0.1			
THI	(134	(100)	(75)	(45)	(37)	(31)	(38)	(30)	(37)	(45)	(29)	(31)	(15)	(11)	(1)	(1)			
T and and the			_	7.5	14.6	12.4	10.7	7.4	6.5	5.1	4.3	5.4	6.2	4.8	5.9	4.0	2.5	1.5	0.4
LOUGCVILY				(50)	(79)	(82)	(11)	(49)	(43)	(34)	(29)	(36)	(41)	(32)	(39)	(27)	(17)	(10)	(3)
Figures	within	parenthe	ses are	the nun	nber of	cows.													

ł

85

PHL. On the contrary, Camacho *et al.* (1988) and Sahota and Gill (1990) reported that AFC had no effect on PHL.

Table 17 showed that most of the females (about 94 %) reached their AFC between 3 to 5 years, only very few (2.7 %) females attained their AFC below 3 years and only 3.1 percent female had longer AFC between 5 to 6 years. From the frequency distribution of cows it was observed that on an average, 20.3 percent of the total females had one or less than one year of PHL and 15.1 percent cows had 1 to 2 years of productive herd life. The percentage of cows completing 3, 4 through 13 years of productive life were 11.4, 6.8, 5.6, 4.6, 5.7, 4.5, 5.6, 6.8, 4.3, 4.6 and 2.2 percent where as only about less than two percent of the total cows had productive life of more than 13 years. It was found that only a very few (0.4 %) females have attained the highest longevity (18-19 years) and about 50 percent of the total cows left the herd completing 7 years of longevity. The percentage of cows completing 3 through 16 years of longevity were 7.5, 14.6, 12.4, 16.7, 7.4, 6.5, 5.1, 4.3, 5.4, 6.2, 4.8, 5.9, 4.0 percent and only 4.5 percent of the total cows had longevity of more than 16 years.

#### 4.1.2. Number of calves produced during life time

The average number of total calves produced, total alive calves, total female calves born and total female calves survived upto the age of first calving (or reached milking herd) by each cow in relation to different non-genetic factors have been given in Table 18, the results regarding analysis of variance have been given in Table 19 and the frequency distribution of cows (%) according to their life time calf production have been presented in Table 20.

The average number of total calves produced by each Hariana cow during its life time in the herd was found to be 5.2±0.16. These estimates are more than reported by Kohli and Suri (1957), Katpatal (1977), Sharma and Singh (1974), Tomar *et al.* (1995), Basu *et al.* (1983), Rawal (1991), Rawal and Tomar (1994a) for Indian breeds, Fosgate (1965), Hargrove *et al.* (1969), Gill and Allaire (1976), Nieuwhof *et al.* (1989), Tanida *et al.* (1988) and Schons *et al.* (1985) for exotic breeds, Hegde and Bhatnagar (1985),

Singh and Tomar (1983) and Thakur *et al.* (1992) for crossbred cows. However the number of calves produced similar to the present results have been reported by Matharu and Gill (1981) and Roy and Tripathi (1990).

The total number of calves born by each cow of first period were more than those produced by cows in later periods and there was a declining trend in later periods. The variation in total calf production among periods was found to be highly significant. This corroborated with the findings of Mukherjee and Tomar (1996).

It was observed that lesser number of total calves were produced by those cows which had longer age at first calving whereas, the cows which had shorter age at first calving produced more total calves in the herd. The effect of AFC on the trait was significant. Mukherjee and Tomar (1996) also reported similar results.

There was an increasing trend for the total calves born with the increase in first lactation milk production, higher milk producing cows produced more number of calves compared to low milk producers. Total number of calves produced varied from 2.1±0.28 by low milk producers (550kg) to 6.8±0.36 calves by high milk producers (more than 1550 kg FLMY). The effects of FLMY was highly significant on the traits. The significant effect of FLMY on total calves born has also been reported by Mukherjee and Tomar (1996) for crossbred cattle.

Further it was evident that the highest number of total calves produced were 14 by only 0.3 percent of the total cows and about 50 percent cows left the herd after producing 3 or less calves in their life time. 21.2 percent of the cows left the herd after giving only one calf and 18.7 percent after producing two calves in their whole life time. The percentage of cows producing 3 through 9 calves were 9.6, 6.5, 5.9, 6.2, 7.8 and 6.0 respectively and 11.3 per cent cows produced 10 or more calves. The percentage of cows which left the herd after giving birth to 10 or more calves have been reported to be 0.7 for Hariana (Kohli and Suri (1957), 2.0 for Red Singh (Lathwal *et al.*, 1992), 4.0 for Sahiwal (Rawal and Tomar, 1994a) and 5.3 for Tharparkar breed (Rawal, 1991), whereas the percentage of cows which left the herd after producing

one calf were 8.8 for Hariana, 28.9 for Red Sindhi, 22.2 for Sahiwal and 22.4 for Tharparkar as reported by these workers.

#### 4.1.3. Number of alive calves born

It was observed that each cow produced on an average  $4.9 \pm 0.15$  alive calves. This value is more than reported by Kohli and Suri (1957), Kathpatal (1977), Sharma and Singh (1974), Tomar *et al.* (1995), Rawal (1991) and Rawal and Tomar (1994a) for Zebu breeds, Fosgate (1965), Hargrove *et al.* (1969), Gill and Allaire (1976), Tanida *et al.* (1988) and Schons *et al.* (1985) for exotic breeds, and Hegde and Bhatnagar (1985), Singh and Tomar (1989) and Thakur *et al.* (1992) for crossbred cows. Almost similar number of alive calves produced have been reported by Matharu and Gill (1981) and Roy and Tripathi (1990).

It was further observed that the total number of alive calves born by each cow of first period were more than those produced by cows in later periods and there was declining trend in later periods. Analysis of variance indicated highly significant effect of period on this trait. Mukherjee and Tomar (1996) also reported the similar findings.

From the results it is evident that lesser number of total alive calves were produced by those cows which had longer age at first calving whereas the cows which had shorter age at first calving produced more alive calves in the herd. It was also observed that there was an increasing trend for the total alive calves born with the increase in FLMY, high milk producer cows produced more alive calves than low milk producers. It was also observed that total alive calves production were affected significantly by FLMY and AFC of the cows. This is in agreement with the findings of Mukherjee and "Tomar (1996) for crossbred cattle.

The frequency distribution of cows according to the total number of alive calves produced in their life time indicated that 1.2 percent of the total cows left the herd without producing any alive calf. Rawal (1991), Lathwal *et al.* (1992) and Rawal and Tomar (1994a) reported that 0.6 to 1.4 percent total cows did not produce any alive calf.
Effect	No. of cows	No. of alive calves born	No. of female calves born	No. of female calves survived upto AFC (Selective value)	C.G.R.
Overall	660	$4.9 \pm 0.15$	$2.38 \pm 0.15$	$1.2 \pm 0.21$	$0.6 \pm 0.11$
Periods of bir	ths				
1970-75	119	$7.2 \pm 0.26$	$3.6 \pm 0.15$	$1.9 \pm 0.11$	$0.95 \pm 0.05$
1976-80	193	$5.1 \pm 0.22$	$2.4 \pm 0.13$	$1.3 \pm 0.10$	$0.65 \pm 0.05$
1981-85	239	$4.0 \pm 0.21$	$1.8 \pm 0.12$	$0.7 \pm 0.36$	$0.35 \pm 0.18$
1986-89	109	$3.0 \pm 0.28$	$1.6 \pm 0.17$	$0.7 \pm 0.13$	$0.34 \pm 0.06$
FLMY group:	6				
< 550 kg	108	$1.9 \pm 0.27$	$1.1 \pm 0.16$	$0.5 \pm 0.13$	$0.25 \pm 0.06$
550-749	141	$3.0 \pm 0.24$	$1.8 \pm 0.14$	$0.8 \pm 0.11$	$0.40 \pm 0.05$
750-949	101	$3.5 \pm 0.28$	$1.8 \pm 0.16$	$0.7 \pm 0.12$	$0.35 \pm 0.06$
950-1149	110	<b>5.1</b> ± 0.26	$2.6 \pm 0.16$	$1.0 \pm 0.12$	$0.50 \pm 0.06$
1150-1349	79	$5.7 \pm 0.31$	$2.8 \pm 0.18$	$1.5 \pm 0.14$	$0.75 \pm 0.07$
1350-1549	58	$6.5 \pm 0.35$	$3.2 \pm 0.21$	$2.2 \pm 0.16$	$1.10 \pm 0.08$
> 1550	63	$6.3 \pm 0.35$	$2.9 \pm 0.20$	$1.8 \pm 0.15$	$0.90 \pm 0.07$
AFC groups			• *		
< 1100 days	18	$5.4 \pm 0.59$	$2.6 \pm 0.36$	$1.3 \pm 0.27$	$0.65 \pm 0.13$
1100-1299	121	$4.3 \pm 0.25$	$2.3 \pm 0.15$	$1.1 \pm 0.11$	$0.55 \pm 0.05$
1300-1499	288	$5.2 \pm 0.15$	$2.5 \pm 0.35$	$1.4 \pm 0.42$	$0.70 \pm 0.20$
1500-1699	166	$4.7 \pm 0.19$	$2.3 \pm 0.11$	$1.2 \pm 0.39$	$0.60 \pm 0.19$
> 1700	67	$4.4 \pm 0.31$	$2.1 \pm 0.19$	$1.0 \pm 0.15$	$0.50 \pm 0.07$
	ł				

Table 18: Average values of life-time calf production traits in relation to non-genetic factors

•

Table 19:	Analysis	of	variance	to	test	the	effect	of	non-geneti	C
	factors of	n lif	e time calf	pr	oduct	tion	traits (	m.s	. values)	

Source of variation	D.F.	Alive calves born	Female calves born	Selective value	C.G.R.
Period	3	328.807**	82.783**	41.121**	10.561**
FLMY	6	207.548**	41.387**	26.888**	6.332**
AFC	4	16.351*	3.489	2.556	0.612
Error	646	6.213	2.276	1.289	0.321

k

*

P < 0.05 P< 0.01 **

roduction traits		10 11 12 13 14	4.1 4.0 2.2 0.7 0.3	(27) (26) (15) (5) (2)	4.9 3.6 1.0 0.9 1.2	(32) (24) (7) (6) (8)							
ime ca	it	8	7.8	52) (	5.6	44) (	0.7	(2)					
heir life ti	e of the tra	7	6.2	(41) (;	5.3 (	(35) (	0.9	) (9)	0.15	(1)			
ng to ti	Valu	6	5.9	(39)	6.3	(42)	3.4	(22)	0.15	(1)			
accordi		S.	6.7	(45)	6.5	(43)	6.8	(45)	1.9	(13)			
s (%) s		4	6.5	(43)	5.8	(38)	11.9	(78)	5.5	(36)	×		
of cow		e	9.6	(64)	10.5	(69)	14.3	(94)	8.7	(57)	0.3	(2)	ws.
ution		7	18.7	(124)	18.5	(122)	17.4	(115)	12.9	(85)	1.8	(12)	er of co
distrib			21.2	(138)	21.9	(144)	25.3	(167)	21.4	(141)	15.0	(66)	ate numb
quency		0	1	I	1.2	(8)	19.3	(127)	49.3	(326)	83.8	(547)	ses indic
Table 20: Fre	Life time calf	production	1. Total calves born		2. Normal calves	born	3. No. of female	calves born	4. Female reached	milking herd	5. Abnormal	calvings	Figures in parenthe

k

#### 4.1.4 Number of female calves born

It was observed that, on an average, each cow during its life time in the herd produced 2.38±0.15 female calves. This estimate is higher than reported by Tomar *et al.* (1995) for Red Sindhi, Rawal (1991) for Tharparkar, Rawal and Tomar (1994a) for Sahiwal, Mukherjee and Tomar (1996) for crossbred, Schons *et al.* (1985) for exotic cattle, Tomar and Basu (1981), Tomar and Ram (1992) for Murrah buffalo herd. The similar number of female calves produced by a crossbred cow were reported by Thakur *et al.* (1992).

There was a decreasing trend for the number of female calves produced in later periods. The cows in the first period produced more number of female calves (3.6±0.15). Mukherjee and Tomar (1996) also observed significant effect of period on the trait.

There was a positive association between FLMY and the total number of female calves produced. The cows which had milk production above 1350 kg during first lactation harvested the maximum female calves and the cows which had less than 550 kg FLMY produced less number of female calves  $(1.1\pm1.6)$  in the herd. Statistical analysis of the data (Table19) had shown highly significant effect of FLMY on total number of female calves produced by each cow in the herd. Similar to the present results were reported by Mukherjee and Tomar (1996).

Statistically the AFC did not affect significantly the total number of female calves produced but the cows which had their AFC below 1100 days produced more number of female calves ( $2.6\pm0.36$ ) as compared to those which had AFC more than 1700 days ( $2.1\pm0.19$ ). This is in contrary to those reported by Mukherjee and Tomar (1996) who found significant effect (P>0.05) of AFC on total number of female calves produced by each cow.

From the frequency distribution of cows according to the total number of female calves produced, it was observed that 19.3 per cent of the total cows in the herd could not produce any female calf, 25.3 per cent cows left the herd after producing only one female calf. The percentage of cows

produced 2 through 5 female calves were 17.4, 14.3, 11.9 and 6.8 per cent. Only 5 per cent of total cows produced more than 5 females calves while a maximum number of 9 female calves were produced by only one cow.

The percentage of cows which could not produce any female calf have been reported as 23.6 for Red Sindhi cows (Lathwal *et al.* 1992), 19.1 for Sahiwal (Rawal and Tomar, 1994) and 22.1 for Tharparkar cows (Rawal, 1991) in the herd. They also reported that about one third of the total cows produced only one female calf and about one fifth produced only two female calves with the maximum number of female calves produced as 8, 7 and 10 respectively by only few cow (<0.5%).

(1) A strain of the second se Second seco

#### 4.1.5. Number of female calve reached milking herd (selective value)

The average number of female calves reaching to the milking herd from each cow was found to be  $1.2\pm0.21$ . Almost similar results have been reported by Schons *et al.* (1985) for Angus breed, Rawal (1991) for Tharparkar cattle, Rawal and Tomar (1994a) for Sahiwal, whereas Thakur *et al.* (1992) for crossbred cattle reported more number of female reaching to the milking herd. Les than one heifer replacement per cow was left as reported by Tomar *et al.* (1995) for Red Sindhi cows and Mukherjee and Tomar (1996) for Karan Swiss cows.

The cows in the first period of study left on an average  $1.9\pm0.11$  replacement daughters and it was  $0.7\pm0.13$  in the last period of the study. The number of replacement daughters decreased in subsequent periods. Statistical analysis of the data had shown that the effect of period on the total female reached to the milking herd by each cow was highly significant. This is in agreement with the findings of Mukherjee and Tomar (1996).

There was a positive association among FLMY and number of heifer replacements. The lower milk producer (<550kg) left lesser number of replacement daughter (0.5±0.13) as compared to the higher milk producers (>1350kg) which left about 2 replacement daughters. Results indicated highly significant effect of FLMY on this trait. The findings of Mukherjee and Tomar (1996) supported the present results.

Effect of AFC was not significant on the female survived upto age at first calving (Table 19). Similar result were also observed by Mukherjee and Tomar (1996) for crossbred.

Further it was observed that about fifty percent (49.3%) of the total cows left the herd without giving any replacement heifer whereas 21.4 percent of the total cows left only one, 12.9 and 8.7 percent left two and three replacements and rest 7.5 percent of the total cows left four or more replacement daughters with maximum of 7 replacement daughters left by only one cow (0.1%). The percentage of cows which id not leave any replacement daughters, was 42.4 for Red Sindhi (Tomar *et al.* 1995), 33.9 for Sahiwal (Rawal and Tomar, 1994a), 39.6 percent for Tharparkar cows (Rawal 1991) and 54.8 percent for Karan Swiss (Mukherjee and Tomar (1996). Ram (1988) reported that about one half of total Murrah buffaloes (51.4%) could not replace themselves, 31.4 per cent left only one replacement daughter. They also reported that the maximum number of 6 to 8 replacement daughters were left by only 0.1 percent of the total cows.

#### 4.1.6 Coefficient of gene replication (CGR)

Coefficient of gene replication for this herd was found to be on an average 0.6±0.11 and it indicated that this value is more than the one time gene replication (0.5). The CGR value higher than one have been reported by Rawal (1991) for Sahiwal (0.63±0.02) and Rawal *et al.* (1993) for Tharparkar cows (0.58±0.02) whereas, Schons *et al.* (1985) for Angus breed, Mukherjee (1993) for Karan Swiss, Tomar *et al.* (1995) for Red Sindhi and Tomar and Ram (1991) for Murrah buffalo observed CGR values lesser than one time gene replication (0.5).

The highest CGR value  $(0.95\pm0.05)$  was found only in first period and there was a decreasing trend in subsequent periods. It was less than one time gene replication (0.5) in the III ( $0.35\pm0.18$ ) and IV ( $0.34\pm0.06$ ) period of the study and it indicated that females were not replacing themselves in the herd in later periods. Statistical analysis of the data indicated that the period had highly significant effect on CGR. Present findings are in conformity to those of Mukherjee (1993).

The CGR of this herd had positive association with FLMY. The cows which produced about 1150 kg or more milk in the first lactation have the CGR value more than one time gene replication (0.5) and hence they had their full genetic contribution to future generation. Statistically the effect of FLMY was highly significant on the CGR whereas the AFC did not affect this trait. Mukherjee (1993) observed that FLMY and AFC had highly significant effect on the CGR.

16

#### 4.2. REPLACEMENT RATE AND ITS COMPONENTS

The average values of replacement rate and its different components in relation to non genetic factors have been presented in Tables

#### 4.2.1 Number of services per conception (S/C)

The average number of services required per conception, average incidence of repeat breeders and problem cows in relation to different non-genetic factors have been given in Table 21 and 23 and the result regarding analysis of variance to show the effect of non genetic factors on S/C, conception rate at first service, repeat breeders and problem cows have been given in Table 22.

The results indicated that a cow in this herd, on an average required 1.86±0.18 service to conceive. This value is almost similar reported by Kohli *et al.* (1961), Singh *et al.* (1964), Tomar and Arora (1971b) for Hariana breed, and Basu *et al.* (1979) for Red Sindhi, whereas higher value have been reported by Singh *et al.* (1968), Singh and Singh (1970), Tomar and Arora (1971a), Grewal *et al.* (1974) Kumar and Bhat (1979) for Hariana breed, Sharma and Bhatnagar (1975), for Tharparkar Red Sindhi and Sahiwal, Singh *et al.* (1990) for Sahiwal and Arun (1997) for crossbred.

The average service per conception varied from 1.65±0.01 to 2.05±0.24 in different lactations and it was less at heifer stage than in older cows. Statistical analysis of the data showed that the differences in S/C among different lactation were significant. This supported the findings of Singh *et al.* (1964), Singh and Parsad (1969) and Tomar and Arora (1971b) where as non-significant of effect of lactation on S/C was reported by Singh (1961), Singh and Singh (1970), Kumar and Bhat (1979),

				Incide	nce of	
Effects	No.	S/C±S.E.	Repeat I %	Breeders No.	Proble %	m Cows No.
Overall (µ)	3672	1.86±0.18	10.8	(397)	0.8	(30)
Lactations						
1	738	1.65±0.02	7.8	(58)	0.9	(7)
2	594	1.85±0.04	11.6	(69)	0.3	(2)
3	472	1.97±0.05	12.0	(57)	1.6	(8)
. 4	405	1.86±0.05	11.3	(46)	0.7	(3)
5	360	1.82±0.05	10.5	(38)	0.5	(2)
6	309	1.87±0.06	10.3	(32)	0.6	(2)
7	261	1.87±0.06	11.5	(30)	0.3	(1)
8	209	$2.03 \pm 0.08$	12.9	(27)	0.9	(2)
9	144	1.97±0.09	11.8	(17)	0.6	(1)
10	90	$1.88 \pm 0.11$	11.1	(10)	1.1	(1)
11	56	1.82±0.09	10.7	(6)	0.0	(0)
12	34	2.05±0.24	20.5	(7)	2.9	(1)
Periods						
. 1970-75	52	2.02±0.25	11.5	(6)	7.6	(4)
1976-80	426	1.89±0.05	12.6	(54)	0.7	(3)
1981-85	919	1.84±0.03	11.3	(104)	0.7	(7)
1986-90	1087	1.78±0.03	9.6	(105)	0.9	(10)
1991-95	1072	1.84±0.04	10.7	(115)	0.4	(5)
1996-98	116	2.13±0.10	11.2	(13)	0.8	(1)
Scasons			•			
Winter	1788	1.75±0.02	9.6	(172)	0.5	(9)
Summer	931	1.85±0.03	10.3	(96)	0.7	(7)
Rainy	562	2.05±0.04	14.0	(79)	1.0	(6)
Autumn	391	1.97±0.08	12.8	(5.0)	2.0	(8)

# Table 21: Average number of services required per conception,repeat breeders and problem cows in relation to non-<br/>genetic factors

97

「「「「」」

۲

Source of variation	D.F.	Service per conception (S/C)	Conception rate at first service	Repeat Breeder	Problem Cows
Lactation	11	3.068*	0.9194**	0.1113	0.0067
Period	5	3.0169*	1.0684**	0.0645	0.0521**
Season	4	15.496**	2.9545**	0.3412**	0.0238**
Error	3651	1.5903	0.2415	0.0968	0.0081
* P < 0.05					

** P < 0.01

۶,

di k

Frequency distribution of cows (%) conceived at subsequent services in relation to non-genetic factors Table 23:

				_ا ^ر	ervice	(insem	ination)	per co	nception	u						Total
	1		~		3	4		S		9		L		×		COVYS
+	(7661)	24.7	(700)	10.1	(371)	5.8	(213)	3.8	(0†1)	0.4	(14)	0.2	(6)	0.5	(21)	3672
							, , ,									
33.9	(472)	21.6	(160)	6.5	(48)	3.8	(28)	3.1	(23)	1		ı		0.9	( <u>)</u>	738
52.8	(314)	25.7	(153)	9.7	(58)	7.2	(43)	3.7	(22)	0.4	(2)	0.6	(1)	0.6	) (I)	594
<del>1</del> 9.2	(232)	27.5	(130)	11.2	(53)	6.1	(29)	3.6	(17)	0.6	(E)	0.4	(2)	1.2	(9)	472
53.3	(216)	25.4	(103)	9.9	(40)	6.4	(26)	3.9	(16) (16)	0.2	Ξ	I	~	0.7	(3)	405
56.1	(202)	22.2	(80)	11.1	(40)	6.1	(22)	3.3	(12)	0.6	(5)	0.5	(2)	ı	、 / I	360
53.4	(165)	23.9	(14)	12.2	(38)	5.1	(16)	3.9	(12)	0.6	(2)	0.3	(E)	0.3	(1)	309
52.5	(137)	24.1	(63)	11.5	(30)	6.5	(17)	4.2	(11)	0.4	Ē	•	,	0.3	(1)	261
45.9	(96)	26.8	(56)	14.3	(30)	6.2	(13)	5.2	(11)	0.5	Ξ	0.4	(1)	0.4	(1)	209
45.8	(99)	31.9	(46)	9.7	(14)	6.2	(6)	3.5	(2)	1.4	5	0.6	Ê	ı	~	144
54.4	(49)	25.5	(23)	10.0	(6)	44	(4)	5.5	(5)	•	~	1.1	E)	•		90
55.3	(31)	23.2	(13)	10.7	(9)	5.3	(3)	5.3	(3)	ı		'	×	ı		56
47.0	(16)	17.6	(9)	14.7	(5)	8.8	(3)	8.8	(C)	1		'		0.9	(1)	34
	•						~								~	
61.5	(32)	19.2	(10)	7.7	(4)	ı		3.0	(2)	0	(0)	1.9	(1)	5.7	(3)	52
54.2	(231)	23.5	(100)	9.6	(41)	6.6	(28)	4.5	(19)	0.9	(+)	0	00	0.7	(C)	426
55.4	(509)	23.2	(213)	10.1	(63)	6.7	(62)	3.5	(32)	0.3	C (C)	0.4	) <del>(</del>	0.3	(C)	919
56.7	(610)	23.7	(258)	9.9	(108)	5.0	(55)	3.5	(38)	0.1	(2)	0.2	(3)	0.6		1087
52.9	(568)	26.5	(284)	9.8	(105)	5.8	(62)	4.1	( <del>4</del> 4)	0.3	(4)	0.1	E	0.3	(4)	1072
35.3	(41)	36.2	(42)	17.2	(20)	5.2	(9)	4.3	(2)	0.8	6	0	))	0.8	) E	116
							~				Ĵ					
58.6	(1048)	23.3	(418)	8.4	(150)	4.9	(89)	3.8	(89)	0.3	(9)	0.1	(2)	0.3	6	1788
53.0	(494)	25.8	(240)	10.8	(101)	5.5	(51)	3.9	(36)	0.2	(5)	0.2	(2)	0.5	(2)	931
44.7	(251)	28.1	(158)	13.1	(74)	8.5	(48)	3.7	(21)	0.7	(4)	0.5	C (C)	0.5	(3)	562
52.2	(204) =	23.3	(16)	11.8	(46)	6.4	(25)	3.8	(15)	0.5	(2)	0.5	(2)	0.1	(9)	391

Sharma and Bhatnagar (1975), Basu *et al.* (1979), Bhatnagar *et al.* (1979), Chaudhary *et al.* (1984) and Arun (1997).

The average S/C ranged from 1.78±0.03 to 2.13±0.10 among different years in this herd. Statistical analysis of the data indicated that variation in S/C among years were significant. This supported the findings of Basu and Ghai (1980), Singh *et al.* (1990) and Arun (1997), whereas non-significant effect were reported by Agarwal (1974), Grewal *et al.* (1974) and Singhal *et al.* (1981).

Services per conception ranged from 1.75±0.02 to 2.05±0.04 among different seasons. Statistical analysis of the data indicated that the variation in S/C among seasons was highly significant. Present results are in conformity those of Bhatnagar *et al.* (1979), Basu *et al.* (1979), Singh *et al.* (1964), Grewal *et al.* (1974), Panda (1972), Dutt *et al.* (1980), Raja and Rao (1983) and Chaudhary *et al.* (1984). On the contrary, Kohli *et al.* (1961), Pachlag *et al.* (1982), Tomar *et al.* (1972) and Arun (1997) reported that S/C did not differ significantly among seasons.

From the results it was observed that 54.4 percent of the total cows in this herd conceived with first service and rest of them required more than one service for conception (Table 23). Almost similar values of conception rate with first service were reported by Tomar and Arora (1971b) for Hariana cows (54.2%), Bhatnagar and Sharma (1985) for Karan Swiss cows (50.0%) and Arun (1997) for crossbred (54%). It was further observed that the conception rate with subsequent services decreased. It was found that 54.4, 24.7, 10.1 5.8, and 3.8 percent of the total cows in the herd were conceived with first through five services respectively and only 1.3 percent of the total cows required more than 5 services to conceive.

On an average, 10.8 percent of the total cows in this herd required more than 3 services (repeat breeders) for conception. Lower incidence of repeat breeding was observed in first calf heifers (7.8%) in comparison to subsequent parity. This supported the findings of Arun (1997) for crossbred cattle. The high incidence of repeat breeding among older cows may be due to the reason that older cows were exposed to the risk of retention of placenta

and metritis which leads to decrease in fertility rate (Roberts, 1971; Pandit *et al.*, 1989; Tomar and Tripath, 1986b).

The effect of year on the incidence of repeat breeding was also found to be highly significant. The incidence of repeat breeding ranged from 9.6 to 12.6% among different years and was similar to those reported by Tomar and Tripathi (1986b).

The frequency of cows required more than 6 services for conception (Problem cows) was found to be 0.8% in this herd.

#### 4.2.2. Abnormal births

The average incidence of abnormal births among total births according to period, season and parities are presented in Table 24 and the ANOVA to test the effect of non-genetic factors on the abnormal birth and sex ratio are given in Table 25.

It was observed that on an average the incidence of abnormal birth was found to be 4.5% among 3556 total births in this herd. Almost similar incidence of abnormal birth have been reported by Sharda and Lohia (1966) for Hariana cattle, Reddy and Sampath (1981), Tomar and Verma (1981), Lathwal et al. (1993) for Red Sindhi, Tomar and Verma (1988a) and Rawal and Tomar (1996c) for Tharparkar, Reddy and Sampath (1981) for Gir and Ongole. On the other hand, higher estimates were observed by Luktuke and Chaudhary (1965) and Halder and Sen (1970) for Hariana cow, Sharma and Jain (1983) for Red Sindhi, Amble and Jain (1967), Tomar et al. (1975) and Sharma and Jain (1983) for Sahiwal cows, Bhosrekar (1973), Sharma and Jain (1983) and Parbhu and Chatterjee (1970) for Tharparkar, whereas lower incidence were reported by Tomar and Singh (1973) for Hariana cows, Rawal and Tomar (1996a) and Parbhu and Chatterjee (1970) for Sahiwal cows and Shukla et al. (1980) for Gir.

The rate of abnormal births was lowest in the second period (2.5%) and highest in the last period (6.4%). The analysis of variance revealed non significant effect of period on abnormal births. This was in agreement with the reports of Tomar *et al.* (1975), Tomar and Verma (1981 and 1988a) in Sahiwal, Red Sindhi and Tharparkar cows respectively, Negi and Luktuke

(1982) for crossbred cattle and Singh and Jain (1997) for native and crossbred cattle. However, significant effect of period of calving has been reported by Lathwal *et al.* (1993) for Red Sindhi, Rawal and Tomar (1996a,c) for Sahiwal and Tharparkar cow, Arun *et al* (1995) and Mukherjee (1993) for crossbred cattle.

The incidence of abnormal births was less among calves born during summer and winter (3.7 and 4.2%) than those born during rainy and autumn season (5.1 and 7.3%). Non-significant effect of season of birth on the abnormal calving was observed. Similar results were reported by Prabhu and Chatterjee (1970) for Hariana, Red Sindhi, Sahiwal and Tharparkar, Sharda and Lohia (1966) for Hariana cow, Tomar *et al.* (1975) and Rawal and Tomar (1996a,c) for Sahiwal and Tharparkar cows, Tomar and Verma (1981) for Red Sindhi, Tomar and Verma (1988a,b) for Tharparkar and crossbred, Shukla *et al.* (1980), Reddy and Sampath (1981) and Singh and Jain (1997) for crossbred cattle. On the contrary, significant effect of season of calving was reported by Pandey and Desai (1973), Sharma and Jain for Red Sindhi, Sahiwal and Tharparkar, Lathwal *et al.* (1993b) for crossbred cattle.

The incidence of abnormal birth varied from 2.7 to 9.1 percent among the cows of different parity. Results revealed non-significant effect of parity on this trait. Present results are in conformity to those of Prabhu and Chatterjee (1970), Tomar *et al.* (1975), Shukla *et al.* (1980), Reddy and Sampath (1981), Tomar and Verma (1981), Sharma and Jain (1983), Tomar and Verma (1988a, b), Lathwal *et al.* (1993), Rawal and Toamr (1996a,c). However, significant effect of parity order was reported by Tomar *et al.* (1975), Sharda and Lohia (1966), Negi and Luktuke (1982), Chatterjee *et al.* (1985), Arun *et al.* (1993b), Mukherjee *et al.* (1993) and Singh and Jain (1997).

#### 4.2.3. Sex ratio (% male births)

Average sex ratio according to periods season and parity are presented in Table 24 and analysis of variance in Table 25.

Average sex ratio for this herd was observed to be 51.4 percent. Similar to the present results were observed by the Tomar and Arora (1970), Rao *et al.* (1970), Goswami *et al.* (1963) for Hariana, Rawal and Tomar (1995), Pandit *et al.* (1989) for Sahiwal, Tomar and Verma (1988a and 1981), Kulkarani (1980) and Rawal and Tomar (1996c) for Tharparkar, Tripathi *et al.* (1973) for Kankrej, Rao *et al.* (1969) for Ongole, whereas, higher values of sex ratio have been observed by Tomar *et al.* (1976) for Sahiwal, Kale *et al.* (1982) for Red Sindhi, Rao *et al.* (1970) for Hariana, Tomar and Verma (1988a), Arun *et al.* (1992) and Pandit *et al.* (1989) for crossbred cattle. 論

The sex ratio was highest among the calves born during last period (53.3%) and lowest in the first period (42%). However, the frequency of male births among different periods did not differ significantly. The period of calving was not a significant source of variation in sex ratio as reported by Rao *et al.* (1970), Tomar and Arora (1970), Tomar *et al.* (1976), Sethi and Rao (1981), Kale *et al.* (1982), Singh *et al.* (1983), Shukla and Parekh (1988), Tomar and Verma (1988a) and Rawal and Tomar (1995 and 1996c). On the contrary, significant effect of period on sex ratio had been reported by Lathwal *et al.* (1993) in Red Sindhi, Arun *et al.* (1992) for crossbred cows and Singh and Jain (1997) for native and crossbreds.

The season of birth had no effect on the sex ratio in this herd (Table 25). These results are in agreement to the reports of Tomar *et al.* (1976), Kale *et al.* (1982), Singh *et al.* (1983), Lathwal (1993) and Rawal and Tomar (1995 and 1996c) for calves born to Zebu breeds, Patel *et al.* (1988), Tomar and Verma (1988b), Arun *et al.* (1992) for crossbred cows and Singh and Jain (1997) for native and crossbreds. On the other hand, significant effect of season on the sex ratio was reported by Singh and Singh (1968), Tomar and Arora (1970), Kulkarni (1980), Sethi and Rao (1981) and Tomar and Verma (1988a) for zebu breeds.

The sex ratio varied from 48.6 to 58.6 percent among different parity of calving. However, parity of calving did not affect the sex ratio. This is in agreements of the findings of Tomar and Arora (1970), Tomar *et al.* (1976), Sethi and Rao (1981), Singh *et al.* (1983), Kale *et al.* (1982), Singh *et al.* (1991), Rawal and Tomar (1995 and 1996c), Arun *et al.* (1992), Lathwal *et al.* 

		Abnorn	al births		Norm	al births	
Effects	births	(	%	Sex 1 (Male )	ratio births)	Female births	Total
Overall	3556	4.5	(163)	51.4	(1745)	1648	3393
Periods							
1973-75	52	3.8	(2)	42.0	(21)	29	50
1976-80	426	2.5	(11)	49.9	(207)	208	415
1981-85	919	3.1	(28)	51.6	(460)	431	891
1986-90	1087	4.8	(53)	50.6	(523)	511	1034
1991-96	1072	6.4	(69)	53.3	(534)	469	1003
Season					•		
Winter	1734	4.2	(74)	51.1	(848)	812	1660
Summer	898	3.7	(34)	51.5	(445)	419	864
Rainy	539	5.1	(27)	52.3	(271)	241	512
Autumn	385	7.3	(28)	50.8	(181)	176	357
Parity							
1	737	4.1	(30)	48.6	(343)	364	707
2	593	4.2	(25)	51.8	(294)	274	568
3	471	4.9	(23)	49.4	(221)	227	448
4	402	4.5	(18)	51.8	(199)	185	384
5	348	4.3	(15)	51.9	(173)	160	333
6	293	5.2	(15)	52.2	(145)	133	278
7	240	5.8	(14)	54.8	(124)	10 <u>2</u> "	226
8	192	2.7	(5)	· 53.1	(99)	88	187
9	123	4.1	(5)	58.5	(69)	49	118
10	80	7.5	(6)	50.0	(37)	37	74
≥ 11	77	9.1	(7)	58.6	(41)	29	70

Table 24:Average incidence (%) of abnormal births and sex ratio<br/>in relation to non-genetic factors

Figures in parentheses are number of observations.

Table 25: Analysis of variance (m.s. value) to test the effect of non-geneticfactors on abnormal births and sex ratio

Source of variance	D.F.	Abnormal birth	Sex ratio
Period	4	0.1919	0.2378
Season	3	0.1208	0.0515
Parity	10	0.0383	0.2101
Error	4 .	0.435 (3538)	0.2493 (3375)
Figures in parentheses are	e the error degree	s of freedom.	

1

ħ

(1993), Mukherjee (1993) and Singh and Jain (1997). On the contrary, Singh and Singh (1968), Kulkarni (1980), Tomar and Verma (1988a,b) and Sangle and Kulkarni (1979) reported that sex ratio differed significantly among parities.

#### 4.2.4. Post calving losses of female calves from birth to AFC

The female calves born alive are lost from the herd either due to their death or culling for certain reasons before they joins the milking herd. The average mortality and culling rates among the total female calves born in different periods, season of birth and dam's parity, have been given in Table 26 and the analysis of variance in Table 27.

#### I. Mortality

The average mortality rate among the female calves from birth to age at first calving was observed to be 21.1 percent. Almost similar mortality rates have been reported by Lemka *et al.* (1973), Tomar and Verma (1988a) and Tomar and Rawal (1996) for female calves born to Zebu breeds, whereas higher mortility rates were reported by Amble and Jain (1967) and Singh and Jain (1997) for cattle and lower estimates were reported by Amble *et al.* (1958), Singh *et al.* (1987), Reddy and Nagarcenkar (1989a), Chaudhary *et al.* (1984), Lathwal *et al.* (1993) and Rawal and Tomar (1994a).

From the results it was observed that mortality among female calves varied significantly from 12.8 to 26.9 percent in different periods being maximum in last period and minimum in III and I periods. Significant effect of year on mortality has also been reported by Lemka *et al.* (1973), Tomar and Verma (1988a), Reddy and Nagarcenkar (1989a), Rawal and Tomar (1994b), Tomar and Rawal (1996) for zebu cattle, Chaudhary *et al.* (1984), Tomar and Verma (1988b) for crossbred cattle and Singh and Jain (1997) for native and crossbred cattle, whereas Lathwal *et al.* (1993) could not observe any effect of year on female calf mortality.

It was also observed that the mortality rates were higher among calves born during winter (22.7%) and summer season (21.9%) than among those born during autumn (18.2%) and rainy season (19.1%). However, the differences among season were statistically non-significant. No effect of season on mortality was also observed by Lemka *et al.* (1973), Reddy and Nagarcenkar (1989), Rawal and Tomar (1994b), Lathwal *et al.* (1993), Tomar and Rawal (1996) for zebu cattle, Tomar and Verma (1988b) and Mukherjee and Tomar (1996) for crossbred and Singh and Jain (1997) for native and crossbred. On the contrary, Chaudhary *et al.* (1984) and Tomar and Verma (1988a) reported that mortality rates differed significantly due to season of birth.

The mortality of female calves was little higher (24.3%) from first calvers (heifers) as compared to the female calves produced by older cow. Parity had no significant effect on the female calf mortality from birth to age at first calving (Table 27). This supported the findings of Tomar and Verma (1988a,b), Rawal and Tomar (1994b) and Tomar and Rawal (1996) for cattle. On the contrary, significant effect of parity was reported by Lathwal (1993) and Singh and Jain (1997).

Regarding the effect of birth weight on mortality (Table 28) it was observed that mortality was high in calves having birth weight equal or less than 17 kg (33.3%) and it was low for those which had birth weight more than 26kg (5.5%). However, effect of birth weight group did not affect mortality (Table 29). Lathwal (1991), Mukherjee (1993) and Singh and Jain (1997) also could not observe the effect of birth weight on mortality of female calves. On the other hand, significant effect was reported by Rawal (1991) for Sahiwal and Tharparkar breeds and Tomar (1984) and Ram (1988) for Murrah female calves.

#### Age specific mortality

Age specific mortality among female calve upto the age at first calving have been given in Table 30 and their ANOVA in Table 31.

The female calf mortality from birth to AFC at different ages viz. 0-1 month, 1-3 month, 3-6 month, 6-12 month and 12-AFC were observed to be 7.0, 0.8, 1.2, 5.8 and 9.9 percent. Results revealed that 33.5 percent of the total mortality occurred during first month of life and it decreased along with the age. Similar results have been reported by Singh and Singh (1973),

Tomar (1973), Patil and Gupta (1980), Rao and Nagarcenkar (1982)and Mukherjee (1993).

Period of birth was found to have highly significant effect on mortality in two age groups viz. 1-3 months and 12 m-AFC. Variation in mortality in different years have also been reported by Sharma and Jain (1976), Chaudhary *et al.* (1984) and Reddy and Nagarcenkar (1989a).

Season of birth had no effect on female calf mortality at any age which is similar to those reported by Shrivastava and Agarwal (1973), Sharma and Jain (1976), Rao and Nagarcenkar (1982) and Parekh and Singh (1981). On the contrary, Tomar (1973), Jain and Sharma (1982), Chaudhary *et al.* (1984) and Reddy and Nagarcenkar (1989a) reported significant differences in mortality rate among season of birth.

The parity of dam had no effect on calf mortality at any age. Mukherjee (1993) also failed to observe any effect of dam's parity on calf mortality.

#### II. Culling

It was observed that on an average 30.6 percent of the total female calves born were culled before they reached the milking herd. This estimates is in close agreement with the reports of Lathwal *et al.* (1993) for Red Sindhi female calves. The culling rate lower than the present study have been reported by Amble and Jain (1967), Chaudhary *et al.* (1984), Singh *et al.* (1987), Tomar and Verma (1988a), Reddy and Nagarcenkar (1989a), Rawal and Tomar (1994b), Rawal and Tomar (1996) and Singh and Jain (1997), whereas Amble *et al.* (1958) reported higher culling rate (33.9%) than the present study.

The culling rates were very high during first two periods (51.7% and 35.1%) compared to later periods of the study. Analysis of variance indicated that period had significant (P<0.05) effect on culling rate. Tomar and Verma (1988a,b), Reddy and Nagarcenkar (1989a), Lathwal *et al.* (1993), Rawal and Tomar (1994b), Tomar and Rawal (1996), Mukherjee and Tomar (1997) and Singh and Jain (1997), while Kulkarni and Sethi (1990) could not find any effect of year on culling rates.

Table 26:	Average incid milking herd i	ence (%) of in relation t	female 0 non-ge	calf mort snetic fact	ality, culli tors	ing and number	of temale	reached to
	No of			Female ca	lves			
Effect	female	Died		Cul	led	Reached to milking herd	Replacem	ent rate
	carves born	%	N0.	%	No.	N0.	% (F)	% (T)
Overall	1648	21.1	347	30.6	504	797	48.4	22.5
Periods								
1973-75	29	13.7	4	51.7	15	10	34.5	19.3
1976-80	208	23.1	48	35.1	73	87	41.8	20.5
1981-85	431	12.8	55	27.2	117	259	60.1	28.2
1986-90	511	22.4	114	29.9	153	244	47.8	22.4
1991-96	469	26.9	126	31.2	146	197	42.1	18.4
Season								
Winter	812	22.7	177	34.4	279	356	43.9	20.6
Summer	419	21.9	92	27.7	116	211	50.4	23.5
Rainy	241	19.1	46	25.3	61	134	55.7	24.9
Autumn	176	18.2	32	27.3	48	96	54.6	25.1
Parity								
1	. 364	24.7	60	42.1	153	121	33.3	16.5
ы	274	19.4	53	38.1	104	117	42.8	19.4
ю	227	21.2	48	34.4	78	101	44.5	21.5
4	185	20.0	37	22.8	42	106	57.3	26.4
S	160	18.2	29	25.0	40	16	56.9	26.2
9	133	23.1	31	23.6	23	79	59.4	27.1
7	102	22.6	23	15.7	16	63	61.8	26.3
8	88	20.5	18	20.5	18	52	59.1	27.1
6	49	10.2	S	34.7	17	27	55.1	22.1
10	37	19.1	7	21.6	8	22	59.5	27.5
211	29	20.7	9	17.2	5	18	62.1	23.4
F = Reptime F	lacement rate on f	emale calf bas	is.					
T = Ref	placement rate on to	otal calf basis.						

Table: 27	Analysis of	variance	to test	the eff	fect of	non-ge	enetic
	factors on	mortality,	culling	and	replac	ement	rate
	(m.s. value)						

Source of	DE	N/Loutoliter	Culling	Replace	ment rate
variation	D.F.	wortanty	Cuning -	F	Т
Period	4	1.2166**	0.5660*	2.3232**	1.2568**
Season	3	0.1058	0.7909**	1.2539**	0.4292**
Parity	10	0.1416	1.4644**	1.7864**	0.5829**
Error	1630	0.1643	0.2021	0.2342	0.1724 (3538)

Figures in parentheses are the error degree of freedom

**	-	P< 0.01
*	-	P < 0.05
F	-	Replacement rate on female calf basis
Т	-	Replacement rate on total calf basis

k

D:41	Total			Femal	e calves		
weight	female born	Mor	tality	Cu	lled	Reached Replace	milking/ nent rate
(Kg)	(No.) [–]	No.	%	No.	%	No.	%
Total	1334	251	18.81	383	28.72	700	52.48
<17.0	21	7	33.3	4	19.0	10	47.6
18-19	95	17	17.8	42	44.2	36	37.9
20-21	774	152	19.6	238	30.7	384	49.6
22-23	333	62	18.6	84	25.2	187	56.1
24-25	75	11	14.6	12	16.0	52	69.3
>26.0	36	2	5.5	3	8.3	31	86.1

### Table 28:Average incidence of mortality, culling and replacement<br/>rate in different birth weight groups

Table 29: Analysis of variance for birth weight effect on mortality,<br/>culling and replacement rate (m.s. value)

Source of variance	D.F.	Mortality	Culling	Replacement rate
Birth weight	5	0.2532	1.1822**	1.8718**
Error	1328	0.1534	0.2024	0.2434
**	P< 0.01		· · ·	

		•
	erind	
	- 2	7
94 91 1	nt	
-	re	) (
	ۍ بر	)
	lif	
;	_	
	. <b>.</b>	
the set	S	
	- pt 0	)
i.	3	
	nt	
	re	
	fe	
	lif	
	· 🔾	
	at	
	S	
	ve Ve	
	a	
	0	
	Ile	
	n	
	E	
	in	
	ŝ	
	rate	
	ວມ	
	lin.	
	n	
	U.	
	Jd	•
	aı	
	5	
	ali	
	Ë.	N
	no	÷
	Π	a
	EC.	
	5	ц
	be	a
	5	0
	9	as
	Å	se
	30:	
	6	•
	q	
	Ta	

												Age	e Group	s											
Effects			0-1 mon	th				l-3 months			.	ц. М.	6 months				6-12	months		}		2 Mar	1	C	
	No. exp.	I	Died	Ū	ulled	% Å	4	Died	Cull	led	No. exp.	Die	pa	Cull	ed	No. exp.	Died	_	Culle		- 	Died		Culle	q
Overall	1648	7.0	(116)	2.5	(42)	1490	0.8	(12)	2.0	(30)	1448	1.2	(8)	2.7	(0†)	1390	5.8	(81)	6.9	<u>ا</u> ا	213	6	120)	24.4	290
Periods	_																			<u></u>		*	•		ļ
I	59	13.3	(3)	٠	•	26	f		3.8	Ξ	25	4.0	Ξ	•		24	•				51	1.4 (	(6	33.3	E
2	208	5.7	(12)	•	•	196	3.1	(9)	3.1	(و	184	3.3	(0)	1.6	(3)	175	4.0	E	10.8 (	(61)	49	8.7 (	. (51	30.2	(45)
3	431	5.1	(33)	4.2	(8)	104	0.2	(1)	1.5	(9)	394	1.1	(†)	2.0	(8)	382	3.4	(13)	8.3	(32)	37	, <u> </u>	20)	21.4	
4	211	9.3	(48)	2.5	(13)	450	,	ı	2.0	(6)	4	0.6	(3)	3.2	(†1)	424	8.7	(37)	8.2 (	(33)	52		) 2	24.4	(80)
5	469	6.6	(18)	4.5	(21)	417	1.2	(2)	1.9	(8)	404	0.9	(4)	3.7	(15)	385	6.2	(24)	1.8	<u> </u>	54 12	, t	23	24.3	(86)
Season																							Ì		
1	812	8.4	(99)	2.8	(23)	723	1.4	(8)	2.4	(17)	869	1.2	(8)	3.1	(23)	668	6.9	(9 <del>1</del>	9.7 (	(65)	57 II	0.2 (	51	28.1	(157)
7	419	5.9	(25)	2.6	(11)	383	0.5	(7)	1.1	(4)	377	1.6	(9)	2.1	(8)	363	6.3	(23)	4.7 (		23	, ) 6.6	, ( <u></u>	22.6	3
ю	241	6.6	(91)	1.6	(4)	221	•	,	2.3	<u>ଚ</u>	216	1.4	(3)	3.7	(8)	205	2.9	୭	5.4 (		88 1(	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	50)	19.2	(36)
4	176	5.1	(6)	2.2	(4)	163	1.2	(3)	2.4	(4)	157	0.6	(1)	4.7	(2)	154	3.8	(0)	) 0.1	(2)	45	, ) ) 9.1	Ē	20.7	(30)
Parity																									
1	364	9.6	(35)	3.3	(12)	317	1.9	(9)	3.8	(12)	299	1.6	(2)	•	(14)	280	8.6 (	(54)	12.1 (	34)	22	୍	สิ	39.6	(88)
7	274	8.1	(23)	2.5	Ð	245 -	0.8	(3)	3.3	(8)	235	1.7	(4)	3.4	(8)	223	5.8	(13)	9.8	[22]	88	. ີ ເ	َ او	30.3	(57)
3	227	7.9	(18)	2.6	(0)	203	"	ı	1.9	(4)	199	1.0	5	3.0	(0)	191	5.7 (	(11)	8.4	16)	64 10	)3 (	Ē	26.8	<u></u>
4	185	6.4	(12)	2.1	(4)	169	0.6	(1)	1		168	1.2	(2)	1.8	(2)	163	7.9 (	(13)	4.3 (	ء -	- 54	.91	Ē	18.2	(26)
\$	160	5.0	(8)	1.3	(2)	150	IJ	(5)	•	,	148	2.0	(3)	1.4	3	143	2.8	( <del>4</del> )	6.9		29	ی د	ି ମି	20.2	(26)
9	133	3.7	(2)	1.5	(2)	126	•	ı	1.6	3	124	0.8	<del>(</del> )	1.6	3	121	4.9	(0)			15 15	و ر	(8)	17.4 (	(20)
7	102	5.9	(9	0.9	Ξ	22	•	•	2.1	3	33	•		2.2	(2)	16	6.6 (	<b>(</b> )	2.1 (	<u>م</u>	3 10	5) 8(	6	10.5 (	6
8	88	4.5	(4)	4.5	(4)	80	•	·	ı	,	80	1.2	Ξ	23		79	1.3 (	(E	1.3 (		5	с п	E	14.3 (	(II
6	64	8.1	(4)	•	,	45	•	•	2.2	Ξ	4	ı	,	•	Ξ	43	,		4.6	5)		ย ย	 	26.8 (	(11
10	37	5.4	(2)	÷. 5.4	(2)	33	3.0	Ξ	3.1	Ξ	31	•		3.2	Ξ	30	6.6 (	(2)	3.3 (		5	12 12	~	14.8	(4)
112	29	•.	•	6.9	6	21	•	•	•		52	•		3.7	Ξ	26	3.8	([)	3.8		4	, ,			

different non-genetic	different age-group
$\mathbf{0f}$	in
effect	calves
the	male
test	of fei
to	ate
f variance	mortality ra
6	no
Analysis	factors (
••	
3	
Table	

1

Source of variation	D.F.	0-1m	1-3m	3-6m	6-12m	12m-AFC
Period	4	0.1295	0.0373**	0.0186	0.1817	0.3564**
Season	б	0.0709	0.0089	0.0038	0.1047	0.0313
Parity	10	0.0729	0.0109	0.0053	0.0754	0.0082
Error		0.0652	0.0078	0.0123	0.542	0.0892
		(1630)	(1472)	(1430)	(1372)	(1195)
Times is seen the	14 000 00	-				

Figures in parentheses are the error degree of freedom.

** P < 0.01

Ł

It was further observed that the culling rates were higher among calves born during winter season (34.4%) than those born in other seasons. Statistical analysis of the data had shown that the effect of season of birth was highly significant. This is in agreement with the findings of Tomar and Verma (1988b), Reddy and Nagarcenkar (1989) and Tomar and Rawal (1996) whereas the reports of Tomar and Verma (1988a), Lathwal *et al.* (1993), Rawal and Tomar (1994b), Mukherjee and Tomar (1997) and Singh and Jain (1997) had shown that season of birth did not affect the culling rates.

The culling rates varied highly significantly from 15.7 to 42.1 percent among the calves born in different parities. There was a decreasing trend from first parity to seventh parity. The highest culling rate was observed in calves produced by cows of first and second parity. The same results of significant effect of dam's parity have been reported by Rawal and Tomar (1994b), Tomar and Rawal (1996), Mukherjee and Tomar (1997) and Singh and Jain (1977). Tomar and Verma (1988a,b), Lathwal *et al.* (1993) and Tomar and Ram (1993) reported that dam's parity had no effect on the culling rates of their female calves contrary to the present results.

The culling rate was high in calves weighing between 18-23 kg at birth and it was low for the calves weighing less than 18 kg and more than 23 kg. The culling rates for the calves with different birth weights varied between 8.3 to 44.2 percent. Statistically the differences in culling rate due to birth weight were highly significant. Similar results were reported by Mukherjee (1993), whereas Ram (1988), Lathwal (1989), Rawal (1991) and Singh and Jain (1997) reported non –significant effect of birth weight on culling rates.

#### 4.2.5. Replacement rates

The average number of female calves survived upto AFC i.e., replacement rate on female calf basis and on total calf born basis in relation to non genetic factors have been given in Table 26 and ANOVA in Table 27. Average replacement rate in different birth weight group and effect of birth weight on replacement rate have been given in Table 28 and Table 29.

#### (i) Female calf basis

It was observed that only 48.4 percent of the total female calves born reached to the milking herd and more than fifty percent (52.6%) were lost from the herd either due to death or culling. Lemka *et al.* (1973) reported nearly equal replacement rate in desi cattle to the present study and Amble *et al.* (1958), Chaudhary *et al.* (1984), Taneja and Bhatnagar (1983), Tomar and Verma (1988a), Rawal and Tomar (1994b), Lathwal *et al.* (1993) and Tomar and Rawal (1996) reported higher replacement rate than this herd. Whereas low replacement rate than this study was reported by Amble *et al.* (1958) for Red Sindhi and Singh and Jain (1997) for crossbred cattle.

It was observed that replacement rate on female calf basis was highly significantly different among different periods in this herd. It ranged from 34.5 to 60.1 percent percent on total female calf basis. Significant effect of year was reported by Tomar and Verma (1988a), Rawal (1991), Lathwal *et al.* (1993), Tomar and Rawal (1994) Mukherjee (1993) and Singh and Jain (1997), whereas, Tomar and Verma (1988b) reported non –significant effect of year of birth on replacement rate on female calves basis.

Statistically highly significant differences among seasons of birth for replacement rate on female calf basis were observed. It was highest in rainy and autumn season and lowest in winter season. Similar results were reported by Tomar and Verma (1988a), Rawal (1991), Lathwal *et al.* (1993), Tomar and Rawal (1994) and Singh and Jain (1997)

Replacement rate among the calves born to dams of different parity varied from 33.3 to 62.1 percent on female calf basis. Dam's parity had highly significant effect on replacement rate on female calf basis. Replacement rate was high among the calves produced by older cows beyond sixth parity. Similar results have been reported by Tomar and Rawal (1994) for Sahiwal herd and Lathwal *et al.* (1993) for Red Sindhi herd where as Mukherjee (1993) did not observed any significant effect of parity on this trait.

Percentage of female calves survived and retained in the herd upto the age at first calving increased from 37.9 to 86.1 with the increase in birth

weight beyond 18 kg. Birth weight had statistically highly significant effect on replacement rate(Table 29).

#### (ii) Total calf basis

On total calf basis, the overall replacement rate was 22.5 percent and the rest 77.5 percent calves born were lost from the herd in the form of abnormal birth, male births (sex ratio) and loss of female calves due to death and culling upto AFC. It is evident from the present study that 4 to 5 pregnancies are required to produce one heifer replacement. Present findings were also supported by the findings of Lathwal *et al.* (1993) in Red Sindhi and Tomar and Ram (1993) in Murrah buffaloes, and they also reported that 4 pregnancies are required to produce one heifer replacement.

It was observed that replacement rate varied from 18.4 to 28.2 percent among periods, it was highest in third period and lowest in last period. Period had highly significant effect on replacement rate. This corroborated with the findings of Tomar and Verma (1988a), Rawal (1991), Lathwal (1993), Tomar and Rawal (1994), Mukherjee (1993) and Singh and Jain (1997) whereas contrary to the present result Tomar and Verma (1988b).

Replacement rate was observed to be lowest in winter and highest in autumn season and varied from 20.6 to 25.1 among different season. This corroborated with the findings of Tomar and Verma (1988a) whereas Rawal (1991), Lathwal *et al.* (1993), Tomar and Rawal (1994) and Singh and Jain (1997).

Results also revealed that replacement rate varied from 16.5 to 27.5 percent among different parities and had increasing trend with increase in lactation upto sixth parity. Analysis of variance indicated that parity, of dam had highly significant (P<0.01) effect on replacement rate on total calf basis. Similar findings have been reported by Mukherjee (1993) whereas, results of Tomar and Verma (1988a,b), Rawal (1991) and Lathwal *et al.* (1993) for cattle and Tomar and Ram (1993) for Murrah buffaloes are contrary to the present results.

#### 4.2.6. Lactation specific demographic parameters

The results on certain lactation specific demographic parameters and overall lifetime statistics are given in Table 32 and 33 respectively.

#### 1. Survival rate (Px)

It is observed that 20.9 percent adult female were lost from the herd either due to death or culling in the first lactation and the survival rate was 79.1 percent at the end of first lactation. The loss rate was minimum in the fourth lactation (12.87%) and hence the probability of survival rate was maximum (0.871) at this lactation. Survival rate of female was more than 80 percent upto seventh lactation and thereafter a decreasing trend along increase in lactation was noted. The probability of survival rate for the female varied between 0.80 to 0.87 between 3 to 7th lactation. Probability of loss rate tend to increase after 4th lactation. Similar results were reported by Harris (1989) and Ahmed *et al.* (1992). The survival rate of about 0.89 have been reported by Greer *et al.* (1980) and Schons *et al.* (1985) upto 8 years of age and thereafter it decreased.

It was observed that for the lifetime the average probability of a female being lost from the herd was 0.21 per female per lactation. Tomar *et al.* (1994), Lathwal *et al.* (1995) and Tomar *et al.* (1996) reported the average probability of loss per lactation per cow as 2.68. 0.302 and 0.26 in Sahiwal, Red Sindhi and Tharparkar cattle. Chaughley (1966) reported mean rate of mortality for all age groups as 0.25 per female per annum for Himalayan Thar. Mukherjee (1993) reported that on an average 0.32 female animal being lost per female per year from the herd of crossbred cattle.

#### 2. Survivorship (Lx)

The survivorship is the probability of an animal to survive or remain in the herd upto a certain age/lactation which is the stayability of a cow in the herd. Present results revealed that the probability of an animal to survive in the herd decreased with the increase in lactation number. It was 1.0 at first lactation, 0.506 at fourth lactation, 0.113 at tenth lactation and 0.01 at 13 lactation. Thus only 50.6, 11.3 and 1.0 percent of the female at first lactation survived or retained in the herd at 4, 10 and 13 lactation. Tomar *et al.* (1994),

						Herd structu	ire of cows at			
Lart	Total	L ace T	rata	Surgrival	Survivorship	each la	ctation	Expected	Birth	Reporductive
No.	T DUAS	C)	, )	rate (P.)	or stayability	Died &	Present in	herd life	rate	value
		ý -	A		$(\mathbf{L}_{\mathbf{x}})$	culled (a _x )	the herd (p _x )	$(\mathbf{E}_{\mathbf{x}})$	(M _x )	(V _x )
	660	0.2091	(138)	0.7909	1.00	0.2091	0.2132	3.52	0.514	2.277
7	522	0.2375	(124)	0.7625	0.7909	0.1878	0.1686	3.66	0.486	2.229
ε	398	0.1608	(64)	0.8392	0.6030	0.0969	0.1285	3.88	0.506	2.292
4	334	0.1287	(43)	0.8713	0.5060	0.0651	0.1078	3.54	0.482	2.172
5	291	0.1512	(44)	0.8488	0.4409	0.0666	0.0941	3.06	0.481	1.889
6	247	0.1578	(39)	0.8422	0.3742	0.0591	0.0797	2.61	0.478	1.659
٢	208	0.1971	(41)	0.8029	0.3151	0.0621	0.0671	2.09	0.452	1.403
8	167	0.3113	(52)	0.6887	0.2530	0.0787	0.0539	1.61	0.469	1.184
6	115	0.3478	(40)	0.6522	0.1742	0.0605	0.0371	1.33	0.415	1.039
10	75	0.3600	(27)	0.6400	0.1136	0.0408	0.0242	1.05	0.500	0.957
11	48	0.5416	(26)	0.4584	0.0727	0.0393	0.0155	0.64	0.432	0.714
12	22	0.6818	(15)	0.3182	0.0333	0.0227	0.0071	0.41	0.333	0.617
13	٢	0.7142	(5)	0.2858	0.0106	0.0075	0.0022	0.28	0.750	0.891
14	7	1.00	(2)	00.00	0.0030	0.003	0.0006	0.00	0.500	0.501

 Table 32:
 Lactation specific demographic parameters and expected herd life

Ŀ



Relationship between lactation and total loss.



Relationship between lactation and survival rate.

Fig. 2.

э



Relationship between lactation and survivorship.

Fig. 3.

Sr.No.	Life Table	Unit	Average value
1.	Mean age of cows		
	i. Present in the herd	Lactation	4.49
	ii. Lost from the herd	Lactation	4.68
2.	Mean rate of loss / cow / lactation	Proportion	0.21
3.	Life expectancy of first lactation	Lactation	4.19
4.	Reproductive rate	Female calves per cow	2.27
5.	Generation interval	Years	3.99

 $\mathbf{k}$ 

### Table 33: Overall life table statistics

£

Lathwal *et al.* (1995) and Tomar *et al.* (1996) also reported the decreasing trend along lactation. Greer *et al.* (1980) and Schons *et al.* (1985) reported that about 10 percent of the females survived to age 10 years whereas Ahmed *et al.* (1992) observed that the probability of a buffalo cow entering and remaining in the herd upto the age of 10 years as 0.29. Mukherjee (1993) observed that only 1.0 percent of the total female calves born survived upto 13 years of age in the herd.

The mean age of cows being lost from the herd was 4.68 lactations whereas for the cows being present in the herd was 4.49 lactations. Only 2 cows out of 660 cows survived upto 14 lactation. Greer *et al.* (1980) reported the mean age of cows being lost and present in the herd as 5.7 and 4.8 years, respectively. Tomar *et al.* (1994, 96) and Lathwal *et al.* (1995) reported the average number of lactations completed by the cows which left the herd were low (2.9 to 3.7) as well as for those which were present in the herd were also low (3.0 to 3.5) in comparison to the present results. Mukherjee (1993) also reported low mean age of cows being lost and present in the herd (2.35 and 3.56 years).

#### 3. Structure of females lost from the herd at each lactation

Proportion of female calves being lost from the herd due to their death and culling was found to be 0.209 in this herd upto first lactation. This is the equilibrium replacement rate required to maintain the herd size. The probability of female being lost from the herd was found to be 0.187 in second lactation and 0.096 in third lactation. Results indicated that, about half of the total females of first lactation left the herd till they completed third lactation. It indicated that most of the total loss occurred upto third lactation. After third lactation the probability of a female being lost from the herd was more or less similar upto 9th lactation. Greer et al. (1980) reported that 19.3 percent losses occurred upto 2 years of age, about 10 percent upto 3 years of age in each Mukherjee (1993) reported that 22.3 percent losses occurred during vear. first year of age, 6.1 percent in the second year of age and 18.0 percent each year during 4 and 5 years of age. Ahmed et al. (1992) reported that the proportion of Nili-Ravi buffaloes being culled increased from 0.049 at 3 years of age to 0.127 at 5 years which remained constant upto 8 years of age.

Tomar *et al.* (1994, 1996) reported that of the total cows lost in different lactation a proportion of 0.22 was lost during or after first lactation, 0.21 in second and 0.15 in third lactation whereas Lathwal *et al.* (1995) reported the proportion of cows being lost in first, second and third lactation as 0.29, 0.22 and 0.12 respectively, for Red Sindhi cattle.

## 4. Structure of females of different lactations being present in the herd

The herd structure means the proportion of females of different lactations present in the herd. It was observed that about one fourth of the total (21.3%) herd comprised the first calvers and 16.8 percent females belonged to the second lactation. It was observed that about 70 percent of the total females present in the herd belonged to one to fourth lactation and about 5 percent female in the herd belonged to 10 or more lactations. Greer *et al.* (1980), Nieuwhof *et al.* (1989), Gadzhier *et al.* (1991) and Mukherjee (1993) reported that the herds were mostly constituted of younger animals upto 5-6 years of age. Ahmed *et al.* (1992) also reported that 56 percent of the total buffaloes present in the herd belonged to the age group between 4-7 years of age. Tomar *et al.* (1994, 96) and Lathwal *et al.* (1995) reported that about 60% of the total cows present in the herd belonged to first three lactations.

#### 5. Expected herd life

The expected herd life (expected to remain in the herd) at first lactation was 3.52 lactations and nearly same upto fourth lactation, thereafter expected herd life decreased alongwith the increase in lactation (Figure 4). Lower expected herd life than the present study were reported by Tomar *et al.* (1994, 96) and Lathwal *et al.* (1995) with a declining trend along the lactation. The expected herd life with a declining trend were also reported by Krehbiel *et al.* (1962), Greer *et al.* (1980) and Mukherjee (1993). Contrary to the present findings Schons *et al.* (1985) reported higher expected herd life with a seclining trend along increase in age of the females Tomar *et al.* (1994, 1996) reported that of the total cows lost in different lactation a proportion of 0.22 was lost during or after first lactation, 0.21 in second and 0.15 in third lactation whereas Lathwal *et al.* (1995) reported the proportion of cows being lost in first, second and third lactation as 0.29, 0.22 and 0.12 respectively, for Red Sindhi cattle.

## 4. Structure of females of different lactations being present in the herd

The herd structure means the proportion of females of different lactations present in the herd. It was observed that about one fourth of the total (21.3%) herd comprised the first calvers and 16.8 percent females belonged to the second lactation. It was observed that about 70 percent of the total females present in the herd belonged to one to fourth lactation and about 5 percent female in the herd belonged to 10 or more lactations. Greer *et al.* (1980), Nieuwhof *et al.* (1989), Gadzhier *et al.* (1991) and Mukherjee (1993) reported that the herds were mostly constituted of younger animals upto 5-6 years of age. Ahmed *et al.* (1992) also reported that 56 percent of the total buffaloes present in the herd belonged to the age group between 4-7 years of age. Tomar *et al.* (1994, 96) and Lathwal *et al.* (1995) reported that about 60% of the total cows present in the herd belonged to first three lactations.

#### 5. Expected herd life

The expected herd life (expected to remain in the herd) at first lactation was 3.52 lactations and nearly same upto fourth lactation, thereafter expected herd life decreased alongwith the increase in lactation (Figure 4). Lower expected herd life than the present study were reported by Tomar *et al.* (1994, 96) and Lathwal *et al.* (1995) with a declining trend along the lactation. The expected herd life with a declining trend were also reported by Krehbiel *et al.* (1962), Greer *et al.* (1980) and Mukherjee (1993). Contrary to the present findings Schons *et al.* (1985) reported higher expected herd life with a declining trend along increase in age of the females.

Average life expectancy of a cow at first lactation was found to be 4.19 lactation. Lower values of life expectancy in first lactation (2.8 to 3.3) than the


Expected herd life (Ex)

Relationship between lactation and expected herd life. Fig. 4.



Reproductive value(Vx)

present study were reported by Tomar *et al.* (1994, 96) and Lathwal *et al.* (1995) for milch breeds of zebu cattle.

#### 6. Reproductive value (Vx)

Results presented in Table 32 indicated that the reproductive value was varied between 2.172 to 2.292 for the cows belonged to 1-4 lactations. The reproduction value was less than one for the cows who completed more than 9 lactation. Thus very old cows had low reproductive value than that of a replacement heifer and younger cows. This suggested that the cow should be culled at an age/lactation when its reproductive value is less than one. Similar results were observed by Tomar *et al.* (1996) for Tharparkar cows. Schons (1985) reported a similar trend in reproductive value in beef breeds of cattle that the cows beyond 12 years of age had reproductive value less than one.

The average net reproductive rate for the lifetime in this herd was found to be 2.27 which means that each cow produced 2.2 female calves. Similar results have been reported by Schons *et al.* (1985) for beef cattle and Mukherjee (1993) for crossbred cattle. Low net reproductive rate from 1.6 to 1.8 have been reported by Tomar *et al.* (1994, 96) and Lathwal *et al.* (1995) in milch breeds of zebu cattle.

#### 4.2.7. Herd replacement

The herd replacement depends on the number of adult females left the herd due to their death and culling and the number of heifer replacements become available in any year.

#### I. Mortality and Culling of Adult Cows

Average losses of adult cows due to death and culling in different lactation have been given in Table 34 and the results of ANOVA have been presented in Table 35.

It was observed that 11.1 percent of the cows died while they were in the herd and rest 88.9 percent were culled from the herd, which is conformity to the results of Mukherjee (1993) for Karan Swiss cows whereas Lathwal (1989), Rawal *et al.* (1994) and Rawal and Tomar (1998) reported the incidence of mortality in adult cows from 9.3 to 13.4% and of culling from 86.6

T a station	Tetal		Numbe	er of cows		Tata	
Lactation		D	ied	Cu	lled	lota	1 1055
	COW3	%	No.	%	No.	%	No.
Total cows	660	11.06	(73)	88.93	(587)	100.0	(660)
1.	660	1.6	(11)	19.3	(127)	20.9	(138)
2.	522	1.5	(8)	22.2	(116)	23.7	(124)
3.	398	1.2	(5)	14.8	(59)	16.1	(64)
4.	339	0.3	(1)	12.6	(42)	12.8	(43)
5.	291	2.7	(8)	12.4	(36)	15.1	(44)
6.	247	2.4	(6)	13.5	(33)	15.7	(39)
7.	208	2.8	(6)	16.8	(35)	19.2	(41)
8.	167	5.9	(10)	25.1	(42)	31.2	(52)
9.	115	6.1	(7)	28.8	(33)	34.7	(40)
10.	70	7.1	(5)	31.4	(22)	38.5	(27)
11.	48	8.3	(4)	45.8	(22)	54.2	(26)
12.	22	0.0	(0)	68.2	(15)	68.2	(15)
13.	7	14.2	(1)	57.3	(4)	71.5	(5)
14.	2	0.0	(0)	50.0	(1)	100.0	(2)
Overall	3091	2.34	(73)	18.99	(587)	21.35	(660)
Table 35:	Analysis lactations	of va s (m.s.	iriance values)	for loss	of c	ows in d	lifferent
Source of var	riance	D.F.	Death	С	ulling	Tota	lloss

 Table 34:
 Loss of adult cows in different lactations

Source of variance	D.F.	Death	Culling	Total loss
Lactation	13	0.0528*	1.3511**	1.8851**
Error	3078	0.0229	0.1541	0.1223
**P < 0.01 * P < 0	05	·····		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·

** P < 0.01 * P < 0.05

to 90.7 percent for Red Sindhi, Sahiwal and Tharparkar cows. Sharma and Singh (1974) observed that 13.1 percent of the total cows left the herd due to their death.

It was further observed that 21.4 percent cows left the herd in each lactation either due to their death or culling. Out of the total losses of 21.4 percent per lactation the mortality accounted for 2.3 percent only. Similar results on mortality rate per lactation in adult cows (2.5 to 3.6 %) but higher culling rates per lactation (23.2 to 28.8%) have been reported by Lathwal *et al.* (1989) for Red Sindhi cows, Rawal *et al.* (1994) for Sahiwal cows, Rawal and Tomar (1998) for Tharparkar cows and Mukherjee (1993) for Karan Swiss cows.

Regarding the effect of lactation order on loss of adult cows, it was observed that total losses were less in cows of middle age group of 3-7 lactations. There was a increasing trend of total losses after seventh lactation. The total losses in first two lactations were 20.9 and 23.7 percent, respectively which may be due to culling of females on the basis of production performance of the first two lactations. Total losses (Mortality and culling) were highly significantly affected by lactation order (Tabe 35). This is in agreement with the findings of Lathwal (1989), Rawal *et al.* (1994), Mukherjee (1993) and Ram and Tomar (1993).

Further it was observed that annual loss of cows averaged 15.8 percent. The annual loss of adult cows ranging reported between 15 to 23 percent were reported earlier by Lemka *et al.* (1973), Chikara and Balaine (1977), Lathwal (1989), Rawal *et al.* (1994), Rawal and Tomar (1998) and Mukherjee *et al.* (1993). Out of the total losses the annual mortality was 1.5 percent and culling was 14.3 percent in this Hariana herd. Almost similar estimates of annual mortality have been reported by Reddy and Nagarcenkar (1989b), Lathwal (1989), Rawal *et al.* (1994), Rawal and Tomar (1998) and Mukherjee (1993). The average annual culling rates have been reported as 11.0, 20.7, 16.8, 17.8 and 21.7 percent respectively by these workers. Ram and Tomar (1993) have also reported the average annual mortality and culling rates in Murrah buffaloes as 1.8 and 16.3 percent respectively.

	Oncine O	Addition	Letel			Loss of	f cows				Derlossent
Year	Opening	by heifer	T OLAI	Dea	th	Cullin	ខ្មា	Total	loss	- LIOSING	keplacement
	Datatice	calvings	COWS	%	No.	%	No.	%	No.	Dalalice	Vanii
1981	149	50	199	0.5	1	14.5	29	15.1	30	169	1.6
1982	169	23	192	0	0	14.6	28	14.6	28	164	0.8
1983	164	35	199	1.0	7	12.1	24	13.1	26	173	1.3
1984	173	55	228	0	0	12.3	28	12.3	28	200	1.9
1985	200	51	251	1.6	4	12.4	31	13.9	35	216	1.4
1986	216	62	278	1.1	ω	15.4	43	16.5	46	233	1.3
1987	233	41	274	1.8	5	21.2	58	22.9	63	211	0.6
1988	211	58	269	2.9	8	21.2	57	14.1	65	214	0.9
1989	214	45	259	0.8	7	10.5	27	11.3	29	230	1.5
1990	230.	47	277	1.5	4	14.5	40	15.9	44	233	1.1
1991	233	71	304	2.6	8	8.8	27	11.4	35	269	2.0
1992	269	39	308	2.3	7	11.7	36	13.9	43	265	0.9
1993	265	12	277	2.1	. 6	16.7	47	18.8	53	224	0.2
1994	224	ı	ı	3	ı	ı	- 1	ı	ı	ı	ı
Overall	2950	589	3315	1.5	50	14.3	475	15.8	525		1.2

۰.

Analysis of variance to test the year effect on mortality and culling in adult cows (m.s. value) Table 37:

Mortality Culling	0.0224 0.3822**	0.0147 0.1218	
D.F.	12	3302	P< 0.01
Source of variance	Year	Error	**



No. of cows or heifers

Fig. 6. Fluctuation in herd size.



Relationship between total heifers and total loss.

Fig. 7.

### Addition through heifers and total loss

The annual mortality in adult cows varied from 0.5 to 2.9 percent in different years and there was no mortality in 1982 and 1984 years among adult cows, whereas the annual culling rates varied from 8.8 to 21.2 percent in the present study. Year effect was significant on culling rates in this herd while annual mortality did not differ significantly among the years which is similar to the reports of Lathwal (1989), On the contrary, Reddy and Nagarcenkar (1989b), Rawal *et al.* (1994) and Ram and Tomar (1993) observed significant effect of year on both mortality and culling rates.

#### II. Annual Replacement Index

Annual replacement index (ARI) and annually losses of adult cows and heifer calvings have been presented in Table 36 and the ANOVA to show year effect has been given in Table 37.

The annual replacement index is the ratio of the number of heifer calvings to the number of cows left the herd in a year. The overall replacement index was found to be little more than one (1.2) during the period of study (Table 36) indicating that heifer calvings were nearly equal to that of the number of adult cows left the herd during entire period of study and hence the herd size remained constant. In this herd the annual replacement index varied between 0.6 to 2.0 among different years. Similar results on replacement index and the variation among years were reported by Lathwal (1989), Rawal *et al.* (1994), Rawal and Tomar (1998) and Mukherjee *et al.* (1993) for cattle herd and Ram and Tomar (1993) for Murrah buffalo herd.

#### 4.3. GENETIC ANALYSIS

#### **4.3.1.** Selective value and its components

The effect of sire on longevity, productive herd life and life time calf production traits alongwith their heritability estimates have been presented in Table 38.

#### 1. **Productive herd life and longevity**

It was observed that the sire had highly significant effect on the PHL of their daughters. This showed that the progeny of certain sires had longer herd life than the others or vice versa and hence selection can be effective for

genetic improvement in productive herd life. This corroborated with the results reported by Singh and Tomar (1989) and Mukherjee (1993) for crossbred cattle and Tomar and Basu (1981) for Murrah buffaloes.

Heritability estimates obtained for sire component of variance was 0.975±0.25 for PHL and the estimate is higher than those reported by White and Nichols (1965), Hargrove *et al.* (1965), Evans *et al.* (1964) and Tanida *et al.* (1988) for exotic cattle, Singh *et al.* (1964), Basu *et al.* (1983), for indian breeds, Reddy (1979), Singh and Tomar (1989) and Mukherjee (1993) for crossbred cattle.

The sire had also highly significant effect on longevity of their daughters. The heritability was observed to be 0.945±0.28 for longevity.

#### 2. Life time calf production

The life time calf production traits viz. total calves born, total alive calves born, total female calves born and total replacement daughters per cow determines the selective value of an adult female. The effect of sire and their heritability estimates have been presented in table 38.

(i) Number of calves born :

Sire of cow had highly significant effect on total calves born by each cow during lifetime. These results are similar to those of Rawal (1991) for Tharparkar herd, Mukherjee and Tomar (1996) for crossbred cattle and Tomar and Basu (1991), Tomar and Ram (1992) for Murrah buffalo herd, whereas the effect of sire was not significant for Sahiwal herd by Rawal and Tomar (1994a).

The heritability estimate for total calves born was  $0.967\pm0.26$  which is higher than reported by White and Nicholas (1965), Hargrove *et al.* (1965) and Tanida *et al.* (1988) for exotic breeds, Basu *et al.* (1983), Rawal (1991) and Rawal and Tomar (1994a) for Indian breeds, Reddy (1979) and Mukherjee and Tomar (1996) for crossbred cattle.

#### (ii) Number of alive calves born :

The effect of sire of cow was found to be highly significant on the total alive calves born from each cow. This corroborated with the results

ne calf production	Female calves
y and life tiı	Female
'HL, longevit;	Alive calves
ect of sire on F	No. of calves
test the eff	Longevity
f variance to . values)	PHL
Analysis o traits (m.s	D.F.
Table 38:	Source of

Source of variation	D.F.	PHL	Longevity	No. of calves born	Alive calves	Female calves	Female calves retained
Between sires	43	68.829**	70.707**	51.628**	49.947**	12.259**	14.226**
Error .	616	11.803	12.524	8.933	8.377	2.708	1.532
h²± S.E.		0.975±0.25	0.945±0.28	0.967±0.26	0.994±0.31	0.761±0.18	0.729±0.18
** P< 0.0							
+	L						

K-value=15

ĸ

reported by Rawal (1991) for Tharparkar herd, Mukherjee and Tomar (1996) for crossbred cattle and Tomar and Basu (1991) and Tomar and Ram (1992) for Murrah buffalo herd, whereas Rawal and Tomar (1994a) did not observed significant effect of sire on total alive calves born for Sahiwal herd

The heritability estimate for total alive calves born was found to be  $0.994\pm0.31$ . Low heritability than the present estimates was reported by Rawal (1991) and Rawal and Tomar (1994a) for Indian breeds, White and Nicholas (1965), Hargrove *et al.* (1965) and Tanida *et al.* (1988) for exotic breeds, Mukherjee and Tomar (1996) for crossbred cattle and Tomar and Ram (1992) in a herd of Murrah buffaloes.

(iii) Number of female calves born and reached to milking herd:

It was observed that sire of cow had highly significant effect on both, total female calves born and total female calves reached to milking herd. This corroborated with the results reported by Rawal (1991) for Tharparkar herd and Lathwal *et al.* (1992) for Red Sindhi herd and Tomar and Ram (1992) for Murrah buffalo. On the other hand, Rawal and Tomar (1994a) for Sahiwal herd and Mukherjee and Tomar (1996) for crossbred cattle did not observe significant effect of sire on both the traits.

The heritability estimates were  $0.761\pm0.18$  and  $0.729\pm0.18$  for total female calves born and total female calves reached milking herd, respectively, and were higher than reported by Rawal (1991) and Rawal and Tomar (1994a) for Indian breeds and Mukherjee and Tomar (1996) for crossbred cattle and Tomar and Ram (1992) in a herd of buffaloes.

#### 4.3.2. Replacement rate and its components

Analysis of variance to test the effect of sire and to estimate the heritability of replacement rate and its components have been presented in Tables 39 and 40. Repeatability estimates of abnormal births and sex ratio have been presented in Table 41.

#### 1. Abnormal births

The average incidence of abnormal births was 4.4 percent among 3390 pregnancies from 36 sires. Out of 36 bulls used for breeding, there was no

-	Class	S	ire	Average	Total	Average in abnormal	ncidence of / male births
	(%)	No.	%	birth/ sire	birth	No.	%
-	Abnormal b	irths	- <b>-</b>		<u></u>	,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	., <b>1</b> ,,,
	0	8	22.2	11.0	88	0	0.0
•	0.1-3.0	6	16.6	88.5	531	13	2.4
	3.1-6.0	12	33.3	185.6	2228	90	4.0
	6.1-9.0	4	11.1	110.0	440	32	7.3
	9.1-12.0	1	2.7	20.0	20	2	10.0
	12.1-15.0	2	5.5	20.0	40	5	12.5
	15.1-18.0	1	2.7	18.0	18	3	16.6
	> 18.0	2	5.5	12.5	25	6	24.0
	Overall	36	100.0	94.1	3390	151	4.4
	Male births						
	< 30.0	2	5.5	11.5	23	4	17.4
•	30.1-35.0	1	2.7	9.0	9	3	33.3
	35.1-40.0	2	5.5	13.0	26	10	38.4
	40.1-45.0	2	5.5	38.0	76	34	44.7
	45.1-50.0	5	13.9	125.2	626	297	47.4
	50.1-55.0	11	30.5	190.4	2095	1087	51.9
	55.1-60.0	9	25.0	26.4	238	137	57.5
	60.1-65.0	1	2.7	108.0	108	66	61.1
	65.1-70.0	1	2.7	15.0	15	10	66.6
	> 70.0	2	5.5	11.5	23	17	73.9
•	Overall	36	100.0	89.9	3239	1667	51.4

Table 39: Abnormal births and sex ratio in relation to sire

.

.

Table 40:	Analysis of variance	(m.s. value) to	) test the	effect of sire
	on abnormal births a	nd sex ratio		

Source of variation	D.F.	Abnormal birth	Sex ratio
Between sires	35	0.0707**	0.5423**
Error		0.0422 (3354)	0.2466 (3203)
$h^2 \pm SE$		0.285±0.12	0.0525±0.31

Figures in parentheses are the error degree of freedom * P < 0.01* P < 0.05

## Table 41: Repeatability of abnormal births and sex ratios by two different methods

Traits	Repeat Meth	tability 10ds*
	<u>I</u>	Ш
Abnormal births	0.0043	0.586
Sex ratio	0.0176	0.037

* Methods

I. Regression of second record on the first

**II.** Intraclass correlation method

incidence of abnormal births among the pregnancies from 8 sires (22.2% of total bull). About 78 percent out of total bulls used to bred were responsible for abnormal births which varied from 2.4 to 24.0 percent.

The incidence of abnormal births was 3.0 percent among the progeny of 16.6 percent bulls, between 3.1 to 6.0 percent among the progeny of 33.3 percent of the total bulls and the highest abnormal births (24.0%) was observed among the pregnancies of two sires (5.5%). Abnormal births from the sires reported by various workers were 64 percent Sahiwal and 50 percent Holstein (Tomar *et al.*, 1975), 70.6 percent Sahiwal and 78.3 Holstein, (Arun *et al.* 1991b), 50% Sahiwal and 60% Tharparkar bulls (Rawal and Tomar (1996a,c) and 89 percent crossbred bulls (Mukherjee, 1993).

Effect of sire was highly significant on the incidence of abnormal births (Table 40). Tomar *et al.* (1975), Sharma and Jain (1983), Rawal and Tomar (1996a,c)and Arun *et al.* (1991b) for cattle, Tomar and Basu (1981) and Ram and Tomar (1992) for buffalo have also observed significant effect of sire on abnormal births progeny, whereas Tomar and Verma (1988a, b) and Lathwal and Arun (1993) reported non significant effect of sire on abnormal births.

The heritability estimate for abnormal births was found to be 0.285±0.12 in this herd. This estimate value is higher than those reported by Erb *et al.* (1959), Singh *et al.* (1980), Rawal and Tomar (1996a,c), Arun *et al.* (1991b), Lathwal and Arun (1993) and Mukherjee (1993), however, lower than those reported by Lindhe (1967) for cattle and Ram and Tomar (1992) for buffalo.

Frequency of abnormal birth in the second gestation was higher (4.34%) among the cows which gave birth to abnormal calves in the first gestation. The repeatability of abnormal birth based on first two calvings was as good as zero (0.0043). These results suggested that the type of calf (normal versus abnormal) to be born in future gestation can not be predicted based on the type of calf in the previous gestation. These results corroborated with the findings of Rawal and Tomar (1996a,c) in Sahiwal and Tharparkar, Arun *et al.* (1991b) and Mukherjee (1993) in crossbred cattle, Tomar (1984) and Ram and Tomar (1992) in Murrah buffalo.

The repeatability of abnormal births estimated by intra-class correlation method based on all records (Table 4¹/₄) was found to be high (0.587). This indicated that intra cow variability was present. This is also supported by the data presented in Table 20 regarding the recurrence of abnormal calvings in successive gestations. These were 17.1% of total cows which had abnormal births in their lifetime either once or more time. The percentage of cows which aborted once, twice and three times were 15.0, 1.8 and 0.3, respectively.

#### 2. Sex ratio (% male births)

The sex ratio varied from 17.4 to 73.9 percent among the progeny of different sires. The normal range of sex ratio (45 to 55 percent) was observed among the progeny of 44.4 percent of the total sires used, whereas among the progeny of 19.4 percent sires it was less than 45 percent and the sex ratio was more than 55 percent among the progeny of 36 percent sires. Differences in sex ratio among the progeny of different sires were highly significant. Significant effect of sire on sex ratio have also been reported by Powell *et al.* (1975) in exotic cattle, Rawal and Tomar (1995) for Sahiwal, Rawal and Tomar (1996c) for Tharparkar, Arun *et al.* (1993b) for crossbred and Tomar and Tripathi (1988) in one of two herds of buffalo. On the other hand, no effect of sire on sex ratio were reported by Goswami *et al.* (1963), Tomar and Arora (1970), Tomar *et al.* (1976), Singh *et al.* (1983), Tomar and Verma (1988a,b), Lathwal and Arun (1993) and Mukherjee (1993).

িঁ

Heritability of sex ratio was low (0.052±0.31). Present results are in close agreement with the findings of Powell *et al.* (1975), Sethi and Rao (1981), Rawal and Tomar (1995), Lathwal and Arun (1993), Rawal and Tomar (1996c), Arun *et al.* (1993b) and Mukherjee (1993) who reported heritability estimates below 0.10 for sex ratio. Tomar and Tripathi (`1988) (0.124 and 0.434 for two herd of buffalo) and Ram and Tomar (1992) (0.206 for Murrah buffalo) reported higher estimates of heritability than the present estimate.

The repeatability of sex ratio based on first two calving was found to be 0.0176. Based on these estimates, it may not be possible to predict the sex of calf in subsequent calving. The low estimates of repeatability have also been

reported by Sethi and Rao (1981), Tomar and Tripathi (1988), Rawal and Tomar (1995, 1996c), Arun *et al.* (1993b) and Mukherjee (1993) whereas Stonaker and Knapp (1974) and Elbarbery (1983) found a tendency of calves of the same sex to be born in successive parities.

The repeatability of sex ratio based on all calving records estimated by intra class correlation (Table 41) was found to be close to zero (0.037) and hence indicated that intra cow variability in sex ratio was very low.

#### 3. Mortality of female calves

The frequency distribution of sires according to mortality and culling of their female calves have been presented in Table 42 and the ANOVA to see the sire effect alongwith heritability estimates has been given in Table 44. There was no mortality from birth to age at first calving among the progeny of 3 sires only (3.8% sires). The overall mortality was 20.5 percent and it varied from 9.3 to 85.7 percent among the female calves of 33 sires. The mortality less than 20 percent among the progeny of 38.8 percent sires, between 20 to 30 percent among the female calves of 19.4 percent sires, 30 to 40 percent among the female calves of 11 percent sires and above 40 percent mortality was found among the progeny of 22.2 percent sires. Sire had highly significant effect on calf mortality. These results corroborated with the findings of Chaudhary et al. (1984) and Mukherjee and Tomar (1997) for crossbred, Rawal and Tomar (1994b) for Sahiwal and Tomar and Rawal (1996) for Tharparkar, Ram and Tomar (1992) for Murrah buffaloes. Rawal and Tomar (1994b) and Tomar and Rawal (1996b) reported that there was no mortality among the female calves of 19.2 and 12.7 percent sires in Sahiwal and Tharparkar, respectively, and Mukherjee and Tomar (1997) reported that only 6.2 percent sires used had no mortality among their female progeny upto age at first calving in crossbred cattle. Contrary to the present study, Parekh and Singh (1981), Tomar and Verma (1988a), Lathwal and Arun (1993) did not observed significant sire effect on female calf mortality.

Present results indicated that sire of the calf had highly significant effect on the mortality of female calves during 1-3 months of age and 12 month-AFC whereas the sire had no effect on calf mortality during first month

	S	Sire	Average		Ave	erage
Class			no. of	Total	mortali	ty/culling
interval (%)	(%) No. % female (%) calves per sire	no. of calves	No.	%		
Female calve	es died					
0	3	8.3	3.7	11	0	0.0
0.1-10.0	3	8.3	43.0	129	12	9.3
10.1-20.0	11	30.5	58.5	644	115	17.8
20.1-30.0	7	19.4	100.6	704	157	22.3
30.1-40.0	4	11.1	9.5	38	13	34.2
40.1-50.0	4	11.1	7.0	28	13	46.4
50.1-60.0	2	5.5	6.5	13	7	53.8
> 60.0	2	5.5	3.5	7	6	85.7
Overall	36	100.0	43.7	1574	323	20.5
Female calve	es culled					
0	3	8.3	5.6	17	.0	0.0
0.1-10.0	0	0.0	0.0	0	0	0.0
10.1-20.0	. 3	8.3	92.0	276	47	17.0
20.1-30.0	6	16.6	68.3	410	110	26.8
30.1-40.0	14	38.8	49.7	697	238	34.1
40.1-50.0	4	11.1	31.2	125	51	40.8
50.1-60.0	3	8.3	11.7	35	16	45.7
> 60.0	3	8.3	4.7	14	9	64.2
Overall	36	100.0	43.7	1574	477	30.3

Ç.

### Table 42: Mortality and culling of female calves in relation to sire

Class		Sire	Average no. of	Total	Average replacement rate
interval (%)	No.	%	calves for sire	calves	*NCRMH %
Total calf basi	is				
0	4	11.1	16.5	66	0 0.0
0.1-10.0	4	11.1	13.7	55	4 7.3
10.1-20.0	9	25.0	45.0	405	70 17.2
20.1-30.0	17	47.2	137.6	2340	536 22.9
30.1-40.0	2	5.5	262.0	524	164 31.2
Overall	36	100.0	94.1	3390	774 22.8
Female calf ba	nsis				
0	4	11.1	6.5	26	0 0.0
0.1-10.0	0	0.0	0.0	0	0 0.0
10.1-20.0	2	5.5	7.0	14	2 14.3
20.1-30.0	3	8.3	4.0	12	3 25.0
30.1-40.0	9	25.0	18.3	165	58 35.2
40.1-50.0	11	30.6	84.6	931	445 47.8 v
50.1-60.0	4	11.1	23.7	95	50 52.6
60.1-70.0	3	8.9	110.3	331	216 65.2
Overall	36	100.0	43.7	1574	772 49.0

	Table 43:	Replacement	rate in	relation	to sire
--	-----------	-------------	---------	----------	---------

NCRMH = No. of calves reached milking herd

Table 44:	Analysis of variance to test the effect of sire on
	mortality, culling of female calves and replacement rate
	and their heritabilities

Source of	<b>D.F.</b>	Montolity	Culling	Replacement rate			
variation		wiortanty	Cuning	F	Т		
Between sires	35	0.4795**	0.4383**	0.4025*	0.4452**		
Error		0.1522 (1536)	0.2068 (1536)	0.2466 (1536)	0.1718 (3354)		
$h^2 \pm SE$		0.187±0.11	0.1009±0.04	0.571±0.19	0.066±0.02		
Figures	in noron	haaaa ara tha a	and a second of fire	adam			

P< 0.01

P < 0.05

Table 45: Analysis of variance to test the effect of sire on age specific mortality (m.s. value)

Contras of socialized	ŭ			Age group		
Source of Variation	D.F.	0-1m	1-3m	3-6m	6-12m	12m-AFC
Sire	29	0.0563	0.0327**	0.010	0.054	0.2338**
		0.0549	0.007	0.009	0.050	0.0838
		(1512)	(1380)	(1353)	(1312)	(1136)
$h^2$		0.0002	0.2666	0.0096	0.0071	0.1762
K value		51.4	47.0	46.1	44.7	38.8
** P < 0.01		•				
Figures in parenthe	ses are th	ie error degre	ses of treedom.			

Ŀ

[′] 140

of age, 3-6m and 6-12 month of age. The results indicated that the progeny of certain sires were more prone to adverse environmental conditions leading to their death in early age.

The heritability of mortality from birth to AFC was found to be 0.187±0.11. Heritability was found to be low for mortality during different ages viz., 0.0002, 0.266, 0.0096, 0.0071 and 0.1762 for 0-1m, 1-3m, 3-6m, 6-9m and 9-AFC age groups, respectively(Table 45). Sethi and Balaine (1978) reported the heritability as 0.05 and 0.33 for mortality upto one month of age in Hariana cows. Low heritability estimates of mortality have been reported by Singh et al. (1980), Parekh and Singh (1981) during calfhood, Lathwal and Arun (1993) and Mukherjee and Tomar (1997) from birth to age at first calving. Low heritability of mortality has been reported by Tomar (1984) for Murrah buffalo female calves during first month of age (0.064±0.056) and from birth to age at first calving (0.095±0.061) but moderatge estimate for 1 to 3 months of life (0.332±0.106). Low heritability have also been reported from birth to AFC mortality by Rawal and Tomar (1994b) for Sahiwal and Tomar and Rawal (1996) for Tharparkar female cavles and Ram and Tomar (192) for Murrah buffalo. Singh (1979) reported low estimate in Red Sindhi (0.180.11), moderate for Sahiwal (0.38±0.12) and Tharparkar (0.31±0.09) and moderate to high  $(0.30\pm0.12 \text{ to } 1.0)$  for crossbreds.

#### 4. Culling of female calves

The results showed that there was no culling from birth to age at first calving among the progeny of 3 sires only (Table 42). The average culling rates varied from 17.0 to 64.2 percent among the progeny of 33 sires and on an average it was found to be 30.3 percent. It was further observed that the culling rates below 30 percent were among the progeny of 25 percent of the total sires and above 30 percent among the female progeny of 66.6 percent sires. Differences in culling rates among the progeny of different sires were highly significant (P<0.01). Present results were in conformity to those of Rawal and Tomar (1994b), Tomar and Rawal (1996), Lathwal and Arun (1993) and Mukherjee and Tomar (1997) for cattle and Ram and Tomar (1992) for Murrah buffaloes. Tomar and Verma (1988a) reported that the culling rates among the progenies of different sires did not differ significantly.

Rawal and Tomar (1994b) and Tomar and Rawal (1996) observed no culling among the progenies of 25 percent Sahiwal and 26.6 percent Tharparkar sires, whereas culling rates ranged from 5.6 to 42.8 percent and 6.8 to 66.7 percent among the progenies of rest of the sires in two breeds, respectively.

The heritability estimate of culling rates of female calves upto age at first calving was found to be low  $(0.1009\pm0.04)$  (Table 44). Almost similar estimates for heritability of culling rates have also been reported by Rawal and Tomar (1994b) for Sahiwal (0.17) and Tomar and Rawal (1996) for Tharparkar (0.21) and Mukherjee and Tomar (1997) for crossbred female calves (0.115) and Ram and Tomar (1992) for Murrah buffalo female calves (0.172) whereas Lathwal and Arun (1993) reported medium (0.347) for Red Sindhi. Low estimates of heritability (0.065±0.025) in exotic breeds have also been reported by Schwenger *et al.* (1989).

#### 5. Number of female calves reached milking herd (Replacement rate)

The frequency distribution of sires according to the replacement rates among their progenies has been given in Table 43 and the ANOVA together with heritability has been given in Table 44. The results showed that there was no replacement rate (no female calves reached upto milking herd) from the progeny of 4 sires (11.1%). The replacement rate ranged from 7.3 to 31.2 percent on total calf basis and 14.3 to 65.2 percent on total female calf basis. On an average, the replacement rate was found to be 22.8 percent on total calf basis and 49.0 percent on total female calf basis. Sire had significant effect on replacement rate on total calf basis and on total female basis. Result indicated that replacement rate was higher among the progenies of certain sires. Contrary to the present study, Tomar and Verma (1988a) reported that sire had no effect on the replacement rate on either basis, whereas, Rawal (1991), Rawal and Tomar (1992), Lathwal and Arun (1993) and Mukherjee and Tomar (1997) reported highly significant effect of sire on replacement rate on both basis.

The heritability of replacement rate was found to be  $0.571\pm$  for female calves basis and  $0.0665\pm$  for total calves basis. Present results are similar to those reported by Rawal and Tomar (1992) for Sahiwal (0.28 and 0.06) and

Rawal (1991) for Tharparkar calves (0.11 and 0.03), Lathwal and Arun (1993) for Red Sindhi calves (0.235 and 0.103), Ram and Tomar (1992) for Murrah buffalo calves (0.124 and 0.011) and Mukherjee and Tomar (1997) for crossbred cattle (0.225 and 0.064). The present findings showed that some additive genetic variability existed in replacement rate on female calf basis and this can be exploited through selection.

### 4.4. SIRE EVALUATION AND RANK CORRELATION AMONG DIFFERENT TRAITS

#### 4.4.1. Estimation of breeding value for AFC and FLMY

The information available on daughters of 29 sires were used to estimate the B.V. of these sires for AFC and FLMY and the results have been presented in Table 46. Breeding value wasestimated by two methods viz., simple daughters average and weighted least square method. It was observed that the rank correlation was high (0.883) between these two methods of sire ranking. This indicated that there was practically no differences of sire ranking by the two methods and the sire can be evaluated by either method for AFC.

The herd average for AFC was 1484 days. The range of AFC for different sires varied from 947 to 1620 days whereas, the range in breeding value was observed from 1312 to 1610 days. It was observed that 17 sires (58.6 %) had the BV for AFC below the herd average and rest of the sires had the B.V. above herd average. The same is true based on simple daughter average for AFC. The superiority of the sires having AFC less than herd average ranged from 5.6 to 73.8 percent.

The herd average for FLMY was 922 kg and varied from 355 to 1327 kg for different sires (simple daughter average), whereas the range in breeding value was observed from 118 to 1312 kg. It was observed that 14 sires had the B.V. for FLMY below the herd average (inferior quality sires) and 15 sires were above the herd average in their B.V. (superior sires). The superiority of these 15 sires ranged from 4.7 to 75.4 percent over the herd average. The rank correlation between the two methods of estimation was high (0.772). This indicated that the sire can be evaluated by either method.

Sire	Age at first calving (AFC)			First lactation milk yield (FLMY)				
INO.	Ī	5	Ī	N	Ī	5	ī	$\overline{\mathbf{v}}$
1.	947	(1)	1312	(1)	640	(25)	764	(23)
2.	1435	(13)	1448	(13)	1230	(2)	1253	(3)
3.	1543	(25)	1514	(25)	1327	(1)	1276	(2)
4.	1405	(10)	1372	(6)	970	(14)	1000	(14)
5.	1316	(3)	1416	(10)	1052	(11)	1010	(12)
6.	1361	(5)	1400	(9)	1003	(13)	1002	(13)
7.	1503	(21)	1490	(20)	797	(18)	836	(20)
8.	1487	(19)	1484	(19)	761	(21)	768	(22)
9.	1490	(20)	1492	(21)	493	(28)	118	(29)
10.	1508	(22)	1496	(22)	1075	(9)	1054	(8)
11.	1620	(29)	1516	(26)	899	(16)	912	(16)
12.	1421	(11)	1388	(7)	1148	(5)	1312	(1)
13.	1607	(28)	1510	(24)	735	(23)	844	(19)
14.	1602	(27)	1556	(27)	1018	(12)	1014	(11)
15.	1484	(18)	1482	(18)	738	(22)	846	(18)
16.	1542	(24)	1610	(29)	1088	(7)	1124	(6)
17.	1426	(12)	1394	(8)	1074	(10)	1186	(5)
18.	1589	(26)	1564	(28)	673	(24)	640	(26)
19.	1354	(4)	1454	(14)	1165	(4)	1022	(10)
20.	1447	(15)	1474	(16)	355	(29)	688	(24)
21.	1450	(16)	1426	(11)	898	(17)	876	(17)
22.	1404	(9)	1346	(3)	762	(20)	626	(27)
23.	1393	(8)	1362	(4)	1127	(6)	1252	(4)
24.	1467	(17)	1480	(17)	1207	(3)	1038	(9)
25.	1446	(14)	1458	(15)	1083	(8)	1086	(7)
26.	1383	(6)	1364	(5)	776	(19)	776	(21)
27.	1384	(7)	1336	(2)	579	(25)	336	(28)
28.	1509	(23)	1498	(23)	623	(26)	660 "	(25)
29.	1266	(2)	1434	(12)	. 955	(15)	936	(15)
=	Sim	ple dat	ighter's aver	age			<u> </u>	· ·

Table 46: Breeding value of sires for age at first calving (AFC) andfirst lactation milk yield (FLMY)

$$\overline{W} = B.V. = \frac{2nh^2}{4 + (n-1)h^2}(S_i) + \mu$$

## 4.4.2 Relationship of selective value with breeding values for FLMY and AFC

The sires were ranked according to different traits and the correlation among the ranked values of different traits were estimated and presented in It was found that the values of correlation were positive and Table 47. medium for abnormal birth with sex ratio. (0.44), Female mortality upto AFC (0.49), female calves culling (0.54) and with female calves retained (0.37)which were all highly significant. This showed that the direct selection of sire for reduced abnormal birth will bring the improvement for these traits. It was observed that there was high and positive correlation of ranking of sires between selective value and female calf mortality (0.67) and between selective value and female calves culling (0.68), which were highly significant also. This suggested that direct selection of sire for low mortality and low culling rates may bring improvement in replacement rate. This supported the findings of Mukherjee (1993) who reported that there was a moderate positive correlation of ranking of sires between selective value and female culled (0.69) and between selective value and female mortality (0.58). Westell et al. (1982) ranked the sires for different disposal reasons in different lactation and found that correlation between sire ranking for same disposal reason in different lactations. Erf et al. (1990-) found high correlation between sire ranking for death and birth, death through 2nd day (0.9) and both the traits had some positive association (0.55) with death from 1-7 day.

The correlation between selective value and FLMY was 0.34 which mean that increase in adaptive value also improve the milk yield whereas the correlation between selective value and AFC was low but positive (0.29). Mukherjee (1993) also reported low but positive correlation (0.19) between selective value and AFC, whereas contrary to the present study, Mukherjee (1993) reported very low positive rank correlation between selective value and FLMY (0.04) that means there was no correlation between selective value and FLMY.

	Sex ratio	Mortality	Culling	Selective value	AFC	FLMY
Abnormal birth	0.44**	0.49**	0.54**	0.37**	0.31	0.29
Sex ratio		0.28	0.49**	0.36**	0.27	0.31
Mortality			0.31	0.67**	0.26	0.22
Culling				0.68**	0.19	0.23
Selective value					0.29	0.34*

## Table 47:Correlation of selective value and its components with<br/>FLMY and AFC

* P < 0.05

** P < 0.01

#### 4.5 STRATEGIES FOR IMPROVEMENT OF HARIANA BREED

The strategies for genetic improvement of any breed depend on selection and mating system. The selection implies keeping the genetically superior individuals which depends on the nature and amount of genetic variability present in a trait among the individuals of a population viz., additive and non-additive genetic variability. It is well known that milk yield has low heritability. This means that additive genetic variability is low. When h² of a trait is low then progeny testing is generally advocated. At present, is the sire rather than dam which is progeny tested. Therefore, the selection criteria to select the genetically superior sires rests on the performance of the progeny of a sire. The correlation of the genotype of parent (G) with the average phenotype of its progeny ( $\overline{P}$ ) is the accuracy of selection. The accuracy of sire selection ( $r_{c\overline{P}}$ ) in a progeny testing (PT) programme is estimated as :

Ê.

$$r_{\overline{GP}} = \frac{h}{2}\sqrt{\frac{n}{1+(n-1)t}}$$

Where,  $t = \frac{1}{4} h^2$  when progeny groups are half sibs. Thus, accuracy of selection depends on heritability and number of recorded daughters per sire. It is clear that an increase in number of daughters will improve the accuracy of sire selection and hence the prediction of breeding value (BV) of sire will be more accurate.

It is well known that the animal breeding data is generally non-orthogonal having unequal number of daughters for different sires. Moreover, the non orthogonality is intense at most of the animal farms in the country, it varied from one to several hundred daughters per sire. This results the loss of breeding data and all the sires are not evaluated. The non-orthoganlaity creates problems in analysis of data and biasness in predicting the breeding value.

The results of the present investigation indicated that 3556 pregnancies belonged to 108 sires. Out of these 108 sires, the data of only 36 sires were subjected to genetic analysis taking the criteria that there

should be atleast 7 pregnancies from each sire. Thus the data on only 33% of the total sires could be used and the data on two-third of the total sires were wasted. Therefore, all the sires could not be evaluated. Further, the data was so much non orthogonal on these 36 sires that the pregnancies per sire varied from 270 to 515 for 6 sires, 107 to 151 for 4 sires, 42 to 86 for another 6 sires, 10 to 27 for 14 sires and 7 to 9 for rest 6 sires. Such type of non-orthogonality creates biasness and puts restriction to progeny test a large number of sires. Therefore, the first and foremost requirement is that the equal or nearly equal progenies are recorded for different sires for which the proper mating plan should be prepared.

On the basis of the results of this investigation, 5 pregnancies are required to get one replacement daughter. Out of these 5 pregnancies on an average 2 female calves will be born and out of these 2 female calves only one will survive/retain upto age at first calving. The average number of services required to conceive a cow have been found to be 1.86 and hence 9 inseminations are required to get 5 pregnancies which will produce only one heifer that could replace the old and low productive cow. Therefore, to run a P.T. programme effectively it is required to get around 100 inseminations from each bull, which will results in about 10 daughters to be performance recorded. Such a mating plan will avoid the wastage of breeding data and will provide the opportunity for testing large number of sires with more accuracy.

The results of the present study further indicated that most of the deaths occurred during first month of age. Therefore, special care of female calves is required during early age. High mortality among female calves was observed for those which were lighter at birth. Therefore, efforts should be made to take every care of a pregnant cows by providing them adequate concentrate and green fodder to improve birth weight and secondly the female calves with low birth weight, if born, should be given special care.

There was a positive and high correlation between female calf mortality and selective value (0.67) and hence the efforts to reduce the female calf mortality will increase the selective value as well as the replacement rate per unit of time. There was a moderate positive correlation between selective

value and FLMY. These results thus showed that direct selection of sire for low mortality will improve the selective value which is positively associated with milk production. Therefore, the efforts made to improve the selective value will also be fruitful to enhance the milk production and hence the improvement of breed. CHAPTER 5

# SUMMARY & CONCLUSION

## SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION

The present investigation was carried out on the breeding data collected from history cum pedigree sheets of 735 Hariana cows born during 20 years from 1970 to 1989 at GLF Hisar (Haryana). The data comprised 3556 calving records spreading over 26 years from 1973 to 1996. The data on lifetime calf production traits to study the selective value (genetic contributions to future generation and its components) was restricted to 660 cows which completed their herd life and left the herd due to their death and culling and also the information on their female calves abut their mortality, culling or surviving upto age at first calving (AFC) were complete.

The data were classified into 4 periods according to years of birth of cows and into 5 periods according to the years of calving, in both type of periods consisted of 5 years. The data were also classified into 7 groups according to first lactation milk yield (FLMY) and into 5 groups of AFC on the basis of 1/2 o of the respective trait. The effects of period of birth, FLMY and AFC groups were analysed by least squares analysis of variance on longevity, productive herd life (PHL), selective value and its components viz., total calves born by each cow, total female calves born by each cow and total female calves reached to AFC from each cow during its lifetime. The effects of periods, season and parity of calving were studied on replacement rate and its components viz. Incidence of abnormal births, percentage of male births (sex ratio), mortality and culling of female calves from birth to AFC. The overall replacement index was estimated based on the number of heifer calvings and the number of cows left the herd due to their death and culling. Lactation-specific demographic parameters and overall life time statistics were also estimated. Heritability of these traits were computed from sire component of variance. Repeatability of the abnormal births and sex ratio was also estimation.

Average life span (longevity) of Hariana cow in this herd was found to be 9.12±0.19 years out of which 5.38±0.18 years was the productive herd life and calved 5.2±0.16 times. Both the traits were significantly affected by the period of birth and first lactation milk yield. Cows mating at higher age, had the shortest

herd life. Only a very few (0.4%) females attained the highest longevity of 18-19 years.

The average number of total alive calves, total female calves produced and total replacement daughters from each cow were 4.9, 0.15, 2.38±0.15 and 1.2±0.21, respectively. Results indicated that a cow should produce at least two female calves during its life time for her replacement. The maximum number of total calves born were 14 by only 0.3 percent of the total cows and maximum number of female calves born were 9 by only one cows 0.1%. About 20 percent of the total cows could not produce any female calf, whereas 25.3 percent cows left the herd after producing only one female calf.

Approximately half of the total (49.3%) cows did not leave any replacement daughters whereas 21.4 percent of the total cows left only one, 12.9 percent left two, 8.7 percent left three and 7 percent of the total cows left 4 or more replacement daughters.

The life time calf production traits were highly significantly affected by period of birth and FLMY. AFC had significant effect (P<0.05) on total calves and total alive calves born, whereas AFC did not affect the total number of female calves born and replacement daughters. In general, values of all the traits decreased along periods but increasing trend with FLMY.

The coefficient of gene replication, which is the genetic contribution of adult females to the next generation through their replacement daughters was  $0.6\pm0.11$  indicated that a cow replicated its genotype in term of calves more than time in the herd.

Average number of services per conception was 1.86±0.18. About 54.4 percent of the total cows conceived with first service. The incidence of repeat breeding was more with older cows. Year, season and parity had significant effect on the number of services per conception.

The average values of abnormal births, sex ratio, mortality and culling of female calves upto AFC were 4.5, 5.14, 21.1 and 30.6 percent respectively. The replacement rates on total calf basis and on female calf basis were 22.5 and 48.4% respectively. Results revealed that at least 4-5 calvings are required to produce one heifer replacement. More than 50 percent female calves were lost from the herd due to death/culling.

Period of birth had highly significant effect on female calves mortality, culling upto AFC and replacement rate. Season of birth had no effect on abnormal birth, sex ratio and female calves mortality. Parity of dam had highly significant effect on culling and replacement rate whereas it had no effect on abnormal birth, sex ratio and female calves mortality upto AFC. Birth weight of female calves had significant effect on culling rate and replacement rate whereas it had no effect on mortality of female calves.

The female calf mortality during different ages viz. 0-1m, 1-3m, 3-6m, 6-12m and 12 months to AFC were observed as 7.0, 0.8, 1.2, 5.8 and 9.9 percent, respectively. It was also observed that 33.5 percent of the total mortality occurred during first month of life. Period of birth was found to have significant (P<0.01) effect on mortality in the age group of 1-3 months and 12 months to AFC. Season of birth and dam's parity had no effect on female calf mortality at any age.

Lactation specific demographic results revealed that 20.9 percent adult females were lost from the herd either due to death or culling in the first lactation. Survival rate (Px) was 79.1 percent at the end of first lactation. The survival rate showed an increasing trend upto fourth lactation there after it started decreasing. The average probability of a female being lost from the herd was 0.21 percent per lactation. The mean age of cows being lost from the herd was 4.68 lactations and of those cows which were present in the herd was 4.49 lacatations.

The maximum lactations or the opportunity to a cow to remain in the herd as long as possible was 14 lactations and only 2 cows remained present. It was observed that heifers (cow at first lactation) were expected to remain in herd for 3.52 more lactations and was maximum (3.88) at third lactation. The reproductive value (Vx) which is the lactation specific expectation of future off spring was 2.2 for the cows belonged to 1-4 lactation and less than one for those beyond 9 lactations.

The total losses was found to be 21.4 percent per lactation in the herd, out of which 2.3 percent was mortality and 18.9 percent was culling. About 11.1 percent cows died in the herd and rest 88.9 percent were culled from the herd after entering the milking herd. Dam's parity effect on total losses was highly significant. The annual mortality and culling rates averaged and % respectively. Year had significant effect on culling rates of the adult females but the annual mortality was not significantly affected among years. The overall replacement index was indicated that heifer calvings were nearly equal to number of adult
females left the herd in any year and the herd size remained constant. Productive herd life and longevity were both affected significantly (P<0.01) by sire. The heritability estimates of these traits were 0.975 and 0.945, respectively.

The components of selective value were significantly affected (P< 0.011) by sire. Heritability estimates of total calves born, total alive calves born, total female calves and female calves reached milking herd were  $0.967\pm0.31$ ,  $0.994\pm0.26$ ,  $0.761\pm0.18$  and  $0.729\pm0.18$ , respectively.

The heritability estimates of abnormal births, sex ratio, mortality and culling of female calves, replacement rate on female calf basis and total calf basis were  $0.285\pm0.12$ ,  $0.052\pm0.31$ ,  $0.187\pm0.11$ ,  $0.1009\pm0.04$ ,  $0.571\pm0.19$  and  $0.066\pm0.02$ , respectively.

The repeatability estimates of abnormal births and sex ratio based on first two calvings were low (0.0043 and 0.017). The results suggested that sex of calf to be born in future can not be predicted.

Rank correlation for AFC and FLMY between simple daughters average and weighted least square methods of sire evaluation were high. It was observed that the values of correlation were positive and moderate for abnormal birth with sex ratio (0.44), female calf mortality upto AFC (0.49), culling of female (0.54) and with selective value (0.37) which were all highly significant. This showed that the direct selection of sire for reduced abnormal birth will bring the improvement for these traits. The high positive correlation was observed between selective value and female calf mortality (0.67) and with female calves culling (0.68). This suggested that direct selection of sire for low mortality and low culling rates may bring improvement in replacement rate. The relationship between selective value and breeding value of FLMY showed that there was a positive correlation (0.34) which suggested that improvement or increase in selective value will also improve the milk yield. The relationship between selective value and breeding value of AFC had positive but low correlation.

The following conclusions can be drawn on the basis of findings of this present investigation

(i) For one success pregnancy each cow required about 2 services (1.86).

(ii) The present study indicated that most of the deaths occurred during first month of age. Therefore, more care of female calves is required in that age group.

153

- (iii) High mortality was observed among the calves which were lighter at birth, therefore efforts should be made to take every care of the pregnant dams by providing them adequate concentrate and green fodder to improve birth weightand secondly such calves with low birth weight should be given special care.
- (iv) On the basis of replacement rate on total calf basis (22.4%) it was concluded that about 5 pregnancies are required to produce one heifer that could replace the old and low productive cow.
- (v) For one heifer replacement, 9 inseminations will be required considering 1.86 insemination for one pregnancy. Based on this research findings it is suggested that at least 90 inseminations per bull should be given under progeny testing programme to get performance record on atleast 10 daughters per sire. This information can thus be of useful for progeny testing programme and to avoid the wastage of breeding data.
- (vi) The different components of selective value (life time calf production traits) were significantly affected by sire and all the traits were highly heritable, so sire selection can improve the traits.
- (vii) There was a positive and high rank correlation between selective value and female calf mortality (0.67) and with female calves culling (0.68). So direct selection of sire for low mortality and low culling rates may bring improvement in replacement rate.
- (viii) There was a moderate positive correlation between selective value and FLMY. It shows that increase in selective value will also improve the milk yield.

## BIBLIOGRAPHY

## BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Agarwal, O.P. (1968). Crossbreeding Project at the Allahabad Agric. Institute. *Allahabad Farmer*, **42** : 87-102.
- Ahmed, Z., Berger, P.J. and Healey, M.H. (1992). Estimated culling probabilities, age distribution and expected herd life in Nili Ravi Buffalo. *J. Dairy Sci.*, **75** : 1707-1714.
- Amble, V.N. and Jain, J.P. (1967). Comparative performance of different grades of crossbred cows on military farms in India. J. Dairy Sci., 50 : 1695-1702.
- Amble, V.N., Krishnan, K.S. and Srivastava, J.S. (1958) Statistical studies on breeding data of Indian Herds of dairy cattle. I. Red Sindhi herds at Hosur and Bangalore. *Ind. J. Vety. Science & Ani. Husb.*, 28 : 33.82.
- Arun, Kumar (1991). Genetic analysis of crossbred cattle for fertility and calving traits. M.Sc. Thesis, Meerut Univ., Meerut.
- Arun, Kumar (1997). Conception rate in Hol. x Sahiwal cows. Indian J. Dairy Sci., **50**(4): 302-306.
- Arun, Kumar, Chaudhary, S.R. and Sachdeva, G.K. (1995). Abnormal termination of pregnancies in crossbred cattle. J. Dairy Sci., 48 : 404-407.
- Arun, Kumar, Lavania, G.S. and Lathwal, S.S. (1991a). Variation in conception rate of crossbred cattle. *Asian J. Dairy Res.*, **10** : 69-72.
- Arun, Kumar, Lavania, G.S. and Lathwal, S.S. (1992). Sex ratio in crossbred cattle. *Indian J. Anim. Res.*, **26** : 25-28.
- Arun, Kumar, Lavania, G.S. and Tomar, S.S. (1990). Incidence and inheritance of repeat breeding in crossbred cattle. SARAS J. Livestock & Poultry Prod., 6: 82-87.

Mun, Kuman Should be unition as Kumar, Arun or Arun Kumar ( unitioni comma)

- Arun, Kumar, Lavania, G.S. and Tomar, S.S. (1991b). Geenetic variability in the rate of abnormal parturitions in crossbred cattle. SARAS J. Livestock & Poult. Prod., 7: 34-39.
- Arun, Kumar, Lavania, G.S. and Tomar, S.S. (1993a). Genetic parameters of sex ratio in crossbred cattle. *Indian J. Dairy Sci.*, **46** : 41-42.
- Arun, Kumar, Tomar, S.S., Lavania, G.S. and Johar, I.J. (1993b). Inheritance of fertility in crossbred cattle. *Indian J. Dairy Sci.*, **46** : 292-295.
- Bailey, C.M. (1991). Lifespan of beef type Bos taurus and Bos indicus x Bos Taurus females in a dry temperate climate. *J. Anim. Sci.*, **69** : 2379-86.
- Basu, S.B. and Ghai, A.S. (1980). Note on age structure, herdlife and replacement rate in Murrah buffalo herd. *Indian J. Anim. Sci.*. **50** : 757 –759.
- Basu, S.B. and Ghai, A.S. (1980) Studies on inheritance of some reproductive traits and relationship with milk production in crossbred cattle. *Indian J. Anim. Sci.*, **50**(2): 119-122.
- Basu, S.B., Bhatnagar, D.S. and Taneja, V.K. (1983). Genetic and phenotypic parameters of lifetime traits in Genetic and phenotypic parameters of lifetime traits in Tharparkar cows. *Indian J. Dairy Sci.*, 36 : 207-210.
- Basu, S.B., Bhatnagar, D.S., Taneja, V.K. and Rao, V.P. (1979).
  Comparative performance of Indian Dairy Breeds. *Indian J. Dairy Sci.*, 32: 497-499.
- Bhatacharya, P., Prabhu, S.S. and Chatterjee, S.S. (1956). Secondary sex ratio in Indian Cattle. *Z. Tierz Ziicht Biol.*, **66** : 306-310 (*Anim. Breed. Abstr.* **24** : 589).
- Bhatnagar, D.S., Taneja, V.K., Basu, S.B. and Rao, V.P. (1979). Effect of genetic and non-genetic factors on reproductive and productive traits in crossbreds. *Indian J. Dairy Sci.*, **32** : 491-496.

ii

- Camacho, J., Bolanos, H., Arroyo, R. and Ortiz, F. (1985). Reproduction and longevity in a herdbook of Brahman herd. *Anim. Breed. Abstr.*, **55** : 3476.
- Chaterjee, A., De, B.N., Bindyanta, J., Chakraborty, M., Mondal, P. and Sen, G.P. (1985). Studies on abnormal termination of pregnancy of cattle and buffalo in the organised herds in West Bengal. *Indian Vet. J.*, 62: 586 590.
- Chatterjee, A.K. and Acharya, R.M (*Dairy India*) (1987 and (1992). edition, Published by R.P. Gupta, A-25, Priyadarshini Vihar, Delhi – 110 092.
- Chaudhary, G., Banerjee, G.C. and Guha, H. (1984). Genetic and environmental causes of variations in the mortality rates among the crossbred calves of Jersey x Hariana and Holstein x Hariana types. *Indian J. Anim. Hlth.*, **23** : 125-129.
- Caughley, G. (1966). Mortality patterns in mammals. *Ecology*, **47** (6) : 906-917.
- Chhikara, B.S. and Balaine, D.S. (1977). A note on disposal patterns in some Indian dairy cattle herds. *Indian J. Anim. Sci.*, **47** : 420-421.
- Choudhari, G., Banerjee, G.C. and Guha, H. (1984). Studies on breeding efficiency traits and some of factors affecting them in Hariana Type cows. *Indian Vet. J.*, **61**: 585-590.
- Dentine, M.R., McDaniel, B.T. and Norman, H.D. (1987). Evaluation of sires for traits associated with herdlife of grade and registered Holstein cattle. *J. Dairy Sci.*, **70**: 2623-34.
- Ducrocq, V., Quaas, R.L., Pollak, E.J. and Casella, G. (1988). Length of productive life of dairy cows. 2. Variance component estimation and sire evaluation. *J. Dairy Sci.*, **71** : 3071-3079.
- Elbarbery, A.S.A. (1983). Some factors affecting sex ratio in Egyptian buffaloes, Indian J. Anim. Sci., **53**: 57-58.

- Erf, D.F., Hanson, L.B. and Neitzel, R.R. (1990). Inheritance of calf mortality for Brown Swiss cattle. *J. Dairy Sci.*, **73** ; 1130-1134.
- Evans, D.L., Brunton, C. and Farthing, B.R. (1964). Heritability estimates and inter-relationships among production per day of productive life, longevity, breeding efficiency and type in a herd of Holstein cows. *J. Dairy Sci.*, **47** : 699 (Abstr.).
- Fosgate, O.T. (1965). Rate, age and criteria for disposal in a herd of Jersey cattle, *J. Dairy Sci.*, **48** : 1481-1484.
- Gadzhiev, M.MM., Mainedov, N.G. and Ismailov, G.M. (1991). Productive life span of cows. *Aim. Breed. Abstr.*, **60** : 62.
- Gill, G.S. and Allaire, F.R. (1976). Genetic and phenotypic parameters for a project function and selection methods for parameters for a profit in dairy cattle. J. Dairy Sci., 59 : 1325-1333.
- Goswami, S.K., De, S.K. and Bhattacharya, S. (1963). Secondary sex ratio and twinning rate in Hariana cattle. *Indian Vet. J.*, **40** : 416-421.
- Greer, R.C., Whitman, R.W. and Woodword, R.R. (1980). Estimation of probability of beef cows being culled and calculation of expected herd life. *J. Anim. Sci.*, **51** : 10-19.
- Grewal, A.S., Abhi, H.L. and Nagpal, M.P. (1974). A study of the effect of mouth and season of calving upon the breeding efficiency of Hariana cows. *Indian J. Dairy Sci.*, **27** : 54-57.
- Hargrove, G.L., Salazar, J.J. and Legates, J.E. (1969). Relationships among first lactation and lifetime measurements in a dairy population. *J. Dairy Sci.*, **52** : 651-656.
- Harris, B.L. (1989). New Zealand dairy cow removal reasons and survival rate. *Anim. Breed. Abstr.*, **58**:5143
- Hegade, M.E. Bhatnagar, D.S. (1985). Lifetime performance of different genetic groups of Brown Swiss crossbred cows. Indian J. Dairy Sci., 38: 321-326.

iv

- Hohenboken, W.D., Seifent, G.W. and Aspden, W.J. (187). Genetic and environmental influences on offspring sex ratio and neonatal survival in Bos indicus x Bos taurus cattle. *J. Anim. Breed. and Genet.*, **104** (4) : 309-316.
- Jain, D.K. and Sharma, K.N.S. (1982). Note on the incidence of calf mortality among various genetic groups of Brown Swiss x Zebu crossbred calves in an organized farm. *Indian J. Anim. Sci.* **52** : 957-960
- Kaikini, A.S., Chikhalikar, G.K. and Dindorkar, C.V. (1983). Reproductive disorders in HF x Gir F₁ crossbred cows. *Indian J. Anim. Sci.*, **53** : 556-558.
- Kale, A.M., Chavan, G. and Patil, N.A. (1982). Studies on birth-weight and sex ratio in Red Sindhi cows. *Livestock Adv.*, **7** (10) : 27-30.
- Kale, S.N. (1963). A study of seasonal variation in the breeding behaviour of Sahiwal cows and Murrah buffaloes. *Indian Vety. J.*, **40** : 5705-711.
- Kaushik, S.N. and Singhal, R.A. (1987). Note on sex ratio in Hariana x exotic corssbreds. *Indian J. Anim. Sci.*, **52**(6) : 433-435.
- Kaushik, S.N., Agarwal, S.C. and Jana, D.N. (1982). Note on mortality pattern in crossbred in a herd. *Indian J. Anim. Sci.*, **52** : 433-35.
- Kohli, M.L. and Suri, K.R. (1957). Longevity and reproductivity in Hariana cattle. *Indian J. Anim. Sci.*, **27** : 105-110.
- Kohli, M.L., Suri, K.R., Bhatnagar, V.K. and Lohia, K.L. (1961)O.) Fertility and reaction time of Hariana bulls. *Indian J. Vet. Sci.*, **31** : 325-331.
- Krehbiel, E., Johanson, W.L. and Cartar, R.C. (1962). Acturial methods applied to domestic animals. *J. Anim. Sci.*, **21** : 973 (Abstr.).
- Kulkarni, M.B. (1980). Effect of season on the sex ratio of Red Sindhi cattle. *Livestock Adv.*, **5**(1) : 11-13.
- Kulkarni, N.R. and Sethi, R.K. (1990). Culling and replacement pattern in Karan Swiss and Karan Fries cattle. *Indian J. Anim. Sci.*, **60** : 107-109.

v

- Kumar, S. and Bhat, P.N. (1979). Reproductive performance of Hariana Cattle. Indian J. Anim. Sci., 49 : 1001-1008.
- Lathwal, S.S. (1989). Lifetime calf production traits of Red Sindhi cows. M.Sc. Thesis, Kurukshetra Univ., Kurukshetra.
- Lathwal, S.S. and Arun Kumar (1993). Genetics of replacement rate and its components in Red Sindhi cows. *Indian Vet. J.*, **71**: 892.
- Lathwal, S.S., Tomar, S.S. and Parkash, B. (1992). Inheritance of heifer replacement in a herd of Red Sindhi cows. National seminar on Anim. Genetic & Breeding Res. & Education, held at IVRI, Izatnagar PP 35.
- Lathwal, S.S., Tomar, S.S. and Sachdeva, G.K. (1995). Herd structure and expected herd life of Red Sindhi Cattle. *Indian J. Dairy Sci.*, **48**: 447-449.
- Lathwal, S.S., Tomar, S.S., Verma, G.S. and Malik, R.K. (1993). Factors affecting replacement rate in a herd of Red Sindhi cows. *Indian J. Dairy Sci.*, **46** : 349-352.
- Lemka, L. McDowell, R.E., Van Vleck, L.D., Guha, N. and Salazar, J.J. (1973). Reproductive efficiency and viability in two Bos indicus and two Bos taurus breeds in the tropics of India and Colombia. J. Anim. Sci., **36**: 644-651.
- Lindhe, B. (1967). Studies on the incidence of stillborn and malformed calves in Swedish breed of cattle. *Anim. Breed. Abstr.*, **36** : 2484 (1968).
- Martinez, N.L., Freeman, A.E. and Berger, P.J. (1983). Genetic relationship between calf livability and calving difficulty of Holsteins. *J. Dairy Sci.*.
  66 : 1494-1502.
- Matharu, R.S. and Gill, G.S. (1981). Evaluation of different grades of Holstein Friesian x Sahiwal crosses on the basis of lifetime production and reproductive efficiency. *Indian J. Dairy Sci.*, **34** : 16-20.
- McDowell, R.E. and McDaniel, B.T. (1968). Interbred matings in dairy cattle. II. Herd health and viability. *J. Anim. Sci.*, **51** : 1275-1283

vi

- Moore, E.D. and Richardson (1976). Breeding and management research at the Lewisberg. Dairy Exp. Station. *Jersey J.*, **23** (16) : 29.
- Mukherjee, K and Tomar, S.S. (1996). Genetic analysis of selective value and its components in a herd of Karan Swiss cattle. *Indian J. Anim. Sci.*, **66** : 738-741.
- Mukherjee, K. (1993). Genetic evaluation of crossbred cattle for selective value. Ph.D. Thesis, NDRI, Deemed University.
- Mukherjee, K. and Tomar, S.S. (1997). Genetics of female calf losses upto maturity and replacement rate in crossbred cattle. *Indian J. Dairy Sci.*, 50 (6): 473-476.
- Mukherjee, K., Tomar, S.S. and Sadana, D.K. (1993). Factors affecting reproductive disorders and their association in Karan Fries herd. *Indian J. Dairy Sci.*, **46** : 110-113.
- Negi, A.B. and Luktuke, S.W. (1982). Studies on incidence of pathological termination of pregnancies in crossbred cattle. *Indian Vet. J.*, **59**: 29-34.
- Nieuwhof, G.J., Norman, H.D. and Dickonson, F.N. (1989). Phenotypic trends in herd life of dairy cows in the United States. J. Dairy Sci., 72: 726-736 packles clear (1982)
- Pandit, R.K., Singh, A. and Pandey, S.K. (1989). Effect of crossbreeding (FR x TP) on birth weight and sex ratio. *Indian Vet. J.*, **66** : 8720874.
- Pandy, H.S. and Desai, R.N. (1973). Incidence of abortion in crossbred cows in heavy rainfall areas. *Indian Vet. J.*, **50**: 521-524.
- Parekh, H.K.B. and Singh, A. (1981). Mortality pattern in crossbreds of Gir with Freisian and Jersey sires. *Indian J. Anim. Sci.*, **51** : 419-424.
- Parekh, H.K.B., Goni, A.K. and Rao, K.C. (1987). Mortality pattern in crossbred cattle and their inter-se. *Indian J. Dairy Sci.*, **40** : 337-341.

Vİ

- Patel, J.M., Patel, A.M. and Dave, A.D. (1988). Birth weight and sex ratio in F1 and F2 Jersey x Kankrej and Fr. x Kankrej crossbreds. *Indian J. Dairy Sci.*, **41** : 227-229.
- Patil, S.B. and Gupta, K.R. (1980). Studies on mortality rate in Red Sindhi calves under Dhule conditions. *Livestock Adv.*, **5** (11) : 19-22.
- Powell, R.L., Norman, H.D. and Dickinson, F.N. (1975). Sire differences in sex ratio of progeny. J. Dairy Sci., 58 : 1723-1726.
- Prabhu, S.S. and Chatterjee, S.N. (1970). Incidence of abortions in Indian cattle. Indian J. Anim. Sci., 40 : 266-276.
- Ram, R.C. (1988). Genetic analysis of replacement rate in a herd of Murrah buffaloes. M.Sc. Thesis, Kurukshetra University, Kurukshetra.
- Ram, R.C. and Tomar, S.S. (1995). Selective value of Murrah buffaloes in an organised herd. *Indian J. Anim. Res.*, **29**(2) : 128-132.
- Ram, R.C. and Tomar, S.S. (1992). Genetic variability in replacement rate and its components in Murrah buffaloes. *Indian Vet. J.*, **69** : 322-325.
- Ram, R.C. and Tomar, S.S. (1993). Replacement index in Murrah buffaloes. Indian J. Dairy Sci., 46 : 135-136.
- Ramalingam, G., Balagopal, R., and Manickan, R. (1990). Incidence of abortions in crossbred cows. *Indian Vet. J.*, **67** : 171-172.
- Rao, A.R., Sastry, A.P., Reddy, K.K. and Rajulu, P.V. (1969). Studies on reproductive characters in Ongole Cattle. I. Age at first calving., inter calving period and sex ratio. *Indian Vet. J.*, 46: 679-684.
- Rao, J.R., Kotayya, K. and Rao, A.V.N. (1976). Incidence of abortion in crosbred cows in Andhra Pradesh. Indian Vet. J., 53 : 158-159.
- Rao, M.K. and Nagarcenkar, R. (1982). Calf mortality in crossbred dairy cattle. *Trop. Anim. Hlth. Prod.*, **12** : 137-144.
- Rawal, S.C. (1991). Coefficient of gene replication in Zebu cattle. M.Sc. Thesis, NDRI, Deemed University.

- Rawal, S.C. and Tomar S.S. (1994a). Genetic variability in lifetime calf crop of Sahiwal cattle. *Indian J. Dairy Sci.*, **47** : 455-458.
- Rawal, S.C. and Tomar, S.S. (1992). Genetic sources of variability replacement rate in a herd of Sahiwal cows. National seminar on Anim. Genetics & Breeding Res. & Education, held at IVRI, Izatnagar, Oct. 1992 pp. 21.
- Rawal, S.C. and Tomar, S.S. (1994b). Inherited variation in mortality and culling rates in Sahiwal female calves upto maturity. *Indian J. Anim. Sci.*, 64(11): 1256-57.
- Rawal, S.C. and Tomar, S.S. (1995). Genetic study of sex ratio in a herd of Sahiwal cattle. *Indian J. Dairy Sci.*, **48** : 311-312.
- Rawal, S.C. and Tomar, S.S. (1996a). Incidence and inheritance of abnormal calvings in a herd of Sahiwal cattle. *Indian Vet. J.*, **73** : 649-653.
- Rawal, S.C. and Tomar, S.S. (1996b). Incidence and inheritance of mortality and culling rates in Tharparkar female calves upto maturity. *Indian J. Dairy Sci.*, **49**(10) : 685-688.
- Rawal, S.C. and Tomar, S.S. (1996c). Incidence and inheritance of type and sex of calf born in Tharparkar cattle. *Indian J. Dairy Sci.*, **49** (9) : 567-571.
- Rawal, S.C. and Tomar, S.S. (1997). Coefficient of gene replication in a herd of Sahiwal cows. *Indian J. Dairy Sci.*, **50**(4) : 321-324.
- Rawal, S.C. and Tomar, S.S. (1998). Population analysis for loss of cows and replacement index in Tharparkar cattle. *Indian J. Anim. Sci.*, **68** (2) : 183-184.
- Rawal, S.C., Tomar, S.S. and Sachdeva, G.K. (1994). Replacement index in a herd of Sahiwal Cows. *Indian J. Anim. Res.*, **28** : 97-100.
- Rawal, S.C., Tomar, S.S., Lathwal, S.S. and Mukherjee, K. (1993). Coefficient of gene replication in a herd of Tharparkar cows. Indian Vet. J., **70**: 537-539.

ix

- Reddy, C.O. (1979). Genetic and phenotypic parameters of profit function, reproductive and productive efficiencies in crossbred cattle. Ph.D. Thesis, Kurukshetra University, Kurukshetra.
- Reddy, C.O. and Basu, S.B. (1985). Factors affecting profit function and production traits in crossbred cattle. *Indian J. Anim. Sci.*, **55** : 35-41.
- Reddy, K.M. and Nagarcenkar, R. (1989a). Studies on disposal pattern in Sahiwal calves. *Indian J. Dairy Sci.*, **42** : 280-288.
- Reddy, K.M. and Nagarcenkar, R. (1989b). Studies on disposal pattern in Sahiwal cows. *Indian J. Dairy Sci.*, **42** : 139-145.
- Reddy, K.M. and Nagarcenkar, R. (1989c). Heritabilities of lifetime traits in Sahiwal cattle. *Indian J. Dairy Sci.*, **42**: 636-637.
- Reddy, O.A. and Sampath, S.R. (1981). Note on the performance of crossbred and purebred Zebu cattle with respect to prenatal and early postnatal mortality characteristics. *Indian J. Anim. Sci.*, **51** : 973-74.
- Robertson, A. and Lerner, I.M. (1949). the heritability of all or none traits : Viability of poultry. *Genetics*, **34** : 395.
- Rogers, G.W. Hargrove, G.L., Cooper, J.B. and Norman, H.D. (1991). Management and genetic influences on survival in Jerseys. *J. Dairy Sci.*, **74**: 279-285.
- Sahota, R.S. and Gill, G.S. (1990). Relative lifetime performance for economic efficiency in different grades of dairy cattle. *Indian J. Dairy Sci.*, **43** : 512-514.
- Schons, D., Hohenboken, W.D. and Hall, J.D. (1985). Population analysis of a commercial beef cattle herd. *J. Anim. Sci.*, **61** : 44-54.
- Schwenger, B., Mayer, M. and Simon, D. (1989). Antagonism between dairy performance and fitness in cattle. *Anim. Breed. Abstr.*, **57** : 7746.
- Sethi, R.K. and Rao, M.K. (1981). Variation in sex ratio in dairy cattle. Indian J. Dairy Sci., **34** : 454-456.

- Sharma, K.N.S. and Jain, D.K. (1976). Mortality in crossbred calves vis-avis Zebu calves. Indian J. Dairy Sci., **29** : 53058.
- Sharma, K.N.S. and Jain, D.K. (1983). Genetic and non-genetic factors affecting pre-natal mortality in bovines. 2. Effect of stage of pregnancy, parity and sire. *Indian J. Anim. Sci.*, **53** : 799-802.
- Sharma, K.N.S. and Jain, D.K. (1984). Factors affecting pre-natal mortality in bovines.
  1. Breed, year and season differences. *Indian J. Anim. Sci.*, 54 : 297-300.
- Sharma, K.N.S. and Singh, S. (1974). Estimation of average productive life of cattle on a modern dairy farm. *Indian J. Anim. Sci.*, **44** : 145-149.
- Sharma, R.C. and Bhatnagar, D.S. (1975). Influence of sex of calf and order of lactation on reproductive efficiency in dairy animals. *Indian Vet. J.*, 52: 813-822.
- Shorda, D.P. and Lohia, K.L. (1966). Incidence of abnormal calvings in Hariana cattle. *J. Res. Pb. Agr. Univ.*, **3**: 449-453.
- Shukla, K.P. and Parekh, H.K.B. (1988). Secondary sex ratio in Gir cows and their subsequent crossbreds. *Livestock Adv.*, **13**(7) : 25-29.
- Shukla, S.P., Chauhan, R.A.S. and Parekh, H.K.B. (1980). Incidence of peripartum disorders in Gir cows and their crosses. *Indian J. Dairy Sci.*, **33** : 427-432.
- Singh, , O.N. (1961). Genetic study of natural services per conception in dairy cattle. *Indian J. Vet. Sci.* **31** : 310-314.
- Singh, A. and Parekh, H.K.B. (1982). Effect of environmental factors on the sex ratio in crossbred cattle. *Livestock Adv.*, **7** (11) : 5-7.
- Singh, A. Taylor, C.M., Gurung, B.S. and Singh, K.P. (1983). Factors affecting secondary sex ratio in Gir cattle. *Livestock Adv.*, **8**(1): 5-9.
- Singh, A., Kirmani, M.A. and Chaudhary, R.P. (1991). Factors affecting sex ratio in crossbred cattle. *Indian Vet. J.*, **68** : 282-285.

xi

Singh, Mahadajand Jain, L.S. (1997). Replacement rate in pure and Cropsbred cattle. Indian J. Dairy Sci., 50, (4): 279-263

- Singh, A., Taylor, C.M., Gururg, B.S. and Singh, K.P. (1983). Factors affecting the secondary sex ratio in Gir cattle. *Livestock Adv.*, **8**(1) : 5-9.
- Singh, B. and Balaine, D.S. (1973). Effect of season and sequence of calving on sex ratio and frequency of calving in crossbred progeny. *Haryana Agr. University J. Res.*, **3**: 97-99.
- Singh, B. and Singh, B.P. (1968). The bearing of reason and sequence of calving on frequency of male, female and total calvings in Hariana cows. *Indian Vet. J.*, **45** : 852-858.
- Singh, B. and Singh, B.P. (1970). A study of reproductive efficiency of Hariana cows. *Indian Vet. J.*, **47** : 135.
- Singh, B.B. and Singh, B.P. (1973). Mortality rate in relation to birth weight of calves. *Indian Vet. J.*, **50** : 164-169.
- Singh, C.B., Prasad, R.B., Gupta, U.D. and Verma, S.K. (1988). Factors affecting the lifetime production in Sahiwal and its crosses with Jersey. *Indian J. Dairy Sci.*, **41** : 36-39.
- Singh, O.N., Prasad, J.N. and Prasad, I.B. (1964). Conception rate of Hariana and bachur cows under artificial breeding conditions in the farm. *Indian Vet. J.*, **41** : 513-516.
- Singh, R.B. and Tomar, S.S. (1989). Genetic analysis of herd life in Karan Fries cattle. *Indian J. Dairy Sci.*, **42** : 431-432.
- Singh, R.L. and Prasad, R.B. (1969). Observation on Bachur cattle. Indian Vet. J., 46 : 970-975.
- Singh, R.N. (1979). Influence of breed groups on health, production and breeding efficiency. Ph.D. Thesis. Kurukshetra Univ., Kurukshetra.
- Singh, R.N., Mishra, R.R., Dutta, O.P., Prabhakaran, V.T. and Malhotra, J.C. (1987). An investigation on the viability among indigenous and crossbred cows with special reference to mortality and culling. *Indian J. Anim. Sci.*, **57** : 141-145.

- Singh, S. and Sharma, K.N.S. (1984). Estimates of different fertility parameters in bovines at an organized farm. *Indian J. Anim. Sci.*, **54** : 8312-834.
- Singh, S.B., Singh, S.P. and Desai, R.N. (1964). Effects of the age at first calving and first lactation milk production on longevity and lifetime milk production in Hariana cattle. *Indian J. Anim. Sci.*, **34** : 202-213.
- Singh, V.P., Singh, R.v., Singh, C.V. and Singh, S.P. (1990). Genetic studies on reproductive efficiency traits in Sahiwal and its crosses with Jersey and Red Dane. *Indian J. Anim. Sci.*, **60** : 90-97..
- Snedecor, G.W. and Cochran, W.G. (1967). Statistical methods. 6th Ed. Oxford and IBH Publishing Co., New Delhi.
- Srivastava, S.P. and Agarwal, O.P. (1973). Factors affecting mortality in crossbred female calves. *Indian J. Anim. Prod.*, **4** : 25-29.
- Stonekar, A.H. and Knapp, B. (1974). Sex of fetus of calf and other factors associated with milk production and lactation length. *Trop. Agr. Trinidad*, **51**: 421.
- Swiger, L.A., Harvey, W.R., Everson, D.O. and Gregory, K.E. (1964). The variance of intraclass correlation involving groups with one observation. *Biometrics* **20**: 818-826.
- Taneja, V.K. and Bhatnagar, D.S. (1983). A note on performance and culling patterns in Brown Swiss Sahiwal (F1) crossbreds. *Indian J. Anim. Res.*, 21: 43-44.
- Tanida, H., Hohenboken, N.D. and Denise, S.K. (1988). Genetic aspects of longevity in Angus and Hereford cows. *J. Anim. Sci.*, **66** : 640-647.
- Thakur, Y.P., Singh, V., Katoch, S., Manuja, N.K. and Gupta, K. (1992). Lifetime calf crop from Jersey and Red Sindhi x Jersey cows in an organized dairy herd in Himachal Pradesh. National Seminar on Anim. Genet. & Breeding Res. & Education held at IVRI, Izatnagar pp 21.

- Tomar, N.S. and Mittal, K.K. (1960). Significance of the calving season in Hariana cows. *Indian Vet. J.*, **37** : 367.
- Tomar, O.S. (1998). Paper presented in conference of IDA at NDRI, Karnal.
- Tomar, S.S. (1`984). Inheritance of certain threshold characters in Murrah buffaloes. Ph.D. Thesis, Kurukshetra Univ., Kurukshetra.
- Tomar, S.S. (1973). Influence of crossbreeding and other associated factors on calf losses. *Indian J. Anim. Health*, **12**: 135-138.
- Tomar, S.S. and Arora, K.L. (1970). Calving season and secondary sex ratio in Hariana cattle. *Haryana Vet.*, **9** (2) : 20-23.
- Tomar, S.S. and Arora, K.L. (1971) Conception rate and services per conception for the first five service periods. *Indian J. Anim. Prod.*, **1**(4) : 147-150.
- Tomar, S.S. and Arora, K.L. (1972). Studies on breeding efficiency of Hariana cattle. Age at first calving. *Indian Vet. J.*, **49** : 364-370.
- Tomar, S.S. and Basu, S.B. (1981). Genetic study on lifetime reproductive traits on Murrah buffaloes. *Indian J. Dairy Sci.*, **34** : 195-198.
- Tomar, S.S. and Ram, R.C. (1991). Coefficient of gene replication in a herd of Murrah buffaloes. Symp. Indian Soc. Genet. & Plant Breeding, held at New Delhi, Feb. 1991.
- Tomar, S.S. and Ram, R.C. (1992). Inheritance of lifetime calf crop in herd of Murrah buffaloes. *Indian Vet. J.*, **69** : 233-235.
- Tomar, S.S. and Ram, R.C. (1993). Factors affecting replacement rate in a herd of Murrah buffaloes. *Indian J. Dairy Sci.* **46** (8) : 340-342.
- Tomar, S.S. and Rawal, S.C. (1994). Replacement rate in Sahiwal herd. Indian Vet. J., **71** (12): 1334-1335.
- Tomar, S.S. and Rawal, S.C. (1996). Incidence and inheritance of mortality and culling rates in Tharparkar female calves upto maturity. *Indian J. Dairy Sci.*, **49**(10) : 685-688.

- Tomar, S.S. and Singh, N. (1973). Crossbreeding Hariana cattle abortions and secondary sex ratio. Annals of Arid Zone 12 : 45-50.
- Tomar, S.S. and Tripathi, V.N. (1988). Inheritance of sex –ratio in Murrah buffaloes. *Indian Vet. J.*, **65** : 687-692.
- Tomar, S.S. and Tripathi, V.N. (1992). Sire differences in certain reproductive traits of Murrah buffaloes. *Indian J. Dairy Sci.*, **45** : 217-218.
- Tomar, S.S. and Verma, G.S. (1988a). Genetic and non-genetic variations in components of replacement rates in Tharparkar cattle. *Indian J. Dairy Sci.*, **41** : 94-100.
- Tomar, S.S. and Verma, G.S. (1988b). Genetic variability in components of replacement in Karan Fries cattle. *Indian J. Anim. Sci.*, **58** : 1204-1208.
- Tomar, S.S., Arora, K.L. and Arneja, D.V. (1972). Seasonal variation in conception rate of Hariana cattle. *Indian Vet. J.*, **49** : 477-482.
- Tomar, S.S., Arun, K. and Ajay, K. (1991). New approach for genetic analysis of proportion data without transformation. *Asian J. Dairy Res.*, **10** : 87-90.
- Tomar, S.S., Lathwal, S.S. and Mukherjee, K. (1993). Genetic contribution of cows to future generation in Red Sindhi herd. *Indian J. Anim. Sci.*, 65 (12): 1334-1336.
- Tomar, S.S., Lathwal, S.S. and Mukherjee, K. (1995). Genetic contribution of cows to future generation in Red Sindhi herd. *Indian J. Anim. Sci.*, **65** : 1334-1336.
- Tomar, S.S., Rawal, S.C. and Sachdeva, G.K. (1994). Expected herdlife and herd structure of Sahiwal cattle. *Indian J. Anim. Sci.*, **64**(11) : 1283-90.
- Tomar, S.S., Rawal, S.C. and Singh, R.B. (1996). Population analysis for certain demographic parameters in Tharparker herd. *Indian J. Dairy Sci*, 49 (9) : 562-566.

xv

- Tomar, S.S., Singh, H.P. and Malik, P.S. (1975). Genetic and non-genetic variations in prenatal calf loss in Sahiwal cattle. *Indian J. Anim. Sci.*, 45 : 533-536.
- Tomar, S.S., Singh, H.P. and Malik, P.S. (1976). Secondary sex ratio in Sahiwal cattle. Indian J. Anim. Sci., 46 : 55-58.
- Vaccaro, L.P. (1974). Some aspects of the performance of European purebred and crossbred dairy cattle in the tropics. II. Mortality and culling rates. *Anim. Breed. Abstr.*, **42** : 93-103.
- Vaccaro, L.P. (1990). Survival of European dairy breeds and their crosses with zebus in the tropics. *Anim Breed. Abstr.*, **58** : 475-494.
- Westell, R.A., Burnside, E.B. and Schaeffer, L.R. (1982). Evaluation of Canadian Holstein Friesian Sires on disposal reasons of their daughters. *J. Dairy Sci.*, **65** : 2366-2372.
- White, J.M. and Nichols, J.R. (1965). Relationship between fresh location, later performance and length of herd life in Holstein Friesian cattle. *J. Dairy Sci.*, **48** : 468-474.

ABSTRACT

. . . .

.

- Bhosrekar, M. (1973). Investigation into the incidence and causes of repeat breeding in dairy cattle. Indian Vet. J., 50: 418-429.
- Haldar, S.K. and Sen, G.P. (1990). Fertility and reproductive performance of Brucella sero positive cows. *Indian Vet. J.*, 67 : 278-279.
- Kaikini, A.S., Kadu, M.S., Bhandri, R.M. and Belorker, P.M. (1976) Studies on the incidence of normal and pathological termination of pregnancies in cattle. *Indian J. Anim. Sci.*, **46** : 19-22.
- Katpatal, B.G. (1977). Dairy cattle crossbreeding in India. I. Growth and development of crossbreeding. World Animal Review, 22: 15-21.
- Kulkarni, V.S. (1995). Genetic evaluation of Surti buffaloes. Ph.D. Thesis submitted to NDRI Deemed University.
- Loyd, B.M. and Hargrove, G.L. (1991). Comparison of summarized sires and sampling sires in artificial insemination. *J. Dairy Sci.*, **74** : 1974-80.
- Luktuke, S.N. and Chaudhary, G. (1965). Studies on the incidence of physiological and pathological termination of pregnancies in Hariana female. *Indian Vet. J.*, **42** : 930-936.
- Nair, B.R.K. (1976). Breeding efficiency and longevity of Red Sindhi and Jersey x non descript F1 grade cows. Kerala Vet. J. 7(1): 20-28 (Anim. Breed. Abstr. 45: 3212)
- Ochoa, R.F., Taylor, J.F., Tomasziwski, M.A. and Lacewell, R.D. (1991). Effect of sire fertility and daughter stayability on profitability of sire selection. J. Dairy Sci., 74: 3961-3972.
- Pachlag, S.V., Bahadur, J.z and Patel, R.K. (1982). Breeding efficiency in Zebu cows through A.I. under field conditions. *Indian J. Dairy Sci.*, **35** : 195-197.
- Roy, P.K. and Tripathi, V.N. (1990). Factors affecting lifetime performance in Hol. x Zebu crosses. Indian Vet. J., **37**: 29-33.
- Singh, M., Acharya, R.M. and Dhillon, J.S. (1968). inheritance of different measures of reproductive efficiency and their relation with milk production in Hariana cattle. *Indian J. Dairy Sci.*, **31** : 249-254.
- Tomar, N.S., Srivastava, K.N. and Singh B.P. 1976a. Heritability estimates of the fertility of Hariana heifers and their age at first calving. *Indian J. Anim. Health*, **15**: 63-66.
- Tomar, S.S. and Arora, K.L. (1971a). Studies on the reproduction efficiency of Hariana cattle. II. Relationship between supernumerary teats and some reproductive traits of economic • importance. *Haryana Vet.*, **10** (2): 30-33.
- Tomar, S.S. and Verma, G.S. (1981). Annual Report, NDRI, Karnal.
- Tripathi, M., Patel, L.G. and Dave, A.D. (1973). Gestation period, birth weight and sex ratio in Kankrej cattle. *Guj. Vet.*, 7(2): 65-73.

